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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12R831HLFE

Operating results (RMB’'000) ZE#& (AR%T )

Revenue
Gross profit
Profit for the year

Profitability (%)
Gross profit margin
Net profit margin
Return on equity
Return on total assets

Liquidity

Current ratio (time)

Quick ratio (time)

Trade receivables turnover
(days)

Trade payables turnover
(days)

Capital adequacy
Gearing ratio (%)
Net debt to equity ratio

Per share data

Earnings per share — basic
(RMB)

Dividend per share (HKD)
— Interim
— Final

L6
E7
F A A

BHE (%)
EfE
RS

g BRI R
REEMRE

REBEE

MENLL R (%)

RENLL R (£F)

U ARTRHBE R
(X)

RN FURBERH
(X)

BEARRRKF
BEABLE(%)
AT S IR L

BRBE
BRAN — &EX
(AR¥7T)
RS (B7T)
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— K
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392,258
67,383
26,240

17.2
6.7
10.9
6.8

2.2

2.2

65.1
62.6

8.3

Net cash

position

RREMR

0.06

0.01

2018 2017
Gl —TtF

Increase/(Decrease)
AT

%
363,303 28,955 8.0
66,869 514 0.8
36,167 (9,927) (27.4)
18.4 (1.2) (6.5)
10.0 (3.3) (33.0)
16.8 (5.9) (35.1)
9.8 (3.0) (30.6)
2.0 0.2 10.0
2.0 0.2 10.0
59.3 5.8 9.8
66.2 (3.6) (5.4)
2.3 6.0 260.9

Net cash
position N/A N/A
FIE AN TEA TEA
0.12 (0.06) (50.0)
- 0.01 NATEA
0.03 (0.03) (100.0)



DEFINITIONS
BE

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, MAARFRF @ BRXESEEIN 0 THIFELF
the following terms and expressions shall have the meanings EEBMTHWE - EF [*] P X EMESH
set out below. The English translation of company names in QAR ZH R ER JHEHRZERI 2 B -

Chinese or another language which are marked with “*” for

identification purposes only.

“Anhui Bund”

[N ]

“Anhui Pu Bang”

[ 22 Um 76 |

“Anhui Pu Jing”

[ RUR=

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEZ

“Bengbu Gardening”

R EE

"

“Bengbu Guang Jia

[ iR 57

Anhui Bund Property Management Company Limited* (Z#IN#EEIRH
fR27A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 26 December
2005, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Anhui Wan Tou Property
Limited* (ZBRIEBEERET AR, the connected person at the
subsidiary level

THRINEMEETER AR+ —MR2005F12 426 HEF BRI ERET
RAE RARRIEREMBAR  AARAIRZHRREXARETAF

(RMBAREBEMMEALT) DRIMERES1%X49%

Anhui Pu Bang Property Management Company Limited* (Z#UHFYES
BB AT]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 4 August
2015, the associated company of the Company and indirectly owned as to
49% by the Company and 51% by an Independent Third Party
ZRABYMEBERER AR - —ER2015F8 A48 EHBIK I ERE T
DA RARFERE  ARRRIR—RBBEIE =79 hIEEEBI9%
K51%

Anhui Pu Jing Property Company Limited* (ZZHSWEBRAT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 10 May 2017, a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned as to 51%
by the Company and as to 49% by Bozhou Cultural Tourism Limited* (= /M
M CiREERBREERT)

TRESRMERRRAE - —HR2017F5 108 EFRBIKIHEREERD
A RARRIFEZEWMBAR - AARRRSMHCKEZERBREE
NA RIEEAEGS1% K%49%

the audit committee of the Company
RAREREESY

Bengbu Zhi Xin Gardening Company Limited* (EE T EZEEAERE A F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 20 July 2012, a joint
venture company of the Company and wholly-owned by Bengbu Zhi Xin
HIEMEFERBERAGF - —HR2012F7 208 EFBEK N EREE
NE REARBEERELRR  AHEEEL2EHA

Bengbu Guang Jia Property Management Company Limited* (¥18 & 529 %
EEABMRAT]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 17
March 2004, a joint venture company of the Company and wholly-owned by
Bengbu Zhi Xin

HIEERYEERERAR » —HR2004F3817REFBEKNERE
FRF REARRIEERENT  AFEEREFEEEHRSA

BIFEERERAT 3
F3R 2018



DEFINITIONS
BE

“Bengbu Hua Xin”

[FREE(E

“Bengbu Zhi Xin"”

IR E (=]

“Board"” or “Board of
Directors”

[EFE]

"BVI"
[(REEZES]

"CG Code”
[bREASTFAL

“Company”

“Connected person”

[BEEAL]

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 2 A% 2R
"Director(s)”
==

"GFA"
[FREmE

4 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Bengbu Hua Xin Property Management Company Limited* (18 {52
BRRATF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 29 July
2013, a joint venture company of the Company and owned as to 60% by
Bengbu Zhi Xin and 40% by an Independent Third Party
HIRTEEYERRAR - —HER2013F7 298 EFRBEKRIHEREE
NA RARABELELERR HERBEEN " RBBIE=725HEE
60% £40%

Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company Limited* (EEHEEWEABRAF), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 13 September 2004, a
joint venture company of the Company and indirectly owned as to 50% by
the Company and 50% by two Independent Third Parties
HIETEEWMRARAR - —HERBENR2004F9A13BKINEREE
NAE BARREGELEAR  BARFRIMEERBS0% KHMEEIE=
7 BB 50%

the board of Directors of the Company
ZAUNCTE = 3-

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

EAR RIS TP E AR E AT A

Riverine China Holdings Limited (BT BT ER A R]), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with limited liability
on 27 July 2016

IR BERBR AR - 7R20165F7 A27 B R EBEF S S EETMA
EHRRERETRA]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA MR RIFREE T4 R R E

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means a group of controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely Partner Summit, Vital Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth, Mr. Fu, Pine
Fortune and Mr. Chen

BB FMRAIME FZANRE  RARAME - AR FNERKRRS
CBlaE - B HEE - RER - BEA - EHEREE

the director(s) of the Company
KAFINES

gross floor area
AR



"Group”
[AE&EE ]

"Hefei Zheng Wen"

[&REB

“HK$" or “HK dollars” or

"HK cents”

&7t =k [l

“Hong Kong” or “"HK"

(&% ]

U

"Leading Way’

(2B
“Listing”

[ b7
“Listing Rules”
[ EmR 8]
“Model Code”
[ s7 Al

“Mr. Chen”
[ R 4% 4 |

“Mr. Fu”

[MfE 54

“Mr. Xiao"

[H L]
“Mr. Xiao YQ"

[BHT&EL]

DEFINITIONS
BE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRTRENERR]

Hefei Zheng Wen Bund Property Management Company Limited* (& BT
XAINEYHEEIEBR A T), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 14 April 2004, a joint venture company of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 50% by the Company and 50% by an Independent Third Party
BETHRXINENXEIRBR AT - —EEPEN2004F4 5148 KILH)
BREMEAR ARRREGELEANR  AAARMEEE50%KHEETL
FE=HREEEE0%

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BILREN - BEEREETEHS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
I AR HFBREBFRTEHRR

Leading Way Holdings Limited (37 B\ & BB R 2 &), a company incorporated
under the laws of Hong Kong on 20 May 2016 with limited liability, which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino Ease, and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

VEEBARART - —ER201655 H20 B RIEFE AR TMNLNEGR
NE RPN EENB AR RARTNEEE2ENB AT

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
IRADTEBS A2 PR =R _E TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEZPEE 5 EARAI - PRHERT « RS AE M T B

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
AR ERTPrE E BT AEFEITE SRR HNIRESTA

Mr. Chen Yao (FR¥%), the Controlling Shareholder
PREES A« IEARARER

Mr. Fu Qichang (fEH &), the Controlling Shareholders, vice-chairman of the
Board and an executive Director

BEESE  ERER - EFSEITFERNTES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (¥ #%), the Controlling Shareholders, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director
HEESE  ERRE  EESEERIITES

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (B 73), an executive Director, chief executive officer, and
the son of Mr. Xiao

HTYBRE  PITESKRITHERRE EENTT

BIFEERERAT  §
F3R 2018



DEFINITIONS
BE

“Nantong Pu Sheng”

[FimE e

“Ningbo Plaza”

[ BRI T ES

“Ningbo Puyong”

[ZEROH%E]

"

“Partner Summit

“Period”

[EAE

“Pine Fortune”
=il

“PRC" or “China”

[ E

6 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company Limited* (F3 3858 2% 2 8EY)
¥ABMR2A7A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18
October 2017, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Nantong Sheng He
Property Management Limited* (FiBE FI¥IEE L H R A7)
MREREEMEARAT - —MR2017F10 18 ERBIKIMNERE
TAF BRI REBERMYESEER AR BIREESS1%&49%

Ningbo Plaza Property Management Company Limited* (Z&)8 i i E 35 %)
¥EEARAT), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 20
January 1995, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 49% by the Company and 51% by an Independent Third Party
BRI T ESMEEEERAR - —EERBIN1995%F1H20H KA
BREERAR  RAAREDRE  AXARRBEZEBI9%MABIE=
T EEBEES51 %

Ningbo Puyong Property Management Company Limited* (Z28HZE Y13 IR
%A BR/AF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 15 August
2018, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Ningbo Yongbang Enterprise
Management Consulting Company Limited * (B2){ B EEEZRER A
al)

ERBEMERBARLDF - —ER2018F8A15HEFEK K ERE
ERR] AARRRAINEREACEEREZABRAADHIEEEBS1% M
49%

Partner Summit Holdings Limited (&R AR R F]), a company
incorporated under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability,
which is owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3%
by Pine Fortune and is the Controlling Shareholder

ERERARAR - —@ER20165F6 16 B IRIBHEEE LR S /AETMAK
MEBRAR AR REANEBORIEFE7% - 10%K53% © BAER
ES

the year ended 31 December 2018
HE2018F12A31HIEFE

Pine Fortune Global Limited (E1A3RIKEBR A F]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chen and is the Controlling Shareholder

ERRRAERATR - —HRN20165F6 A 16 B IRIE LB E X RS /AR MK
UEBRRAR  THERKRRREEZERE

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this annual report,
excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

REARKNE - ERAFRIE - TRESE  BFIREE



“Pujiang Holding”

[T |

“Pujiang Property”

I

“RMB"” or “"Renminbi”

[AR¥]

“SFO”

[5& 27 K AR 1B ]

“Shanghai Aidepu”

¢

[ g3 %)

“Shanghai Bund”

[ EigsNE]

“Shanghai Bund Green”

[ Eigsh#azrt ]

“Shanghai Bund Ke Pu”

[ EigsNEERA

“Shanghai Hong Ji”

[ 8 |

DEFINITIONS
BE

Shanghai Pujiang Holding Company Limited* (/& T AR A R), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 June 2007, which was
beneficially owned as to 87% by Mr. Xiao, 10% by Mr. Fu and 3% by Mr.
Chen
EEBIERARAR - —ER2007F6 A18BEFBEKUHEREER
A DRIBE L BERENREEEREBET% - 10% K3%AHE

Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited* (/& T%EBRAR), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 December 2002 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FERINEAERAR - —EETEN2002F12A2BKINAREER
Al RAREINEEZ BB AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

N B EP St

Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
(BAELBEED) (BBEPIES71E) - KARHER] - MFASAEMA
A &K

Shanghai Aidepu Trading Company Limited* (E/8XSEEmE AR F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 November 2006 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BENEEEmEERAR - —HRN20065 11 A23BEFEKIHEREE
NE RARTEERZENB AR

Shanghai Bund Property Company Limited* (/85N #MEBR AT, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April 1996 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEMNEMERR AR - —HERBER1996F4A8EKRINBREER
8l RARBNEEZENB AR

Shanghai Bund Green Construction Company Limited* (/&9N#4R(LiERR
BBR2A7A), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 10 August
2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FEINERICERBR AT - —EERBEN2004F8H10EKIHERE
ERAT]  RARTNEEZENB AT

Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering Management Company Limited* (/&%)
HRELE TI2EMRAR]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
30 November 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EESNERVETRARADR - —MN20045611 A30BEFBK UK BERE
ERATF] RAATEEEZEMEAR]

Shanghai Hong Ji Property Management Company Limited* (/&4 &= 4%
EEHBR AR, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18
March 2016 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FERUEMEERERAR  —HERBER2016F3818EKYNARE
EAT RARTNHEEZERNEAT

B B AR A A
3 2018



DEFINITIONS
BE

“Shanghai Jie Gu” Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company Limited* ((E/8MAEHEHRAF), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 3 May 2016 and indirect
owned as to 85% by the Company and 15% by Shanghai Hai Chuang, the
connected person at the subsidiary level

[ EBNTA] 5 EBNAREBRART - —BEFRER2016F5A3BKIHBEREER
Al - AANEIEEREESS% KA LEH%Al (RMBAREEMBEEAL)
EEHEE15%

“Shanghai Jiu Yi" Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management Company Limited* ((E/8A1a¥W%EE

EBAEMR AT, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April
1996, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by an independent Third Party

[ EBAME] ¥ EEARMEERBERAR - —EEPEN1996F4H8AMINBEREE
NE RAARNEEZEMBLAR - AAREIREEERS1% K —2BIL
E=FHEH49%

“Shanghai Puyun” Shanghai Puyun Environmental Technology Company Limited* (/888 x%
ERHEARAE]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 29
November 2017, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and wholly
owned by Shanghai Jiu Yi

[ EiamE] | PERBRREMERARAR - —EERBER2017F11 A29BKIHARE
ERAR RAARIZEREMBAR B EBAREZERS

“Shanghai Qiang Sheng” Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Company Limited* (/88 4AMEAR A
7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 17 December 1992,
an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned as to 30% by
the Company and as to 70% by an Independent Third Party

[ Eigsadt] 18 PEREMERRAR - —HEPEMI9NFI2A17TERINEREER
A RARNAEEDRE  BARGRERAI0% BB E=FEEER
70%

“Shanghai Rui Zheng” Shanghai Pujiang Rui Zheng Property Company Limited* (/88 Tim1EYI%

ABR72A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 January
2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[ E8imIE] ¥ PERIREMERERAT  —HERERN2004F1 ASEKIMAEREE
NE] RARBNEEEZENBE AR

“Shanghai Xin Di"” Shanghai Dong Fang Xin Di Commercial Service Company Limited* (/&%
F REmE B RIS AR A E]), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 10 December 2015, an associated company of the Company and
indirectly owned as to 45% by the Company and as to 55% by an
Independent Third Party

[ L] & EERFREEEREERAR - —MEFRBER2015F12810BKZHNE
REMTRRA  BARRBERSE  BARRIBEREBIS % RBEIF=7
RE#RB55%

“Share(s)"” share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company

[ A% ] i1 RAFRAFEREMBE.OVE T E @R

8 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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“Share Option Scheme”

[BE A=t &l

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ AR

“Sino Ease”

(%]

"

“Source Forth

E=d

“sq. ft.”
RPN
“sgq. m.”
[FI3K]

“Stock Exchange” or
“"Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”

[BEZZ P | ok [ & BB P

“Vital Kingdom”

"%" or “per cent”
[%]

DEFINITIONS
BE

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 15
November 2017
ARARR2017F11 A 15 B B IGHERAE B AR ET &

holder(s) of issued Share(s)

B eV A A

Sino Ease Global Limited (F&ZIRIKEPRAF]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is directly
wholly-owned by the Company

RRIBIRBERAT - —fE7020169F6 716 B IRIEEE R 2B & /AT MK
UHAERAR  RAARNEEZEME AR

Source Forth Limited (REXEBR A 7l), a company incorporated under laws of
the BVI on 8 June 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly-owned by Mr.
Fu and is the Controlling Shareholder

SRBRAR - —ER2016F6 ASHIBBEABRE LS MR INERA
A DHRELERERES - BAIEREE

square feet
FITR
square metre

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EEMARBMAERAT

Vital Kingdom Investments Limited (Z##& & AR 2 A]), a company
incorporated under laws of the BVI on 17 May 2016 with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xiao and is the Controlling Shareholder
ZHIREBR AR - —fHR20165F5A17BIRBERBR LB S AEFT MK
UHEBERRAR  THELREZERS - ERIERRE

per centum or percentage
Bkt

BIFEERERAT  Q
F3R 2018



CORPORATE INFORMATION

QA EF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao

Mr. Jia Shaojun

Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Mr. Cheng Dong
Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Cheng Dong (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Weng Guogiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Weng Guogiang

HEADQUARTER IN THE PRC
14th Floor, Jiushi Tower

28 South Zhongshan Road
Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

2/F, King's House

971 King's Road, Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Choy Suk Man

10 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Xiao Yugiao
Mr. Choy Suk Man

LEGAL ADVISERS
Cheung & Choy, Solicitors & Notaries

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
China Industrial Securities International Capital Limited

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE ADDRESS

WwWWw.riverinepm.com

SECURITIES CODE
Equity: 1417.hk

COMPANY ENQUIRES
Email: ir@ppmc.com.cn

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEER

BEERE
HTBEE
FERMX L

EERER
X BRI ER T

ERER
HEEERREER R

BB ED
ZKERHENETEA

FEERRIT
EPERRERRITRMNDBER AR
FEIERTT () BRAF

MEREROBFERARE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

EREROBFEERTE
BEBAFERARAT
BB

EEANER183%
B0 22E

43k
WWW.riverinepm.com
& 5K

AR © 1417.hk

RKRAEH

BEH : ir@ppmc.com.cn
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
DNAERE

As at 31 December 2018

* The English name is for identification only
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201812 A31H

|

!ﬁ Riverine China Holdings Limited
=& ST R =
= FIFEERARAR

100%

|

Sino Ease Global Limited

PRIRFARAF

100%

|

Leading Way Holdings Limited
YR EERR AR

‘ 100%

|

Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited*
HEBIMEERAR

[

100%

|

100%

Shanghai Bund Property Company Limited*
EEINEMEBR AR

|

100%

Shanghai Bund Green Construction Company Limited*

EIBSNERACER AR A A

|

100%

Shanghai Hong Ji Property Management Company Limited*
LB ENEEEERAR

|

100%

Shanghai Pujiang Rui Zheng Property Company Limited*
EERIREMERRAR

100%

Shanghai Aidepu Trading Company Limited*
LB EREERAR

| |

85%

Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering Management
Company Limited*
EIEINERPE TRE IR AR AR

|

51%

Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company Limited*
EENARHAER AR

|

51%

Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management Company Limited*
EBARYEEERRAF

|

51%

Anhui Bund Property Management Company Limited*
ZHINEMEERBR AT

|

51%

Anhui Pu Jing Property Company Limited*
ZHBEMERRRF

|

51%

Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company Limited*
FRAREREMERRAF

|

Ningbo Puyong Property Management Company Limited*
ERRENERBER AR

* B AT E S



The Group is a property management service provider in the
PRC, mainly engaged in property management service for
high-end non-residential properties in the PRC.

The Group provides a wide range of property management
services and value-added services to a variety of properties,
mainly in Shanghai. The services also expand into other
regions including Anhui, Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Hubei and Hunan
provinces. The managed properties can generally be classified
into six categories based on nature and usage, which are
comprised of (i) public properties (including public arenas
such as cultural venues, stadiums, exhibition halls and public
transportation properties such as rail station and airport etc.);
(i) office buildings and hotels; (iii) commercial establishments
(including shopping malls, commercial and entertainment
complexes); (iv) government properties; (v) residential
properties; and (vi) others (including schools, land parcels,
industrial areas and properties under construction).

The property management services can be broadly divided
into two areas: standard property management services
(engineering, repair and maintenance services, customer
services, security services, and cleaning and gardening
services); and value-added services including various kinds of
consultancy services relating to or ancillary to property
management.

The Group charges fees predominantly on a lump sum basis,
pursuant to which, customers pay a lump sum for property
management services and at the same time, the Group bear
all costs and expenses involved in the management of the
property or facility. On a few occasions, fees are charged on
a fixed remuneration basis, pursuant to which customers will
pay a fixed management fees, and at the same time, bear all
costs and expenses involved in the property management
themselves.

The Group generally charges customers with property
management fees, which are mainly calculated based on the
GFA of individual managed properties. These are fees related
to revenue-bearing GFA. On the other hand, the Group also
charges customers for a particular single type of property
management services or other valued-added services based
on a fixed agreed price without making reference to the
managed properties’ GFA. These are fees related to non-
revenue bearing GFA. In this connection, the GFA of the
managed properties can be broadly divided into revenue-
bearing GFA and non-revenue bearing GFA.

THE GROUP
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EE

MANAGED PROPERTY PROJECTS EEYEEE

Shanghai World Expo Exhibition and Pudong Airport Maglev Station
Convention Center (_E/GtHHiEREER) (T2 T R I k)

Shanghai ARCH Center House of Roosevelt
(RIUBEIFREA L) (BB KE)

Jiushi Tower Jiushi Xijiao Villa

(AZERE) (AEERDHE)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Riverine China Holdings Limited (HKEX stock code:1417) is
pleased to publish the second Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company (hereinafter referred to
as "this Report”). Based on the 2017 Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, we are desirous of disclosing the
vision, strategy and practice of sustainable development, in a
more comprehensive and objective manner, to increase
stakeholders’ confidence in and understanding of the Group,
and to continuously improve the environmental, social and
governance (hereinafter referred to as “ESG") performance.

For the convenience of wording and reading, any reference
to the “Riverine China”, “Company” and “we” or “us” in
this report refers to “Riverine China Holdings Limited".

The preparation of this Report is in strict compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(hereinafter referred to as “ESG Guide"”) under Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. We comply with the principles of materiality,
guantitative, balance and consistency, as well as the “comply
or explain” provisions in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide, striving to reflect the
environmental and social management policies, strategies,
relevant importance and goals of the Company
comprehensively.

In addition, the stakeholders’ survey and the report is
conducted and prepared with reference to the GRI Standards
of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), so as to demonstrate
our outstanding performance of sustainable development in
ESG aspects in a more comprehensive manner.

To enhance effectiveness of this Report for responding to
stakeholders regarding their understanding of the sustainable
development of the Company, we have formulated a
materiality assessment plan during the preparation process to
determine the contents of the report. The related procedures
include: identifying significant stakeholders, identifying and
arranging material issues related to ESG, deciding scope of
the ESG report, responding to material issues, collecting
related materials and receipts, compiling data based on
information, reviewing data in the report, etc..
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE  HERERBHRSE

The reporting period of this report is from 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018, and part of the contents may be traced
back or extended as appropriate. The contents of the report
(including policy documents, statements, data, etc.) mainly
include the information of Riverine China, Shanghai Pujiang
Property Company Limited which is its principle subsidiary,
and other subsidiaries. For details of the Company’s business,
please refer to the 2018 Annual Report of the Company.

Unless otherwise defined, the terms used in this report shall
have the same meanings as defined in the “2018 Annual
Report” of the Company dated 27 March, 2019.

The data and cases disclosed in this report are mainly derived
from the internal documents of the Company, statistical
reports and relevant public information. The Company
undertakes that this report does not contain any false
information or misleading statement or material omission,
and accepts responsibility for the contents of this report as to
its authenticity, accuracy and completeness.

This report was approved by the Board on 27 March 2018
following the confirmation by the management of the
Company and the ESG Executive Committee.

This report is set out in the 2018 Annual Report of the
Company with English and Chinese versions and released in
both paper and electronic formats. If there is any
inconsistency between the Chinese and English versions of
this Report, the Chinese version shall prevail. The electronic
version of the report is available on the HKEXnews' website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) or the official
website of the Company (http://www.riverinepm.com/).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG STRATEGY

As a leading property management company in China,
Riverine China has always been committed to providing
customers with standardized property management services.
We firmly believe that the creation of values for the
environment, employees and society is the core aspect of
promoting the Company’s sustainable development.
Therefore, we always strive to combine ESG concepts with
business strategies, aiming to create more values for
customers and our society.

While expanding our business, we also advocate and pursue
the concept of sustainable development, persist in fulfilling
its environmental and social responsibility as a corporate
citizen, listen and respond to stakeholders’ expectation,
continuously improve the management mechanism and strive
to realize a balanced development between economic,
environmental and social benefits. By leveraging on our own
strengths, we gather efforts to solve social problems, so as to
facilitate social harmony and sustainable development.

We attach great importance to the sustainable development
of the Company and understand the significant impact of
ESG performance on the sustainable development of the
Company. In order to continuously improve the ESG systems
to ensure a better integration of ESG concepts into the
corporate strategic planning and operational decision making
process, we have established a top-down ESG governance
system with responsibilities at all levels with specified issues
which will be initiated by the Board of Directors of the
Company, reviewed by the ESG Executive Committee and
implemented by the ESG Working Group.

RE - HERERESE

ESG B B

HITHBEERBEABELNYREERR] AR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

During the Reporting Period, the ESG Executive Committee
convened two meetings, and reviewed and discussed the
focus of sustainable development work, as well as the
operation status of the management system related to ESG,
in order to ensure the sustainable development work is in line
with the company’s current business development, and to
effectively respond to stakeholders’ expectations and
concerns. To further implement ESG-related work and
effectively monitor ESG-related risks, we have established an
Environmental, Health and Social (EHS) Committee in 2018.

18

RAREEA - ESGRITZESHBH2NEH -
BERVAHmARAIFESRE TIFERHEMAET
T REAEAEEBRMETER MR
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FIZFHEE 2 HREET - ATE—SEBEE
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Board of Directors EFE®

Main Responsibilities:

Responsible for assessing and determining ESG-related risks
Ensuring that the Company establishes an appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control system
Examining and approving ESG-related policies and reports

Tk 3 75 TE ESGAR B 2 B
(A A MEVESCRER B IR K&

[

FEHESGHEBBUR kRS

ESG Executive Committee
ESGRITERE

Main Responsibilities: T ERE :

Responsible for implementing ESG risk management and internal control

B EHITESCRREIE & NP E %

Guiding the work of ESG team and reporting to the Board of Directors

IEEESG/IMETIEY R EEE

Examining and approving the ESG reports and ensuring the accuracy

of performance indicator data
EHESGHRE -

RAEIR R BB R R

ESG Working Group ESGI{/#

Main Responsibilities:

e Responsible for collecting ESG-related data
and preparing reports
Reporting to the Executive Committee
regularly to help the Company assess and
determine whether the ESG risk management
and internal control system is appropriate
and effective

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Identification of Stakeholders

The active participation of stakeholders is crucial to the
Company's ESG governance. During the year, we identified
the following six main types of stakeholders who had
decision-making rights or influence over the Company and a
close relationship with us:

Employee

BT

RS- HERERBE

I 25 48 B8 75 38 Bl

M AR M ER 2 B E AR BRI ESGIRIE &
BE - AFE - BMBRILEARFEBREREL
TE - BEMEERZINA T NENRER
alE

Shareholder/
Investor

RR/REH

Riverine China

LR E

Community

HE

Supplier

HER

Communication with Stakeholders

We believe that trust and participation of the stakeholders
are the foundation for sustainable development of a
corporate. The Company attaches great importance to the
relationship management of the stakeholders. We
continuously improve our communication mechanism and
maintain on-going communication and exchange views with
both internal and external stakeholders such as the
government and regulatory authorities, investors,
shareholders, customers, suppliers, partners and the
community, so that we can fully understand their
expectations and suggestions. We continuously improve the
strategies and plans for sustainable development, in order to
strengthen the trust of the stakeholders and our partnership.
As such, we can together realize the sustainable development
plan of Riverine China, and create a sustainable future in
terms of economic growth, environmental friendliness and
social development.

Government
and regulatory
authority

BT EE
EEHE

MERBE L BE
BPEENEABINETR2ERCESESR
REOER - AABSEERNEHEETBERE
B BETEEERS ERERNEER
B REE KRR TP HER  AEBHEM
B ARERINBA SRR T RITEEIN - T
o T BRI B SR - WAL RIKIBR AR T
ZRREEREBRERS  BRERAETREE
iR BFERAITEZAIRERRE 8
E-EREER  RERE LSRRV AIRE
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RS - HERERBWE

The table below shows the issues of concern to each ATERIERT ARESHASFZIEE@BH BT
stakeholder and their respective communication methods in Kz ENMBBEAEBES I -
the reporting period.

Stakeholders Expectations and Requests Communication Frequency of
Methods Communication
Mz EEA M ERR BEFN BEAR
Government and e Compliance of operations ¢ Information submission e Regular
regulatory authority e Safety and environment protection e Conversation with * Regular

e Payment of taxes regulatory authority

¢ Promotion of local economy
BT BB B S s ARES o FRMZX o EH

s ZRIRIR s BEEMBE: o EH

o BT

o HEE ML

Shareholder/Investor ® Revenue and return e Company announcement e Irregular
¢ Business development ¢ General Meeting ® Regular
e Compliance of operation o Site visit e Irregular
¢ ESG governance ¢ Regular report * Regular
RRREE o 55 O s RAIRE o NEH
o XIFER s RERAE o EH
« EREE s BiER o NEH
* ESGIRIE o EHIE o EH
Client ¢ Quality of service and satisfaction of e Telephone e Irregular
(Property owner, the property owner communication e Regular
tenant, property e Communication with property owner/ e Joint meeting e Regular
user, etc.) user ¢ Annual meeting * |rregular
¢ Integration between business and ¢ Appointed visit

local community development
e Compliance and legitimacy of

operations
B s RSmERETMEE o BIEAR o NEH
(Xx - -#EFP- o XF ERAEER s BiEEE o TH
MERERES) o XFMEMMBERME s FEEE o EH
s BEAREBEE o XEFEEN o NEH
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Stakeholders

Expectations and Requests

Communication
Methods

RS- HERERBE

Frequency of
Communication

NzEER

AR ERERR

BEAN

BREER

Supplier e Lawful operation and quality ¢ Conference with supplier ® Regular
standards ¢ Online survey on opinionse Irregular
e Fair and reasonable treatment of e Audit and assessment e Irregular
business partners ¢ Bidding activities * Irregular
e Legal compliance of operation
¢ Quality of service and satisfaction of
the property owner
HrEn s HIERE I ZEL L mERE o HIER SR o EH
o EBBHATEIENFS s MEERAL o TNEHA
s AEAREE o Bz NFHE o TEHA
e REMEEETHEE o BERIZEH o NEH
Employee * Employees’ welfare and benefits ¢ Employee representative o Regular
e Staff safety and health meeting e Irregular
e Legitimate recruitment and use of e Company activities e Irregular
workforce e Letter and visit e |rregular
e Staff training and education ¢ Suggestion box
¢ Quality of service and satisfaction of
the property owner
8T o BT fFiBEERN s BIRKKRE o EH
e BETRFEHZ S e RANEE o NEH
s BVEAHATL LREE] o NEH
s ETHBRHEHUE o EEM o NEH
s R MEEETWEE
Community e Community environment e Community * |rregular
e Charity and public welfare communication meeting e Irregular
e Community contributions e Visit and investigation e Irregular
e Compliance of operations e Press release/
announcement
i o HRIRIE s HEBRE o NEH
s BELT o FAEAE o NEH
o HEERE o MTETRAE o NEH
s BRER

LA B AR ﬁBEL\T
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RE  HEBRER®WE

Materiality Assessment

In order to identify the Company’s significant ESG risks and
opportunities , the Company commissioned an independent
third-party consultant to conduct an ESG materiality
assessment during the year to comprehensively assess the
ESG issues that are most important to the Company’s
business development and most concerned by the
stakeholders and therefore to assist us in determining ESG
management objectives in the future, strengthen our
disclosure on the key points of this report, and positively
respond to the expectations and aspirations of all parties.

The assessment process has been conducted by the Company
with reference to the advice from the management, analysis
and suggestions from internal and external experts, analysis
on media information, benchmarking studies from domestic
and foreign peer companies, and referring to several other
aspects including the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide issued by Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
the GRI Standards. After preliminary screening of the issues,
the Company’s annual material issues have been determined
through the consideration of multiple perspectives such as
the contribution to sustainable development, stakeholders’
general concerns and the compliance with the Company’s
need of strategic development.

The Company’s materiality assessment method strictly follows
the following four steps:

Identification of
applicable ESG
issues

Survey on
stakeholders

HRERLRE

BB FAMESGHE

EEMEENM

RBBIRARNEANESGER MHEE - KRAFRN
AEREABUE=TEFRRBHRESGEEN
AR s TIE  AEEHEHRARREBRER
RRBEELRNSRENRAMUMESGER 1t
i 1% B FIHETE R RHDESG EIE B AR - ANs& 7R
BENRBESERLESREEE TR -

ARRRFHHABIETF2EEEERZ - NIMNEE
RoITiEE - KERES DN - BRINAIELIR
K ALBEBBIMCGRE HERERARE
HID UM 2B EERABRE)EZEE
- IR LEER  BRYIRERRNE
Bh - MIERAERE )T BRI E A MR A R BRS B R
FENNERESFZAREEMNSHARRFE
BERMEE -

AR BEMFETA - BREERATOES
B

Review on ESG
materiality
by management

EEEERESG
EEHEE

e Based on the Company's existing
business, comprehensive ESG
Reporting Guide disclosure
requirements, ESG management
priorities of the industry, we
selected 29 ESG issues covering
environment, employment
management, compliance
management and social
contribution.
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Internal and external stakeholders
were invited to rate the
imateriality of the 29 ESG issues
through various forms such as
anonymous online questionnaires
and interviews, and their opinions
and expectations on the
Company's ESG governance
were collected. According to the
survey results, the ranking of

ESG materiality in 2018 was
sorted out.
BB RE R A

A -

¢ The management of the Group
reviews and confirms the priority
of ESG issues based on the
strategic development direction
of the Group.

s KEEEEREBEEBBRER
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B HRREARE

In 2018, the Company designed a questionnaire for the 20184 - A2 &l ¢t ¥ & 12 /8 [ A YN 2B | 25 48 8
management and internal and external stakeholders. The & TRE%E  FHEABTFER TER  BE -+
scope of this assessment covered 29 issues concerning six &« BT - ERNEEE 6 A - HEH 2018
aspects including governance, environment, community, %—%%WW AT Y SR B R S BB 25017 © AR
labour, product and supplier with 250 responses of the ATRBBRSEERINZFRZBE IR AESIEE
questionnaire collected. The Company learned about the ESGEBHNEEREUREARE  FREEH
importance of relevant ESG issues considered by each  z%REZEME -

stakeholder as well as their comments and feedback through

the questionnaire and formed a materiality matrix.

Materiality analysis on the ESG issues of Riverine China
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RS - HERERBWE

Governance issues:

§~

1.

Employee issues:

BTHE:

14. Employees’ welfare and 21.
benefits

14, BIfPEHEER 21.

15. Staff safety and health 22.

15. BIREALE

16. Legitimate recruitment 22.
and use of workforce 23.

6. BVEAHRAL 23.

17. Staff training and 24,
education

17. BIEBEHE

18. Employee communication

18. BILEM 24.

19. Employee recruitment and
team building 25.

19. BEIHEREERER 25.

20. Diversity of employees’ 26.
background

20, BIFSRZHIE 26.
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R

o

Compliance and legitimacy
of operations
BEEHRES 5.
Standardized
management
FELERE

Internal anti-corruption
management
NEBRRIBUE 12

Transparency of operating

o

©® NN

information 8.
KR BBARE 9.
9.
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Environmental issues:
RIBEE -

Waste treatment and emission
reduction

REZE YR IR MORBE
Greenhouse gas emissions and
emission reduction
SRS B OB BE

Sewage discharge and treatment

E 7R N B 3R

Water resources consumption and

water preservation
IKETRHRE K 7K

Use of raw materials and its impact

R EHE R R E

Product Service Responsibility issues:
EmRBEERE :

Quality of service and satisfaction

of the property owner
REmERETREE

Protection of users’ property, health

and safety

RIBERENIE - RERZE

Privacy of clients
eSSV

Technological innovation and

development of intelligent property
and respect for intellectual property

rights

BEC R AR M AR

BEMBERE

Equipment reliability

& Al SE

Contribution and precautious
measures to green properties

REMENRA RS

Community issues:

HERE :

10.

10.
11.

Communication with property
owner/user

XX GCREER
Integration between business
and local community
development

1. EBEZMHEERRE

12. Publicity campaign and
education of green concept

12. BERREEHE

13.  Charitable donation and
voluntary works

13. RmBREMERES

Supplier issues:

HERHRE -

27. Lawful operation and quality

27.
28.

28.
29.
29.

standards
HEBAELERMmERLE
Suppliers’ environmental and
social performance
HEBNRFET RN
Fair and reasonable treatment
of business partners
EBBHATEENFS
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The results of the 2018 assessment show that stakeholders
are really concerned about the Company’s performance in
areas including community, employees, product services,
governance, and supplier management. The Company will
focus on the disclosure of issues of higher importance in the
subsequent chapters of this report to fully respond to
stakeholders’ concerns.

Meanwhile, as the key points of Riverine China’s future
environmental, social and governance plan, the results of this
assessment will be integrated into the Company’s daily
management system to perfect the management system for
relevant issues, enhance the performance, and create shared
sustainable value for stakeholders at the economic, social and
environmental levels.

MANAGEMENT EXCELLENCE

As a leading sustainable property management services
provider in the PRC, Riverine China has been abiding by the
relevant laws and regulations of corporate governance and
strictly complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange,
with honesty, legal compliance, integrity and self-discipline as
the foundation. In the business operation, the Company
adheres to the principle of operation in good faith,
implements the relevant system of integrity construction,
enhances the measures and execution of internal risk
management and control, strengthens the promotion and
education of integrity to employees, and thus enhances
employees’ vigilance against corruption, and forms a top-
down policy and operation atmosphere with the orientation
of anti-embezzlement, anti-corruption and anti-fraud. We
emphasize the honesty and integrity of our employees in all
aspects of our business and are committed to maintaining a
high level of transparency and accountability within the
Company.

RE - HERERESE
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RE  HERERBHRSE

The Company is strictly complied with the “Criminal Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the "Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
other relevant laws and regulations throughout its operation.
On the basis of legal compliance, the Company has
formulated a set of Measures for the Assessment of Integrity
and Self-discipline ( {FERZBREIBZEZZIEE) ). We require
the Company’s management personnel to sign the “Letter of
Commitment on Personal Integrity and Self-discipline” ( {{&
ABRZE@EEGEE) ) every year, and included the integrity
performance into the performance appraisal system of the
“Year-End Performance Appraisal Program for 2018”
( CQOIBFEFREMEFTFZE) ) in order to implement
systematic management of anti-corruption work.

In the daily operation of the Company, employees are
required to abide by the laws, be strictly self-disciplined and
honest in performing official duties and not to abuse power
for personal interests. The Audit and Supervision Department,
which specializes in anti-corruption and integrity promotion,
has set up hotline and e-mail address for relevant issues to
protect employees’ whistleblowing rights. After receiving a
whistle-blowing report, we will conduct a systematic
investigation on the reported case and the person being
reported. In the event of an criminal case, it will be submitted
to the judicial body after the approval by the board of
directors and provide assistance in compliance with law;
otherwise, the case will be jointly handled by relevant
functions and we will seriously investigate and rectify illegal
conducts. The Company keeps highly confidential the identity
of the reporter and the reported issues, and strictly limits the
scope of knowledge of the investigation.

We highly value integrity, which is also reflected in our
cooperation with customers and suppliers. Relevant provisions
of integrity and self-discipline have been set out in all terms
of contracts in cooperation projects with the government. At
the same time, when cooperating with downstream suppliers,
we also sign contracts that include integrity and self-discipline
requirements, requiring suppliers and employees of
outsourcers to be law-abiding and self-disciplined in
performing their duties.

During the reporting period, the Company did not receive
any corruption lawsuit against the Company or its employees.
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Excellent service quality is the core of Riverine China’s
vigorous development in China’s property market. In order to
provide satisfactory services and high-quality service projects
to owners and customers, the Company formulates and
implements strict quality plans and targets, prepares detailed
quality standards and process guidelines and continuously
brings innovations in services. The utilization of advanced
quality management systems and digital integrated system
brings convenience for customers and provides effective
support for our effective management and control of service
quality.

We have strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations
of property quality management, developed a sound system
of management rules and regulations, and compiled a series
of systematic management documents including regulatory
codes such as the “Management Manual”, the
“Management Manual on Service Outsourcing” and the
“Property Inspection Manual” and guidelines on
implementation of specific issues such as the “Risk Control
and Management Procedures” and the “Non-conformity
Management Procedures” aiming to fully rationalize the
standards of management, review and evaluation in the
course of daily operations.

As a property management service provider who highly values
quality management, Riverine China has been accredited
with the certification of the National Standards GB/T and ISO
Quality Management System since 2004. With years of
efforts and accumulation, the Company currently has
obtained the authentication of the latest National Standard
and International Quality Management System GB/T 19001-
2016/1SO 9001:2015 “Quality Management System
Requirements”. The Company fully considers various risks and
opportunities and the planning, execution, inspection and
action in the quality management system are fully reflected in
the daily operation.
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In order to continuously improve the quality management
standard, the Company regularly reviews, rationalizes and
revises internal regulatory documents, and continuously
updates the quality control specifications in many aspects
including risk control, surveillance and measurement control,
internal audit and error correction to ensure that the
Company can meet the specific requirements of the latest
quality management system. Given the complexity of
property management, the Company will also formulate
detailed operation instructions applicable to different projects
according to the conditions and carry out trainings so as to
implant the idea of quality control of the Company to all
employees and to maintain its quality control standard in all
projects.

In terms of customer information and privacy protection
management, the Company strictly complies with the
requirements of laws and regulations such as the
"Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
establishes strict customer information management system
and implementation rules, and carries out diversified
measures to prevent information leakage. Using and
authorization of various information media carrying customer
information have been strictly restricted and special trainings
have been provided for employees who need to deal with
customer information to enhance employees’ awareness of
information protection and prevent leakage of customer
information. During all the services, we strictly safeguard
customers’ security of privacy. We require the employees to
perform and comply with responsibilities of public safety.
Before seeking approval from the property owners, any
trespass of visitors will be prohibited. We never expose the
family and financial situation, building number, room
number, phone number and other customer information of
the property owners to anyone.

As for advertising, the Company also strictly abides by the
laws and regulations including the “Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China” as well as the code of practice in
the industry. The information and materials used for
advertising, promotion and marketing shall be assessed and
controlled to ensure the legitimacy, authenticity, scientificity
and accuracy before publication. Publication of deceptive and
misleading marketing information and materials is strictly
prohibited to effectively protect the legitimate rights and
interests of customers.
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As a company committed to providing top-level property
management services, close cooperation with suppliers is the
most important part of our business and a guarantee of our
quality service. The Company takes fair and equitable
cooperation attitude and implements a standardized
operation model of integrated planning, bidding and
procurement; attaches importance to communication with
suppliers to enhance suppliers’ understanding and
recognition of the Company’s value and culture and
strengthen the cooperative relationship of mutual trust and
assistance, aiming to work together to promote sustainable
and stable development of the industry.

In order to regulate bidding and business cooperation,
prevent and combat unfair competition, and show the spirit
of fair cooperation between both parties, the Company
encourages suppliers to make anonymous reports on
suspicious corruption conduct through hotline and e-mail,
and promises to carry out investigations by independent
professional personnel. We are committed to maintaining a
fair and open procurement environment and strictly prevent
potential corruption and fraud in the supply chain.

On the basis of strict compliance with relevant laws, the
Company has formulated the “Management Manual on
Service Outsourcing” for supply chain management, which
regulates the selection of suppliers in various aspects ranging
from procurement process to the entry , assessment and
hierarchical management of suppliers. As such, the selection,
assessment and updating of suppliers improves in order to
effectively manage potential risks in the supply chain and
optimize supply chain management.

Service Procurement
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Service Procurement

The Company has developed a document regarding the
systematic procurement and tendering and bidding system
with strict selection criteria to carry out identification and
entry of the new suppliers under a standardized review
process. It also complies with the “Management Measures
on the Evaluation of Party for Material Procurement ( {})&
HEME ST EEERIOL) )" and the “Management Measure
on the Evaluation of Party for Labour and Technical
Procurement ( {5575 - BINERBH T I EERIDE) ). We
take fair and equitable attitude when working with suppliers
and adopt unified and standardized bidding process. The
implementation of procurement of the Company has also
reflected that we pursue high guality management and fulfill
social responsibilities. We give priority to the material, labour
and technical suppliers with the qualifications of 1SO
9001(Quality Management Systems Requirements), ISO14001
(Environmental Management System Certification) and
OHSAS18001 (Occupational Health and Safety Management
System Certification), and adopt different selection criteria
according to the type of industry in which a supplier
operates.

We continuously enhance our goods procurement
management process and strengthen the management for
supplier in goods procurement category. Procurement
personnel collects information such as business license and
qualification level of suppliers through professional market
surveys, trade fairs, etc., and includes the qualified suppliers
in our supplier database, subject to the proven suitability
after the site visit to business premises of the suppliers. We
carry out proper filing of information related to the qualified
suppliers such as their business licenses, permits, quality
certifications and industry honours, and update our supplier
database from time to time to classify the suppliers into
different categories, namely qualified, unqualified and
prohibited from cooperation in order to manage the suppliers
in a systematic manner.
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Service Supervision

The Company continuously monitors the service standard of
individual supplier for the purpose of effectively improving
service quality. We provide suppliers with temporary entrance
card and security card, arrange designated employees to
record and assess the work quality of suppliers regularly,
report “Monthly Return of Project Management” every
month, and inspect suppliers on a sampling basis from time
to time to ensure service quality of the service suppliers meets
the agreed terms of engagement. Also, we provide trainings
to suppliers in respect of safety, requirements of
environmental protection and quality standards, which aims
to regulate services and standardize management among
suppliers to ensure that service quality of the service suppliers
meets the agreed terms of engagement, thus achieving a
win-win situation with mutual benefits.

The Company also attaches great importance to the
establishment of the development and incentive mechanism
for suppliers by regularly holding and organising meetings
and site visiting to share outstanding cooperation cases and
commend outstanding suppliers. Supplier management
department arranges meetings with the suppliers with
unsatisfactory performance to better understand the root
cause, devise rectification plans and facilitate the
implementation of such plans so as to help the suppliers to
enhance the overall management standard.
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Supplier Level

R A

Level A: To further develop partnership
with the suppliers. When entering a
new labour services contract, management
office should preferentially select the
suppliers from those with Level A.
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Level B: To maintain the existing
partnership, namely renewal of the
contract when it is expired.
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Level C: To gradually reduce cooperation
with the supplier. In principle, contract
will not be renewed when it is expired.
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Qualification Accreditation

The Company conducts an objective assessment on the
comprehensive performance (including quality, delivery
deadline, price, labour standards, occupational health and
safety, and professional ethics) of the suppliers for several
times every year, and prepares the “List of Qualified Service
Providers” ( &1 ERISMH T 8% ) after the comprehensive
evaluation of the supplier system is made in accordance with
the assessment result at the end of the year. Based on the
result, we divide the qualified suppliers into three levels, i.e.
Level A, Level B and Level C, according to their qualifications
ranking from the highest to the lowest, and have developed
the corresponding procedures for drawing up and examining
and approving a contract respectively. Through the selection
of qualified suppliers, we can eliminate unqualified suppliers
while pursuing a long-term cooperation, aiming to ensure
that long-term and stable qualified services will be provided
to the property owners. During the reporting year, the
Company has over 300 suppliers in total.

In recent years, the Company was well recognized and highly
appreciated by the community for its achievements in social,
environmental and governance. The major honours received
by the Company during the reporting period are as follows:

. 2018 Top 100 Property Service Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Strength Q018F W ERIELELEE
J7RIFFTOP 100)

o The title of 2018 Shanghai Five Star Property Service
Enterprise on Comprehensive Service Ability (_E/&T#)
ERBERE RBEENHERDEZH)

. 2018 Shanghai Top 100 Integrated Property Service
Enterprises (/8 MY RISAR S BRI E)

o Shanghai Pudong International Airport Maglev Station
(EBRF AR BB #3535) managed by the Company
was awarded 2018 Shanghai Excellent Property
Management Demonstration Housing Projects (non-
residential property) (L/8MEEREF REHIER GE
BEWE))

e Shanghai City Power Square (L8 E) 1 ES)
managed by the Company was awarded 2018 Shanghai
Excellent Property Management Demonstration Housing
Projects (non-residential property)

32 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

EBTE

AR BFLZREHEBRNGRARA(BEEL
B OfHIR - B STEE BERBENL
PHBEEEZ)EETBHLTE  YEFR
BEFEERGATTHREBRR  FHR(ER
IRFH A ZER) - BIBELER  AREEEZRE
HREHEDAA B C=ELR - o RIEIE
THENARET - FHRE - BATEARR
TEEER - BOERSREIBAIENRE - 5B
“EERHEER  BRAEEIMEFRHKE
BENRBEE - RAREHA - KRR HEAH
FETE 300 885 ©

R - ARRENE - BEREETENRHR
(5T HERROBTNEE RS - NAREH
P AATREHEBLENT

o 2018FWERB XIS E AIFFTOP100

o 2018FE [ LBMYWERGLES REEN
hEREE]

o 2018FE[LEMYWERBLEEBREE]

o  ARAETH[ LBWTHREREIESIE]
RE2018FE [ LAMYEERES R
ER CGEEEDS) ]

o ARAETWHILEEHTESHNES| L&
2018 F B[ LB MEERES AR
GEBEDE) |



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Shanghai Bund No12 Building (9N 1257 K1) managed
by the Company was awarded 2018 Shanghai Excellent
Property Management Demonstration Housing Projects
(non-residential property)

The office building for ICBC (L@ RTT& £ I XIE)
managed by the Company was awarded 2018 Shanghai
Excellent Property Management Demonstration Housing
Projects (non-residential property)

Shenhong International Building in Shanghai Honggiao
Hub (/BT B R4 4T PR KE) managed by the
Company was awarded 2018 Shanghai Excellent
Property Management Demonstration Housing Projects
(non-residential property)

Shanghai ARCH Center (& #I#8EFE 1)) managed by
the Company was awarded Shanghai Excellent Property
Management Demonstration Housing Projects (non-
residential property)
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SUPERB SERVICE

As a property management service provider that upholds the
concept of sustainable development, we always give the first
priority to provide customers with professional property
services covering the whole life cycle of the projects. We have
committed vast amount of resources to maintain good
relationships and communication with our customers.
Devoted to maintaining good partnerships with our
customers, we understand customer needs, safeguard
customer rights and make continuous improvement of service
quality. As regulated by the service standard in the industry,
the Company has revised a series of management methods in
respect of customer service experience enhancement such as
the “Standard on Repair Services” ( {{RIEFRTEIZAE) ) and
the “Basic Manners for Conferencing Services” ( { & 7% iR75
EHAE ) ), and implemented standardized management
on property management services so as to secure better
customer experience and enhanced service quality.

In order to gain a full understanding of the evaluation of
customers and property owners on the current property
service, further improve customer experience and service
standard, and identify future business development direction,
the Company actively communicates with customers and
handles recommendations and complaints made by
customers in a timely and effective manner. Our
communication with customers is comprised of two parts:
communication between senior leaders of the property
companies and senior leaders of the property owners; and
communication between management office of property
projects and responsible parties of the property owners. The
former is made mainly taking into account of macro and
overall services, while the latter is made in a more detailed
manner mainly taking into account of the improvement of
service quantity and service standard of the projects. Through
combination of these two communication methods, we
adopt different communication frequency and
communication methods on a case-by-case basis subject to
individual communication requirement, so that effort can be
made on optimizing communication standard and improving
communication effectiveness with customers.
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The table below shows the main channels through which the
Company communicates with its customers.

Type of meeting

Agenda of meeting

bk

Frequency of meeting

RE -HERER

ARG

HE

AEEFPBENTIRRE

o

BRT AR

Participants

ERIEARR ERER

Annual meeting Annual work summary for
property services, work plan
for next year
MRS F R LIERAS
TEEIEE

FERH S

A

Once a year, generally in
December every year

HEs

Leaders of the property
owners, companies, project

managers
R —REGFN12 ¥XTHEE  YEQATNRE -
TR A &8

Monthly meeting Monthly work report for

property services, work plan

for next month month
REg® YERSAETIEESR: ®BA—
TATIT 2

Once a month, generally
convene at the end of the

R —REAREH

Department leaders of
property owners, project
managers, each division
manager of the projects

XX EFIEE - IREKE -
TH B & RAEKIE

Special meeting Special or sudden events
occurred in property
services are the core issues
of the meeting

VMERGPERIRES
HREEZL

iii,a

IuE>

g}\ﬁ;

NERE

Convene irregularly

G

Department leaders of
property owners, project
managers, each division
manager of the projects
FIXEPIRE  THAKE -
T8 B & IR IE

Satisfaction survey  Service quality satisfaction;

service improvement

Once a quarter, generally
convene at the end of the

Department leaders of
property owners, project

recommendations quarter managers, each division
manager of the projects
WmEERS FREEEEMEER - REIR BFTE—X —REZER FEFHHFIRE EHELE-
Tk TH B & RAEKIE
Immediate Various types of events Anytime and anywhere Relevant personnel

communication occurred in property

services

BB E 8 MEBRT SRS BE B BB b

HEETEAE

We openly accept all suggestions and complaints from the
customers, and handle customers’ complaints and opinions
according to related provisions of the “Measures for the
Management of Complaints ( {IXFFEIEHE) )" and the
“Procedures for Control of Non-conformity ( { & 1&E #1712
FF) )" in a timely manner. The “Measures for the
Management of Complaints ( (IRFERIPLE) )" has
specified the vesting of responsibility and detailed procedures
in handling customers’ complaints, and established a
handling scheme which includes the first-complaint
responsibility system, signature and circulation system,
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RS - HERERBWE

customer acceptance system and follow-up and return visit
system. Through various channels including customer service
hotline, WeChat platform, official website of the Company,
complaint mailbox, we actively listen to customers’ opinions
and suggestions, so as to continuously improve our service
quality and enhance customer experience. According to the
nature and severity of the complaint, we will implement the
corresponding procedures in handling complaints, and carry
out follow-up management, in order to report to the
customer about the processing situation; meanwhile, we will
also improve the complaints’ analysis and rectify the issues,
as well as conduct duties of accountability and impose
penalty for valid complaints, in order to continuously enhance
our service standard and improve customer satisfaction.

First-complaint Signature and

circulation system

BERES

responsibility system

BREES

TE=ERERE AP ER - RAIRER
REABENTEEEERE - MITHRNRFREE
A2 WHETRHER - MRRZEFRERIES

R EERFOMEREEN - HREW
RAFETRE AR - ARENERBKT - 12

HEFPWmEE -

Customer acceptance

system

& F Rl

Follow-up and
return visit system

BR R [0 55 %)

e For every customer’s
complaint, every

e The person who received
a complaint from a

e In respect of handling a

complaint, completion of

36

customer will be the first
recipient of the complaint,
who is responsible for
delivering and passing on
the complaint to relevant
departments. The first
recipient cannot put off or
give up its responsibilities
during the course. It shall
sign on the Complaint
Handling Circulation List
as the first responsible
person, and undertake all
the responsibility to
receive further questions
from the complainant and
inform it of the final
results.
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circulated handling
procedure shall be
recorded in writing to
ensure that every
complaint case is
well-documented.
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handling complaint is not
dependent upon the
adoption of measures.
Instead, such completion
of handling complaint
culminates in the
satisfaction of the
complainant who is
informed of the results of
the complaint.
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o After completion of every

complaint, property
management department
shall make a follow-up
confirmation with the
complainant at least via
phone conversation. For
more severe complaints,
it shall make a return visit
the complainants in
person, and continue to
handle the complaints if
there are still problems
pending to be handled
until the customers are
satisfied with the results.
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We always concern about the effectiveness of improvement
for service quality. In order to better provide property
management services, narrow the gap of customers’
expectations of services, and enhance the brand image of
Riverine China, we have been conducting customers’
satisfaction assessment work for many years. In August 2018,
Pujiang Property once again entrusted the Customer
Evaluation Center-An Affiliate of SAQ to carry out an
evaluation work on third-party customers’ satisfaction, aiming
at understanding the rating of satisfaction of the targets
towards the service quality of property services of Riverine
China, as well as finding its shortcomings. We also
communicate with the targets of service in person and
understand their demands and advice. Moreover, we look for
the inadequacy in the current service process to provide
reference for the future directions for work focus. Based on
the "Guidelines for Customer Satisfaction Evaluation Model
and Method” GT/T19038:2009 General Model, we have
applied SMART criteria (which stands for specific, measurable,
attainable, relevant and timely) to conduct satisfaction
surveys on the following five indicators through three
methods, which are home-visit, on-site intercepts, and on-
site inspections.
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In the two-month satisfaction evaluation, we have covered
87 assessment points and successfully collected 853 valid
guestionnaire samples. The evaluation results show that the
customer satisfaction on Riverine China Holdings Limited in
2018 was 89.27, which was higher than the overall
satisfaction level (87.35) last year. Based on the results of this
evaluation and feedbacks from other customers’
communication channels, the company will analyze the
shortcomings and deficiencies in the service operation
thoroughly, continuously improve the service quality, and
endeavor to provide customers with systematic property
management services.

Hospitality

RIS 5

Equipment facility
management

A p p

HREREE

b=

ERSMEANMEEANTY  RMEET87
EDRISEBE 6 - WA I SR B M B AR 853 1D ©
BIFEERBER 2018 F /AT RIERER A A
MR MEER8I27  BMEFRERBEKE
(87.35)BATIRFA  ERNAXBIFFERARKEH
HEFERRBENRE  AAREEAD TR
BEPNTTERE  THTEREEE - B0
AEPIRHESINMESIER -

Specific indicators
2R it

Specific indicators

HigHEE

Customer Satisfation Security service Specific indicators

BEWEE RZ PRTS

AEER

Cleaning service Specific indicators

RERIRHS

AEER

Maintenance service Specific indicators

HEEIRTS
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Riverine China’s dedication to high service quality is also
represented by its active research and development, as well
as application of digital and integrated technology. We have
particularly established Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company
Limited* (/B8N AR AR AR, which devotes a huge
amount of resources on research and development of
Dynamic Building Matrix ("DBM") system, overall
digitalization of building, and organic integration of the
contents such as equipment, energy, personnel, supervision
and environment by way of deployment of visualization and
Internet of Things (IOT).

Our DBM system is composed of a “Three-tools-One-
platform” structure, which stands for mission management
tool, assets management tool, tenants management tool and
data presentation platform respectively, and is ultimately built
into an intelligent, ecological and digital integrated
management system. The specific functions are as follows:

Function

i

Name

=L

RS- HERERBE

HIPESREREEENEERRERFTM
B —RICERMNBRAEMEZER - B
RRIKILT EBNARKRERAR  RAREER
IR B B A2 AE FHE [ (DBM) 24T - i1 F 28T
b~ Bl - WEB AT G YHEAS (loT) #BE 7Y
FAKERE R AR B REERNERE
WHES -

B DBM ARSI = TE—F & A 2B 4K
DHREIHEETR BEEETA HFPERE
TEUREEBRATR  SEITESL - £/
£ BEFENEGEAREERS - BBERMT

Mission management tool Optimizing inspections, managing repair plans in advance, managing work order
electronically, conducting detailed data statistics

AEEETA

AR TIER(L - BIEEtEITEARER  TEEHCEIR - s ABERGT

Assets management tool Comprehensive equipment information, equipment warning, real-time examination of
equipment’s situation, automatic formation of maintenance work order

BEEEETA

PHEEMBEER

RERE  BEESFERERN BBUKAEETE

Tenants management tool Recording information of tenants, mobile payment, repair transparency, enhancing

user stickiness
HPEETA

LEMEFER BBHHE  REBAL  ESRAFPHE

Data presentation

platform viewing on various platforms
FERRTA ARCEI - MEBHRG T - FER

Presentation of visualization, statistical analysis by themes, linkage of information state,

\EHE  ZYEEE
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In order to tackle the issues about imbalance of staffing in
traditional property management, high energy costs,
outstanding safety issues of equipment operation and full
lifecycle management, we also established Shanghai Bund Ke
Pu Engineering Management Company Limited* (= /&5N#%}
HIREEARZAR), which is committed to utilizing
technology including Al, 10T, cloud computing and big data,
and relies on the company’s operational experience of offline
engineering facilities services as the means to combine
intelligent facilities management platform tools with
innovative and efficient operational teams. With the facility
and equipment management that can be quantified by user
experience, we provide customers with continuous, stable
and efficient intelligent services. Through the organic
integration of management equipment and intelligent
technology, we have digitalized six major tasks of the
equipment and facility maintenance system.

Corrective risk

(ENAEIEA

Equipment
update

BEER

Operation and
maintenance

system of

Safety and
protection

el

Daily operation

and

maintenance

=k
BITHE
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As a property management company which attaches great
importance to innovation and technology research and
development, not only do we promote the transformation
and upgrading of traditional property management to
modern service industry, but we also regulate the enterprise
innovation process in terms of the system and management,
in order to cultivate a the innovative and cultural ambience
within the company, strive to achieve commercialization of
innovative technologies and enhance the service experience.
To further encourage innovative research and development
from our employees, we have built a knowledge base
(information-knowledge list) that aggregates experience from
internal sources (e.g. intellectual property; knowledge gained
from failures and successful project experiences) and external
sources (e.g. industry standards; academic exchanges,
professional meetings, opinions from the customers or
external suppliers). Specified knowledge is available for
extraction and sharing, so that all employees can learn from
and use it as a reference for innovative research and
development. Meanwhile, we have formulated and
implemented an intellectual property management system
which properly manages the pooled knowledge base
(including intellectual property) to ensure that our intellectual
property rights are not infringed.
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED

The Company believes that excellent talent is the foundation
of sustainable development. For employment, we are in strict
compliance with laws related to employment, such as the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {## AR £
FMEEB)E) ), the Labour Contract Law of People’s Republic
of China ( {HEAREMBELEESRA) ) and the
Implementing Regulations of the PRC Employment Contracts
Law ((HREARAEMBELEHERZEZEMREDH) ). The
Company has also formulated the Recruitment Management
Regulations ( (HBEEEIET) ) according to its own
circumstances. We uphold the recruitment principle of
“Priority to Internal Recruitment, Open Recruitment, Fair
Competition and Merit-based Selection” to encourage
personal growth for internal talents. When there are
vacancies, the Company prioritizes internal competition, and
selects and promotes suitable employees who meet the job
requirements with outstanding performance according to the
requirements of the position. Then, we will consider open
recruitment to the public. We adopt the “fair, just and open”
model of recruiting outstanding talents who fulfil our
requirements so as to supply the Company with new blood.
The Company has entered into a labor contract with each
employee and strictly enforced the terms of the contract to
maintain good labor relations. In addition to ensuring legal
compliance in employment, the Company has also developed
the “Pujiang Employee Handbook (&)L & T F#)", which
set out the details in various aspects such as recruitment,
compensation, dismissal, promotion, performance appraisal,
working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other welfare.
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The Company prohibits the use of child labor or forced labor,
and strictly implements relevant procedures in the recruitment
process. In view of the Labour Contract Law of People’s
Republic of China ( (REARKMELEEFE) ), the
Labor Contracts Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors (% A R A B R F AMRE LT )
& RIE MR, Provisions of the State Council on Working
Hours of Workers and Staff ( {BI78z BF B T T VER AR
%€ ) and Provisions of Prohibition of Child Labour ( {ZE{F
FETHRTE) ), we have explicitly stipulated in the labor
contracts that Riverine China and its employees have the
same legal status, and neither party shall impose its will on
the other party. The Company’s recruitment system
automatically filters all applicants under the age of 16 and
strictly verifies their identity documents during the interview
to ensure that they are of legal age and are eligible for
employment. The policy which strictly prohibits the use of
child labor or forced labor also applies to all suppliers of
products and services in Riverine China, so that the use of
illegal workers can be eliminated completely. We also comply
with regulations including the Law on the Protection of
Women's Rights and Interests of the People’s Republic of
China ((HREARHENMBGEZERREEL) ) to take
reasonable protection for female employees to fulfil their
needs for rights and interests. The Company respects the
value of employees with different cultures, backgrounds,
religions and specialties. It encourages employees to diversify
their skill sets to jointly demonstrate corporate value and
fulfill social responsibilities.
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The Company pursues the principle of equal and fair
employment, focusing on the ability of employees to ensure
that employees are not treated differently according to
factors such as gender, age, nationality, race, religion, family
and health, so as to eliminate any form of discrimination. We
provide competitive compensation and benefits to all
employees based on their working performance, experience,
work place and average standard in the industry. The
Company encourages personnel at all levels to work diligently
within the Company’s management and personal ability. The
harder they work, the more incomes they can earn. In this
regard, the Company has established a “part-time
allowance” for the escrow project, which is issued according
to relevant standards during the escrow project. The
Company has also formulated the Corporate Title, Rank and
Grade Table and our Salary Grade Standard on the basis of
relevant laws and regulations, which has systematically
detailed regulations on compensation and promotion
standards for reference and compliance purposes. We also
adjust the salaries with reference to the industry’s salary level
and price changes regularly to ensure that the employees are
provided with competitive compensation, so as to strengthen
the team and attract talents. In order to provide employees
with a pleasant and comfortable working atmosphere during
their work, we stipulate that employees should respect,
cooperate with and support each other, and work together
to create a fair, diversified working environment without
discrimination.

In order to attract more excellent employees to join the
company, we also purchase commercial insurance including
social insurance, group medical insurance and employer
liability insurance for qualified employees to fully protect
employees’ rights and interests. We have also formulated the
Guidelines Related to Holidays on the basis of the relevant
laws and regulations on holidays such as the Provisions of the
State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff ( [l
Pr BB T TVEREAIRE ) ), which standardized the
management of employees’ holidays and rest time to ensure
that employees have sufficient holiday benefits. In addition to
statutory holidays, the Company also provides employees
with paid leave including annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave and test leave, to
further protect the legitimate rights and interests of
employees and work and life balance, so as to improve work
efficiency.

A4 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

ARRBBETFERALNAARA - BHERET
BN ERETAHEMR - Fit BFE- &
& FHEN  KERREARERARME SR
AR HBEAFANBRTE - ZFIRIEE
THIERE &5k TIEMERTEFHK
% RFTABRTREERF HIFHMENGE -
NESEERAEHBER  ERREEMEA
BENEBEAR > 28215 ZRKRA - Bt 27
RZTHREBEES [FERM ) RREEABH
EIRARIREEN - ARR B ERRERE
REERE EHIE TCRRIBAFIFRRY AR
(FEFRRE) HEMRBETREMT 245t
HFARE BB BEARE - HPTEHRLET
EEBOKFRMELIETRY - RSB TER
HEABRFNINHH - AZEEFILRAES A
Ao REETHETREREA —[EMRETEN T
SE BAPRETEIEI(FHREERE
E - BAtE - A BRERKE - KRANE
N ZITCMER AR R TIERIR

RTRSIEZEFNETMARRR - RIVER
HABERMBTIEEL SRR ERERER &
TEEREEHERR - 2EREES TR o Hf
EE(EBRANE I TEREMNETE) SR
MEEREROER EHIE TN RAEEE
X)) HETHNEBRBARKEREETRELE
2 KEEIARERYEN - REAEHKRAE
Sh RABERBIREEBEFR AR E
/R 1ER - BR  BEREEHRY £ R
BEIHNEERERTIEEETE B8 ITEX



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

While Riverine China regularly provides health checkups for
all employees, it also provides special medical examinations
for female employees. The union also allocates special funds
for female employees to purchase presents for International
Women's Day and hold a seminar about the International
Women's Day. As such, we can provide special care for
female employees. At the same time, we are better able to
listen to employees and improve our work. During the
reporting period, the Company has a total of 1,184
employees, turnover rate is 16.9%. The following tables are
categorized by gender, age, occupational category, and
geographic location of the employees.

Gender

£ 51

Category Female

=5l X

Number of staff 784 400

ANEHE

Below 30
30 AT

200

RS- HERERBE

HIFBRETHAE TR — IRt FEERER
BINBRETIRMEHIEER  T2FFNSEE
EREAULEIBE= \BHER BH=/\&E
He EAREIRHEEKEENRE - HME
B HBERETER  ETE - RAREH
R AR HEXB1I184ZET  EERKEXRAE
16.9% ° AT RIEIZEE MR - Fik - BxLER
MBI B EITOLE

Age

Fir
Between
30 and 40
30-40 5%

Between
41 and 50
41-50 5%

Over 51
5150 £

389 321 274

Categories

=5

Number of Employees

ANEHE

Management

Employment Category
SR
Technical
Staff
BREERE KitAE

9 460

General
Staff
R T

Senior

715

District

Shanghai &
Anhui Province ZHE
Zhejiang Province A=}
Jiangsu Province LA

Number of

Employees
AEBHE

1,098
76

2

8

The Company'’s relevant employment system operates well
and we have not received any cases of violations of relevant
laws and regulations in relation to employment.
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The health and safety of employees is the guarantee for the
stable operation of Riverine China. We have consistently
adhered to the principle of “safety first” and resolutely
protected and guaranteed the safety of each employee,
service provider and the customers. In operation, we strictly
abide by relevant laws and regulations in relation to
occupational health and safety including the “Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases”, “Measures for the Administration
of Occupational Health Examination”, “Administrative
Measures for Work Safety Training” and "Regulations of
Shanghai Municipality on Safe Production”. Based on relevant
laws and the specific conditions of the Company, we have
further formulated the “Manual of Occupational Health and
Safety Management” and “Employee Code of Conduct”, in
which we have implemented detailed regulations on
employees’ safety and health issues, clarified employees’
safety responsibilities, formulated emergency preparedness
and response procedures as well as prepared labour
protection articles to comprehensively reduced occupational
safety risks and provide employees with a healthy and safe
working environment.

In the “Employee Code of Conduct”, the Company expressly
stipulates that employees has the right to refuse to accept
illegitimate directions from its superior to engage in
dangerous operation, but he/she shall promptly report to
higher-level manager. In the event that there is a critical
situation that directly threatens personal safety, employee
shall immediately report to his/her superior after ensuring
safe evacuation. If employees have security questions about a
certain job, we encourage the employee to actively
communicate with his/her superior and jointly discuss
solutions, always putting safety and health first.
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In order to further improve the level of occupational health
management and reduce safety risks, the Company has
compiled the “Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment
Procedures” ( (el R AR EIE/F) ) and
“Emergency Preparedness Response Procedure” ( { FE&YEHS
ZEI2F) ) based on the “Measures of Shanghai
Municipality for the Management of Hazardous Chemicals”
((bBmEREEREEIE) ), “Identification of major
hazard installations for hazardous chemicals” ( {fEf1LE2 5
BEREBIFEYH) ) and “Catalogue of Special Equipment”
( (HF1EREB ) ), to request the implementation of
hazard sources, risk assessment, risk control, and
corresponding procedures. Besides, for the identified hazard
in the operation, we consider reducing its risk by successively
adopting elimination, replacement, engineering control,
identification warning, management control and personal
protection. We also conduct safety inspections regularly to
comprehensively check potential safety hazards and
formulate and implement rectification plans.

In order to further improve employees’ awareness of safety
operations, in accordance with the provisions of the “Manual
of Occupational Health and Safety Management” and the
"Employee Code of Conduct”, we provide comprehensive
safety trainings for each new employee and provide regular
safety trainings for other employees. In 2018, the Company
organized fire safety trainings for security guards,
management personnel, controllers and security
administrators. The key training contents include importance
of safety production, on-site safety education, fire safety,
national safety production guidelines and policies, situation
and accident education, casualties and first aid, with a total
of more than 500 trainees.

The Company regularly organized relevant security personnel
to conduct in-depth analysis and summary of internal and
external security incidents, hazard sources and response
methods, and continuously strengthen the education and
trainings of relevant personnel, in order to improve
employees’ awareness of safe operation and create a safe
working environment. For employees whose work content
involves hazard sources, the Company strictly requires
employees to hold relevant certificates, including operation
qualification certificate, professional qualification certificate
and certificate for special operations and we require that
100% of the employees from engineering positions of each
management office must be certificate holders. The Company
has also obtained the occupational health and safety
management system GB/T 28001-2001/OHSAS 18001:2007
certification.

During the reporting period, the Company suffered 3 work-
related injuries, and the total number of work days lost were
242 days. The number of work-related injuries and the
number of work days lost due to work-related injuries
decreased by 25% and 59% respectively compared with the
corresponding period of last year. The Company has not had
any fatal accident that occurred due to work relationship.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Excellent talent team is an important foundation for the
steady development of Riverine China. The Company is
committed to establishing a sound training system, actively
encouraging employees to develop their potential, integrating
internal and external resources and providing a good learning
and communication platform for employees to enhance
teamwork abilities and comprehensive quality, and lay a solid
foundation for the Company’s sustainable development.

The Company has established and implemented the
“Management Measures of Employee Training” ( { 8 T57I
EIYPHE) ), which stipulates that front-line employees who
are relevant with customer services and those who directly or
indirectly have significant impact on the environment and
have security risks should be equipped with appropriate
education, training skills and work experience to ensure that
they are competent for the job they are responsible for.
During each year, according to the Company’s strategic
requirements and the human resources department’s analysis
on the demands of employees in the Company’s business
and management departments, the Company formulated the
“Riverine Property Training Plan” ( CET¥13523)I5121) ) to
provide practical trainings and qualification trainings for
different employees to meet employees’ diversified learning
needs and improve their professional skills. In this plan,
practical trainings include trainings on practical skills including
talent nurturing training, promotion and training on safety
production, supervision and training on each branch of
property service centre, on-the-job training for new
employees, training on daily management knowledge, office
software skills improvement, customer service manner,
operation of the WeChat public accounts in e-commerce and
first-aid training in property management; while qualification
trainings include trainings on examinations for intermediate
and senior professional titles and professional engineering,
security and customer skills.

2018 Riverine Property
Training Program
2018 T EIF I &

AR

BENATEGRHITERLSERNEEE
o RRABENELRENIZIER - BiRsE
BT HEEE  BANIHER  RETRMHR
HBEEIRFE  REFFERENEES R
B ARRNAIREERETRENEL

ARRRIWEMCE TIFINERIVE) - HP i
E T RBEERBHEMMATRE TMEIRRELS

TENAAERERBNERIERABRAR
HEENHE - B R TEER - BREBE
FIEEN T - 8—FE REAJFRMNKEER
Ko UARADNERBHRBEERE  TEER
BTWHERDHN - ARRASECHIYEFIE
g mYHTRE TREEHKZIMNEEEZI
MEBTIZHANEBHLR BB THEXRK
e BEA - ERIFIINTEREER BB L2
TESTE LTI WERBEF LB GREE SR
A - FrEE T ARSI - BREEMBFHI
WREFBER IR - BEREEE  ETH
B IE R RSRAIRIE - MEBIEP RS
MBI FEFREEIAR - MEFHINEER
EPEABRANTE  REMEPNERKRE
ZRsEl

Practical trainings
L2

Qualification
trainings
Z il
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The Company highly values training management, strictly
assesses attendance rate of employees, supervises the
training process, and conducts assessments after completion
of learning projects to integrate performance of the trainee
in the later period for appraisal of overall learning results, so
that the training outcomes can be guaranteed. At the same
time, the training assessment results will be kept in the
learning and development files of the employee as a
reference basis for human resources related activities such as
job mobilization, rank adjustment and performance
evaluation.

Statistics on
training in total

M2 BEr

Staff training by rank BRELKESHNEITZI
Senior management SRERE

General staff TmBa

Technical staff Bt AB

Staff training by gender BMERESWEITZH
Female g

Male B

RS- HERERBE

ARAFSEERBIEETIE  BREZRETLH
FR - BEFRIEE ERBHRALERRARE
ZRHE - BAXII B TR TIERAETERS
BRRETE - WRBBIIR - Rl JilE&
BRBRFEERIERT  EAEBUAD - B
MBE - ERERZANREHNSERKE -

No. of Training
participants Percentage hours (Hour)
FZIANR Bott FIERGE (M)

27 1.7% 192

1,983 70.2% 8,000

1,150 28.1% 3,200

1,200 40% 4,557

1,960 60% 6,835

Opening Ceremony of “Pujiang Project Manager
Training Course”

“Pujiang Academy” is a property management professional
training institution established by Pujiang Property. It aims to
cultivate various management talents who are interested in
the long-term development in the property industry, have
expectations for their careers, and are willing to grow
together with the company. The “Pujiang Project Manager
Training Course” is the first phase of the training course in
Pujiang Academy. It aims to improve the management skills
and individual integrated capabilities of Pujiang’s existing
project managers; to reserve the project manager talents for
Pujiang Development and meet the needs of managers in the
company'’s business development. The major targets of the
training are the existing project managers, project deputy
managers, project manager assistants and other personnel
who are willing to become “project managers”.

DR TIERKEIZTI | BHRER

DETEER | RBIMEAMRNMEEIEF RS
I SEEEEEEMRTRTRIER
LHEFBESERYN  REQFHEKENER
BIEAT - DHIERKLEIEII ERBITLE
PrEn s —FEERIFIIRRIE - EERIDEIEA R
RGEFEREE AARAERYE  ABIEEREM
BERLEAT  MEAREBHRYEEAR
MK - REBEIHRBRETERLE - HE
Bl - EREEENBBREKS [ ERERE]
MEMBAE -

LA BEZERER AR
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Meanwhile, focusing on the course setting of the project
manager training course, Company’s management personnel
at all levels have contributed to seven modules including
corporate culture, professional management, asset
management, management improvement, skill improvement,
professional improvement, and information consultation. The
teaching contents involved includes a series of courses
independently developed by the Company, a course
developed by the property industry association (¥1317% 1%
&), a series of training materials for the national property
management division, a modern and innovative technology
property intelligent management course, and certain BOMA
(Building Owners and Managers Association) training courses.

Secondly, in order to better enrich the training contents and
training effects, the training course adopted the “five-in-one”
training method, which includes classroom face-to-face
discussions, online self-learning interaction, demonstration
on-site teaching, apprenticeship, practical skills simulation; at
the same time, the introduction of the “credit system” serves
as the basis for the final assessment of the students, making
learning more targeted, more efficient and more humane.

According to the current number of project managers in Riverine
and the prospective project manager training staff, it is expected
that three training classes will be opened; the first phase lasts
about 4 months and involves 26 compulsory courses.

We firmly believe that a new and redefined journey will begin
due to the establishment of Pujiang Academy. The students
who come to study will be benefitted for their whole life
through this training. It will also become the cradle for
enterprises to cultivate various management talents and a
practical base for nurturing talents with extraordinary
leadership, which enables us to bring about a win-win
situation for Pujiang Property in the future.

A - SFE I RBERCEBIINRERE - 2
AIEMEBABRGEXL HEXEE BEE
B BERE  ReeRA  FEREA - AFAHESN
SHEBEAETRA - FRNHBRATNEED
FEFTMENRINRE  WETERGHENR
B REREEZEMEEIEMAIFNHM - ]
RIFRBEYESESEETERRE - UK HBOMA
(Building Owners and Managers Association) 53|

RIE ©

HR - RTEHFNEEHIAE KIFIRR - bt
RIBFIBIERE T [RfIT—88 ] eiEgln = - 8
RREAKTR  RLE2EH  TEHRSH
2 FMEHER  BREEEER AR 3A
[BoH ] ERBERERERNEKE  RE2EFE
Bt - EARERMBE A -

WHIABEREEABMEERKEESTASR
TR - FEEH SRR EEIIIIA  EHERQ4
EA - FRIMERIZ 266

HPIRE - BT 2R R R —REHNE
EOEFH IR FIRSENSMEEBBILRIT
FHREZe  ERHRAEEBERZTREEA

THRE KABRAEHENEENATHER
i BERM—EABIYROFRHAIME R -
HBARKE |
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BEER
LB RE  SHER  EXREMI

Career development

Riverine China gives promotion to young people with talent
and integrity, outstanding performance in a professional way Bk ABERIFEFTAS FTIAEFA#E - BAETS
or with special skills by providing them with various means FHEH TEREZF - NEPEHEE LA K& [ B AR 3
such as gradual promotion, internal transfer and Z®E KA EL&] B[ X]HEANH
“discretionary promotion” based on the combination of #AFEIHDAEEZM o BN BFI5E [
“vertical” and “crisscross” promotion to foster staff &L EBET|WRE  HRTEBETIIENE
development. In addition, we adhere to the principle of TIREPREIEIE > TORBHNWEIERENAF
“flexible promotion and demotion” so that demotion ERIF

measures are in place for the staff who are not sufficiently

competent to perform their duties, by which, fair staff

development without any bias can be fully demonstrated.

"Vertical” and
“Crisscross” Promotion

“Discretionary

Gradual Promotion Internal Transfer

BRET

The Company encourages
young employees at all
levels to continuously
improve their professional
skills in their respective
positions, and to make
achievements in their
professional fields. The
Company gives employees
promotion after recogniz-
ing the year-end perfor-
mance evaluation
NABEERFEETH
=8 TIEmA E T EEF
EABEER G THEH
R AN EFR
BREHERGRAE - A
AETEIEH

AR

® |n order to establish an

internal talent competi-
tion mechanism, optimize
human resource
allocation, and motivate
employees to enterprising
spirit, the Company
establishes an internal
competitive recruitment
mechanism. When there
is a vacancy in the
company's internal
management positions, it
first conducts an internal
selection and recruit-
ment, providing
unimpeded promotion
space for employees at all
levels;

RRESIAEAT R
CBIEADEREE A
B TERUEE - DAR
T REPE IS - E IR
DA R BDE IR e (i 2 R A
C REITNERERE - K
?Xﬁéélﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ%

Promotion”

[EAE IR IR

e For those who make

outstanding contributions
to the Company or have
special talents, they may
be nominated by the
human resources
department of the
company for promotion,
and is subject to the
approval of the general
manager.
WRBHEHRHER A
BH®RABE  KRFAD
BRE RS - IR
18 T LABRAR AR

(Bl ®
[RX ] &H

* According to the

employee's career
development plan,
employees can be
promoted according to the
career structure, or it can
be adjusted to other career
structures as the staff's
ability develops;

BIERTHECERRES
B AR R E T
oA ABEE B T )
FRMAREE Y E
SET
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Employee Communication ETER

Riverine China promotes good, harmonious and simple JEIHRBEIRERLT « A4 * MEMARBE @
human relationships and is committed to establishing a 2 [EEET — BrRB=] 24 - 12153
system of “Happy Riverine — Sunshine Lighting”, and  ABEAF « {AAREA ZEHEHAAERESE -
advocating a candid communication and cooperation AT{E#ETHATEENSIBEAESR
between individual and company, individual and individual. In {928 Ti2H T T2 iE&@EE -

order to facilitate more efficient and smooth communication

between employees and company, we provide the following

communication channels for our employees:

e Managers welcome employees to directly present their ideas and

_ : questions with an open mind. Managers are also required to
Open door pOI |Cy actively follow the thoughts and emotions of subordinates.
P8 BF R AR o HRABUPIRAEEEDE THER AR ARnEREE

AB ST T BROEEFNBLE

e The Company advocates managers to attentively listen to the team’s
opinions through work discussions and meetings when setting an

Worki ng meeting objective so as to co-share the vision.
Iﬂz%% o (EETRECHTEEENFFERBAIETHISREEEFRNER -

KRADZHES -

e Under the circumstances of new employee regularization, employee salary
adjustment or job change, making a job evaluation, career development
plan and employee resignation, superior leaders will conduct an interview
with the employee to understand the situation and listen to his/her opinions.

Job interview

I'ﬂEE E& o HMETHIF ST HFFakEMES  ET TR  BEHERE
%ig%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ%%%%? C EAREEEGE S THETTER - BRIER -

e The basic function of employee committee is to participate, communicate

H and supervise. Any employee can make his/her opinion and ideas heard
Employee committee by reporting to the committee.
BITZES * BIZREHEAREREN HA EE - URATAERMEL.
o] Afg B =& °

e The Company consults its employees on the business and management of
the Company through a regular anonymous opinion survey to understand
the overall satisfaction of employees with our working environment.

o ARRBATHNNLEERFEME THREAREY - E2ETHE

IER  BRETHIIERENERRERE -
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GREEN PROPERTY

Riverine China has always been advocating green property
development within or outside the Company. We strive to
integrate the concepts of sustainable development, including
energy conservation and environmental protection, into the
property projects managed by the Company in order to
transfer from traditional property management model to
sustainable and an integrated management model. As a
leading high-end integrated property management company
in the PRC, we actively promote green property management
and committed to putting energy saving and consumption
reduction into practice to the largest extent together with our
customers such as property owners and tenants so as to
create a good living environment, support economic growth
and develop a friendly relationship with the natural
environment.

It is important for the Company, as a market player of property
management business, to comply with applicable laws and
regulations in order to practice green management. During the
reporting period, we strictly complied with the relevant laws
and regulations, including Regulation on Realty Management,
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Solid Waste Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China and Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China. Also we
promptly updated our management measures for
environmental protection and were certified with the 1SO
14001 Environmental Management System.

ISRV LI Y

N

TR O T 4k AR AE #

e e D N

L5 4 AT L2
R LA 3

e\ NS R i Ul IS ) 2 e I S
=7

166 R T i s
:i e e ¢
o SR ISRV R UV AV RIS A

RE - HERERESE
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L BB KRB RAERD « IMERTT °
ARBIENFRAERBERBAERDL - RER
EEZARBERES  BINEGYERERERN
BRAAFENGEEERN - (EFRE2EBENS
mREMEEELE  HWPANEDRENEE
B BFRE HPFRPEAREMEIRALE
it SERHFMARRE  WHERKEER
85 ARRIRAY R AFAHEE

FEMETIRITE  BTERNERERREARA
AIETHEMESEMNEEAIE - RRESHA
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MBUIRIRIREER) (P EAR MBS LA
EY (R E AR LT EEEEY S RRE A
EY (R EARLMBESOER L) SHEER
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WEUS TIRIZREEEE KIS0 14001 333% ©

“Environmental Management
System Certification”
[REEERATE]
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To identify the environmental factors which can control and
exert an influence on the environment in the operating
activities and service processes of the Company, we have
established the “Procedures for Management of
Environmental Factors ( ((RIZEAXEIEREF) )", which
specifies duties of each department and regulates the
procedure for environmental factors management so as to
control the significant environmental risk factors of the
Company and provides the basis for the formulation of
environmental guidelines, environmental objectives.

BTHEBIRRARELTES - RIGBETHRE
ESE ﬁfFﬁ@iT@&%l%%fﬁ%$> P HAEY
FET S EPIMTIERE - R TR EMIRER
REERRF - WEZEHIAQANERREERF
= REIERRTHMBRREE T ERKE -

Procedures for Management of Environmental Factors

RERREERF

Person in charge/
Department in charge

BEAEEEM MIZAN 2

Quality and Risk Identifying environmental
Management Department factors
BEREH RIEA RS

!

Quality and Risk

Management Department factors
EERER REREZEE

!

Integrated Management
Department

A aims / targets
reEE

!

Outline of procedures

Evaluating environmental

Formulating environmental

HIERS B R 18R

Relevant document/
forms

X R

“Research and Evaluation
Sheet for Environmental
Factors”

CREAZAS KT
Bx)

“List of Significant
Environmental Factors”

(BEERRRARFE)

“Aims and Management
Solution”

(BEEMEETR)

“Research and Evaluation

Quality and Risk
Management Department

Recognition and update
of environmental factors

Sheet for Environmental

HEE S0 and significant ~ Factors”, "List of
environmental factors Significant Environmental
IRIFARMEZIRR Factors"
FSESTERYSER GEERZAELTHEER)

|

Quality and Risk
Management Department

BERER

control
EEIRIFZEG

In addition to identifying environmental factors, we also
formulate Contingency Plans for Environmental Pollution,
Contingency Plans for Leakage of Dangerous Chemicals, and
Contingency Plans for Leakage of Toxic Gas, which clarify the
procedure for contingency plan and the major responsibility
of emergency rescue team and enhance the management of
emergency work for contingent environmental pollution
incident. As such, the occurrence of contingent
environmental pollution incident and the loss resulting from
it can be prevented and minimized to the greatest extent.
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Conservation of Resources and Energy

Avoiding any dripping and leakage, and preventing tap
from keeping running and lights from keeping on as
well as improper utilization of resources

Frequently cleaning air-conditioner filter to maintain
indoor air quality

Adopting non-paper record for patrol inspection
Setting up the upper and lower temperature limits for
exhibition hall

Monitoring and analyzing energy and water
consumption each month

Monitoring the optimized set up of energy facilities
Setting escalator at idle mode

Reusing rainwater

Disposal of waste

Recycling wasted materials from exhibition hall
Recycling wasted battery and ink cartridge

Recycling wasted fluorescent tube

Dredging with bag and completing cleaning process on
the same day

Cleaning machine room floor with

condensate water

[ F AR < RKITIR A |

Reusing wasted wood from exhibition

[ B BREREREAM]
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R - gEREA

HBERRR B ERIRK - RAE Rk
RIEIRR

Mima iR A
REREEREHE L TR

FAERAEDRER « AEREBR
EREEREBENREREBR

BEKBRBEFEER
R7KEF A

BRYEE

Escalator at idle mode

[ B BB EEA ]

(=] 45 1 A & B RE ZE A R
EEREL - 22
(o] 45 R 2 2 e K

BRRENR  ERFETE

Cleaning air-conditioner filter
Bz AR

Rainwater harvesting for reuse

[FE7K = YA A
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Adhering to our objective of “Caring for the Earth, Protecting
the Environment and Maintaining Sustainable Development”,
we strictly implemented environmental protection regulations
and policies, strived to enhance employees’ awareness of
sustainable development and shifted the development
direction of all of our properties to sustainable development.
During our daily property management, we implement our
environment protection principle through environmental
education, resource and energy saving and waste
management.

During our daily operation, we organize staff training to
foster the awareness of protecting the Earth, promote
environmental protection activities and sharpen their sense of
environmental social responsibility, “awakening passion for
work, starting from daily routine”. During the reporting
period, we commenced and organized a charity activity for
the promotion of environmental protection regulations,
namely “Caring for the Earth Starting from Me".

Saving energy and natural resources is an important part of
our social responsibility. All staff is requested to observe the
Resources and Energy Management Requirements formulated
by the Company, as well as reasonably utilize major energy
and resources and manage and control the consumption. The
Company works together with the staff to prevent wastage
and protect environment with a clear goal to reduce the
Company's operating costs.

Saving Water: We adopt the principles of using water as
necessary and frequently cleaning with a small amount of
water. Depending on weather condition, we reasonably
arrange watering to prevent wastage. Meanwhile, the slogan,
“Save water by turning off the tap”, is posted next to taps in
all washrooms, which are supervised and managed by
administrative staff. If malfunction in water equipment is
identified, staff needs to promptly report to administration or
maintenance departments for further action. As the business
the Company involves a small amount of water consumption,
and water that we use in office comes from the municipal
pipe network, we have no difficulties in seeking water source.
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Saving Electricity: We request the staff to turn off the lights
when leaving. The last one leaving office shall check and
make sure all lights are turned off. Other electric device shall
be switched off immediately after use to avoid idling of
machines. In summer, staff is allowed to turn on the air-
conditioner only if the outdoor temperature is above 30
degree Celsius, and the temperature shall be set above 26
degree Celsius. In winter, staff is allowed to turn on the air-
conditioner only if the outdoor temperature is below 0
degree Celsius, and the temperature shall be set below 20
degree Celsius. While purchasing new equipment,
procurement department shall consider energy saving
equipment first. Equipment management department
regularly maintains equipment and system, including
equipment and devices and air-conditioners. With a series of
measures, energy consumption reduces, so does the emission
of greenhouse gas resulting from energy consumption.

Reasonable Utilization of Vehicles: We formulate Regulations
for Motor Vehicle Management, establish comprehensive
vehicle management working system to scientifically manage
business vehicle, strictly insist on energy saving and highly
efficient vehicle management principle, increase utilization
rate and serviceability rate of vehicle and promptly carry out
maintenance for vehicle, which helps reduce gasoline
consumption as well as the emission of air pollutants and
greenhouse gas.

Saving Office Supplies: We encourage staff to adopt duplex
printing so far as practicable. Each department shall apply for
paper according to their actual demand and distribution and
usage of paper shall be supervised by administrative staff.
Besides, all used office supplies such as ballpoint pen refill,
battery, toner cartridge and ink cartridge shall be returned to
administrative staff for collection and replacement.

RE - HERERESE
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During the reporting period, we kept statistics on the RAARMEE - HFIGH T AR REERER REE
Company’s environmental performance index in respect of WA ERRBLE
resources consumption and emission':

Resources consumption

EREAE

Water consumption 1,178 tons

FEKE 1,178 WA

Water density 1.19 tons/square meter?
FEREE 1.19 B/~ 75 K2
Electricity consumption 32,400 Kwh

HEE 32,400 T E B
Electricity density 32.64 Kwh/square meter
REZE 32.64 TEB 5%
Gasoline consumption 9,545.95 KG

FUmAE 9,545.95 A Ft
Gasoline density 1,590.99 KG/vehicle?
Fomm = 1,590.99 AF, =3
Paper usage 400 KG

INEES 400 F52

Paper density 6.67 KG/person*
FEREE 6.67 T3, A*
Emission of greenhouse gas

BERBHHE

Emission from vehicle (Scope 1) 22.14 tons
TR (M 1) 22.14 B

Emission from electricity consumption (Scope 2)° 22.79 tons
BHEAHRE (HE2)C 22.79 AW

Total greenhouse gas emission 44.93 tons
HRERBYME 44.93 AWE

Total greenhouse gas emission density 0.75 tons/person
BREREHNEE 0.75 XME,/ A
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Emission of pollutants from vehicle’

BERERSRUHERE

Carbon Monoxide (CO) emission 236.47 KG
—SE{CHR(CO)BEME 236.47 T3
Nitrogen Oxide (NO,) emission 21.19KG
REY) (NOY HERLE 2119 F 7%
Sulfur Oxides (SO,) emission 1.08 KG
WAL (SO BEE 1.08 5%
Particulate matter (PM,s) emission 0.43 KG
FERLY) (PM, ) ETRE 043 T7
Particulate matter (PM;,) emission 0.47 KG
FERY) (PM ) BETRE 0.47 T
! Environmental performance index includes the Company’s Shanghai RIBEUREBEEEARAMN EENRHRAE
head office
2 The Company's Shanghai head office at Jiushi Tower has an area of 2 ARNR EBBEBIRAETUNAETRNE  BAEES
992.73 square meter 992.73F 5K
3 There are 6 vehicles in the Company’s Shanghai head office 3 KRR EBBITRAEHXEBRMMPAER
4 There are 60 employees the Company’s Shanghai head office 4 AAR LBEBHAERF0RET

5 The figure of emission of greenhouse gas (Scope 1) is calculated with 5 BERE(BE ) ERBBENTE R EZ2EREAR
reference to the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting of HABERIBREIL R HN(E L RER AT RE
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land-based Transportation Enterprises B E A AR EEE (R17)

(Trial) published by the National Development and Reform Commission
of the People’s Republic of China

The figure of emission of greenhouse gas (Scope 2) is calculated with
reference to the 2011 and 2012 PRC's Regional Grid Average Carbon
Dioxide Emission Factor published by National Development and
Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of China

The figure of emission of air pollutants is calculated with reference to
Technical Guide for Air Pollutant Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles
(Trial) published by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the
People’s Republic of China

BERE(BE D) BEREENTERFEA2ZEREAR
HENBEEREEMNEEESHMHECQ011 2012
¢¢@lﬁﬁ?€%’q:§1tﬁﬁ}#m%>

RSRMABERBIBNFTENEZEEFEAR
ﬂ] BIBRRRAE R E A CER BB B RS BRER
ﬁﬁaﬁ(*tﬁ»
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To maintain ecological balance and mitigate the impact of
waste on surrounding ecological habitat, we formulate the
Requlations for Solid Waste Management in accordance with
the Law of the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste of the People’s Republic of China,
National Catalog of Hazardous Waste and Procedures of
Shanghai Municipality on the Prevention and Control of
Pollution by Hazardous Waste, which effectively regulate,
manage and control the disposal of solid waste produced
from operation activities in office, production and
transportation process as well as inventory.

General waste® mainly includes wasted packaging materials,
equipment components and construction materials. The
Company strictly requires to concentrated collect, categorize,
label and manage the waste from production. Engineering
staff is responsible for collecting and storing the waste at a
designated collection point where fire service equipment
must be installed and waste in different categories shall not
be kept together. Collection point shall have conspicuous
label and safety label or indoor fence to prevent leak out and
leakage. Local environmental hygiene management bureau is
entrusted to collect and dispose of our office waste, which
makes sure transfer of pollutants occurs in no way.

Hazardous wastes mainly includes toxic solvent and coating
wastes, and those wasted batteries, wasted lamp tubes and
wasted ink cartridges disposed during business operations.
Storage means, containers and the locations specific to
hazardous wastes are well in place with labels specifying
signs of danger pursuant to the relevant safety requirements.
For those hazardous wastes which have greater impact to the
environment, the Company has engaged the enterprises and
entities with environmental qualifications to process with
waste recycling without causing the pollutants to be
transferred.

In addition to regulative management of waste, the Company
arranges the manager of property management office to
check whether the storage of waste in different categories
complies with environmental protection requirements; if not,
prompt rectification would be made.

8 Given our business nature, no packaging materials were used during
the reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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During the reporting period, we kept statistics on the AL - HFFEH T AL 7J:i B NE
Company’s environmental performance index in respect of  FEREZEWHEN T BRIRIBER
disposal of waste:

Solid waste generation

EERRVWELE

Non-hazardous Waste

EBEBREY

Wasted paper 200 KG

BREMRELS 200 T

Wasted paper density 3.33 KG/person

BEEMEREEDE 333 F% A

Office waste 210 tons

WMABREES 210 I#

Office waste density 3.5 tons/person

WANREERE 3.5 8, A

Hazardous Waste

BEBED

Wasted ink cartridge 12 units

BREERZELE 12 1@

Wasted ink cartridge density 0.20 units/person

BEERAE4ATE 0.20 1@,/ A

Wasted fluorescent tube 12 units

BEACBEELE 12 %

Wasted fluorescent tube density 0.20 units/person

BEAABEEERE 0.20 32,/ A

Wasted battery 60 units

BEEMELS 60 1@

Wasted battery density 1 units/person
BMELTE 118,/ A
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AR E

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Riverine China always pays attention to the collaboration
with the community. With the idea of “When you drink
water, think of its source”, we actively take our corporate
social responsibility. By virtue of our own corporate resources
and advantage, we have involved heavily in caring for
children, caring for the elderly, charitable donations,
volunteer activities and promotion of healthy lifestyle in the
community, aiming to promote the harmonious co-prosperity
and sustainable development between enterprises and our
society.

R #HE8RE

Riverine China always acts as an advocate of social welfare
activities. With our own resources advantage, during the
reporting period, we not only held a series of summer camps
and parent-child activities to care for children’s growth, but
also organized volunteers to participate in caring for the
elderly aiming to make the elderly feel cared by way of our
practical actions. Also, we participated in traffic control
volunteering and hygiene volunteering to contribute to our
community. In addition, we are very devoted in social charity
activities, and make donations to the poverty regions for
assistance every year.

Uniting the strength of Riverine, helping 12 children
suffering from congenital heart defect in Guoluo,
Qinghai to have surgery in Shanghai

Riverine China took up the responsibility for the poverty
fighting project to help children suffering from congenital
heart defect in Guoluo, Qinghai to have surgery in Shanghai.
Numerous project coordination meetings were organized
with Huangpu branch of Shanghai Charity Foundation and
Children’s Hospital of Shanghai to confirm the details of the
work and task involved in arranging children patients to
receive surgery in Shanghai. We payed serious attention to
every particular, from booking air ticket to arranging shuttle
service, clothes, meals and accommodation.

With the exquisite skills of the cardiothoracic experts in
Children’s Hospital of Shanghai and the efforts of all parties,
5 children received successful surgery in Shanghai. Among 5
Tibetan children, the youngest one was 10-month-old and
the oldest was only 9-year-old. Such medical assistance
indeed gave them new lives. Soon, those children will recover
and regain health to start a new journey in life.

62 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

HERE

AL B AR BT A R E - FUKEIR - 18
BEIBAELCEHEREME - WAMNALEESE
REBY  ERERE HIEZA BEEY-
HEEEE  BELEHERLISTHEREERIR
A BARMEE B EMNE & RO GE AT 548
R -

LA B — EMXT’E%EIE“A%@JH’JF*T?’EEU
o OBEEONEREY  EAREHAERT

—RINESE %E?/E@J?Wﬂ CRERE B4
BTE J?E%/ BEEAEENES - BITEEEAM
REIER: PRETREBERE  HEEEE

EBEIEEALE o Ah - TP Ea/ﬂi;\?g%iﬁ
g BEEYERNMEELIFE  KFEERM
& o

BERIZN  RE12EEERRE LB R
EF i

LR BEREEDFERSERIEORREE K
BFMHRERR BT AEES SRR
DENR BT RERBRERAM T ZRIAR W
HE o FERART MR R A SR TR AER

WBERERIREER  BIXRERE -
T%EEﬁ%BT\ESZi@

%ﬂi#m%ﬁﬂ&mﬁﬁﬂmﬁ%miﬁ m
METNHRRL N - KERFEHS BB RES
&A1l - A PIg/ RO A 10MELA - ?ﬁmmm
BIR WRKENSZBROR/BERE @ &
ﬁ%?%ﬁﬁ#@ﬁmiiﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁi T
B ZF IR IREREE - R AIA LR IRE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RS- HERERBE
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Sincerely grateful to your generous contributions

Riverine China will continue to actively engage in State’s
poverty alleviation, accurately tackle the issues and support
the poverty alleviation work in Golog in order to do its part
to the fight for poverty alleviation.

Arranging Volunteer in Spring Festival

On the Chinese New Year Day and the 2nd Day of the
Chinese New Year, Riverine China organized staff to
participate in volunteer work at the volunteer station on
Nanjing East Road, the busiest area of the town center, to
provide consultancy service to local and foreign tourists.
Learning from Lei Feng, volunteers put the concept into
practice and gave up their Spring Festival holiday to
voluntarily serve the public. Their selfless contribution was
highly commendable.

WIRBEREEERS BERKEER - BER
BES > PERFKEFEE  RERBEREN
BRI BIEER -

BEHERE
BRERFYN— 9= B IPEAZE T2 0
UK R [ T S B R R B SRR B A AT - B2k B
BIASN B R A IRTS - SRREPIREER
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In 2018, there were in total 930 volunteers from Riverine 20184 « SEIHEEMH AR E BT EEE
China in social welfare, the accumulated service hours were A 930 AKX » 25HARKS 3,760/ 0 - 57
3,760 and donations amounted to RMB287,000. SEEINARK287ETT °

Riverine China have been actively participating in and holding —E K » B I EEM [E P FEGR2E KBS
activities to promote healthy lifestyle. With a series of sports A BINMEEAENEE - WiBiB— It E
event in the community, the connection between the BEEFEEFRIEBEAAHHRNOEE @ EEHERE
Company and the community have strengthened, as well as  FEZ % - it BB -

the public’s awareness of health within the community and

community cohesion.

Friendly football match with construction entities,
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
AR EBREVHRRTRITERAEE

Riverine China’s athletes
joined the “1st August Military-
Civilian Long-distance Running”

MHIRRSEIN-|ERRE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE®RES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao H EiE 4
Chairman &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Riverine China
Holdings Limited together with its subsidiaries, | would like to
present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

ANNUAL REVIEW

Looking back at the year of 2018, while stabilizing the
foundation and improving internal management of the
Company, the Group has carried out a series of strategic
layouts on the core competitiveness of asset management,
industrial services, professional services and intelligent
services to accelerate the research and development of
information technology systems and enhance the quality of
service provided to customers and users of the properties

BHHIR

AARBRKBTIHREIERERARESS KER
ENBRARMARREANEBEZ2018F 12 A 31
BIEFENFEERSE -

FEOIRE

CIEE2018 5 - REBAERBARER 2R
MEEMNRE  EEEES  EXRS  BER
BRI B LIRS DB 1) BT T — &I
BEHE - MREAMKRSGHENE - BIE
EMEEFREMRENRBEMRE  RWEBEK
Eimat B AMEEENRHERER K
ARAE ¢ PSR EIBMAA BRER - BRESZ AL
NENEBIR  YRARAH  WE - RE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERES

under its management; strengthened the development of the
Internet of Things and cloud computing to deepen the
operation and maintenance of technology management and
relevant services in property management; and enhanced
management and strengthened the establishment of talent
group, along with recruiting more talents to cope with
business development and laying a good foundation for
strategic business expansion of the Company such as
mergers, acquisitions, investments, joint ventures and
business cooperation. Although earnings have dropped due
to the significant increase of research and development
expenses and staff costs during the reporting period, the
Group was confident about its future development prospects
and profitability following the further implementation of the
plan.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s total
revenue was approximately RMB392.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately 8.0% from RMB363.3 million
for the previous year. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
net profit was approximately RMB26.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 27.4% from RMB36.2 million for
the previous year.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to provide quality
property management services as well as value-added services
targeting the commercial interests of customers. The Group
plans to grow its business efficiently and strategically through
acquisitions and mergers, investments, joint ventures and
business collaboration. Meanwhile, the Group will expand its
business vertically along the industry chain and the supply
chain of the property management industry. In addition, the
Group will continue to develop its information technology
system as well as to enhance its service quality for the
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customers and users of the properties under its management.
Last but not least, the Group will continue to streamline and
standardise its property management services in order to
elevate its service quality and consistency when optimizing its
cost efficiency. With the in-depth strength of the Group in
capturing market opportunities, its well-established brand
name in the industry and the strong growth potential in the
property management industry, it is believed that the Group’s
business will continue to grow thereby further driving the
growth of its market share and profits.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude
on behalf of the Board to the shareholders, business partners,
customers and suppliers for their great support and trust. |
would also like to express my appreciation to the
management and all the staff for their contributions and
efforts during the past year.

Xiao Xingtao
Chairman
27 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The urbanization development of the PRC has been gradually
accelerating since 1980s with urbanization rate increasing
from only 19.4% in 1980 to 59.6% in 2018. Improved
urbanization has led to an increased demand for residential
and other property projects, resulting in an increased demand
for property management services. According to the National
New Urbanisation Plan (BIZ ¥ 8. 5 $R 1L 7 8l) (2014-2020)
published in March 2014, the urbanization rate of permanent
resident population is expected to reach 60% by 2020. The
PRC property industry and property management industry
will continue to develop in tandem with rising urbanization.

The fast-growing economy in the PRC has spurred continuous
growth in annual disposable income per urban capita.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China’s
preliminary calculation, the annual disposable income per
urban capita increased from RMB36,396 in 2017 to
RMB39,251 in 2018. The increasing demand for better living
conditions is another reason for the growth of property
management industry.

In line with the economic growth and urbanization of the
PRC, there will be increasing supply of public properties such
as museums, arenas and stadiums to cater for the increasing
demand from city dwellers of the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group, through its subsidiaries and investments in
associated companies, provide a wide range of property
management services and valued-added services to a variety
of properties in the PRC, a majority of which are in Shanghai.
A few properties managed by the Group are located in
Anhui, Zhejiang, Jiangshu, Hubei and Hunan Provinces.
During the Period, the Group through its subsidiaries and
investments in associated companies had entered into 400
property management agreements for the provision of
various kinds of property management services for the
properties in the PRC, representing an increase of 25.8% as
compared to 318 property management agreements in the
previous year.

During the Period, approximately 90.6% of total revenue was
generated from provision of property management services
to non-residential properties whereas the remaining 9.4%
was generated from residential properties and other services.
Hence, the Group’s property management services have been
and will continue to be strategically focused on non-
residential properties in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Period, the revenue was generated from the
provision of property management services. Property
management services comprise (i) engineering, repair and
maintenance services, (i) customer services, (iii) security
services, and (iv) cleaning and gardening services.
Approximately 98.9% of the revenue during the Period were
generated from the provision of property management
services on a lump sum basis. As to the lump sum basis, the
customers pay a lump sum service fee for the management
services and the Group bear all the costs and expenses
involved in the management of a property or facility.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues from
providing property management services by type of managed
properties for the year indicated.

BEBNWR DN

BN W EREMEEBRGHRBEAE -
WMEREERB RN - BB RRERS (i)
BEPRF ¢ (iRZRT © R(v)iE R R EZRS
HI - s 4098.9% AR B IAB & H £ HEFTIE
HOMEEERY - ENEHG - BPAEER
BRAXEEXN—EEHREE - MAKERIA
Y SRR B EY B IR BT S I B — H B AR K B
%o

TREIIRATFEEEMFRBELE DR B RMH
YR E IR MRS R W R AR AN -

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEE

2018 2017
2018 2017 4
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
L G482
Wz Aot e B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®ET T
Lump sum basis: B
Fees related to revenue-bearing st EUWREEEE
GFA HEZER
Public properties NS 103,130 26.3% 84,355 23.2%
Office buildings and hotels PMARE OB E 153,216 39.1% 141,760 39.0%
Commercial establishments [EES ST 27,140 6.9% 23,865 6.6%
Government properties BT % 12,458 3.2% 12,138 3.3%
Residential properties EEME 35,820 9.1% 32,272 8.9%
Subtotal /INEF 331,764 84.6% 294,390 81.0%
Fees related to non-revenue et B W RERE
bearing GFA HE 2 &
Residential properties EFEWHE 1,265 0.3% 511 0.1%
Non-residential properties EEEYE 55,111 14.0% 63,788 17.6%
56,376 14.3% 64,299 17.7%
Total of lump sum basis B EEE 388,140 98.9% 358,689 98.7%
Fixed remuneration basis B <
Non-residential properties EEEMEHE 4,118 1.1% 4,614 1.3%
Total of fixed remuneration basis B4 #|42%8 4,118 1.1% 4,614 1.3%

Total M=t

392,258 100.0% 363,303 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue-bearing T~NXREFFIRFIRFEMEALU S AEFEETE
GFA under the management of the Group by type of UzSEEMEERIAM :

properties for the year indicated.

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F

GFA % of total GFA % of total
EFCEe (SFEE
EEEE bl  EEEE TS Bk

‘000 sq.m. ‘000 sqg.m.

FF 5K T oK
Public properties NRYE 1,837 33.7% 1,530 31.2%
Office buildings and hotels WAKERBIE 1,403 25.7% 1,495 30.4%
Commercial establishments [HEZ 3N 554 10.2% 452 9.2%
Government properties [5G EZES 67 1.2% 59 1.2%
Residential properties FEWE 1,591 29.2% 1,373 28.0%
Total st 5,452 100.0% 4,909 100.0%

The table below sets forth a breakdown of management fee  RTREHF NI REEIRYEBEIE HAREBEIE
per sq.m. of revenue-bearing GFA under the management of gt & EAEmBEE T T KSE SR -
the Group by type of properties for the year indicated.

For the year ended
31 December

BZ1R2 A BLEE

2017
2017 &
RMB
ARHE

Average monthly fee per GFA SEFEAB(EAK)FEHURE

(sgq.m.)

Public properties NRME 4.7 4.6
Office buildings and hotels MARKIEROBTE 9.1 7.9
Commercial establishments [EEI =N 4.1 4.4
Government properties IEg/sg7ES 15.4 11.1
Residential properties T 1.9 2.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Period, the average monthly fee per GFA is
relatively higher for offices buildings and hotels, government
properties and public properties. Thus, the higher the ratio of
office buildings and hotels, government properties and public
properties under management, the higher average monthly
fee per GFA will be. The total GFA of the managed residential
properties increased by approximately 15.9% to
approximately 1,591,000 sq.m. for the year ended 31
December 2018 from approximately 1,373,000 sg.m. for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The average monthly fee per
GFA of residential properties decreased by approximately 5%
to approximately RMB1.9 per sq.m. for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMB2.0 per sq.m. for the year ended
31 December 2017.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group employed 1,184 employees and dispatched staff
as of 31 December 2018. The Group also subcontracted part
of the labour intensive work, such as security, cleaning and
gardening services and certain specialized engineering repairs
and maintenance works to sub-contractors. The employment
contracts either have no fixed terms, or if there are fixed
terms, the terms are generally up to three years, after which
the Group evaluate renewals based on performance
appraisals. All of the full-time employees are paid a fixed
salary and may be grant other allowances, based on their
positions. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also be
awarded to employees based on the employee’s
performance. The Group conduct regular performance
appraisals to ensure that the employees receive feedback on
their performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

PROSPECTS

The Group believes that the Listing on the Main board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 December 2017 will greatly benefit
our Group taking into account (i) that the proceeds from the
Listing will enable our Group to grasp the business
opportunities arising from (a) the expected growth of the
property management industry in the PRC; (b) our
competitive edge in the public property management sector
in the industry; (ii) the proceeds of Listing would mitigate our
cash outflow exposure; and (iii) the Listing will enhance our
Group's corporate profile, credibility, brand awareness and
market status amongst customers, suppliers, subcontractors
and employees, enable us to raise fund in the capital market
for future business development and diversify our shareholder
base. The Group intends to implement the following principal
strategies to expand its business and create value for the
shareholders of the Company:

. Horizontal expansion by acquisition, investment or
forming business alliance with property management
companies in the markets to which we want to expand
its property management business.

e Vertical expansion of both industry chain and supply
chain in the property management industry by providing
consultancy services and information, data collection,
and analysis services and information technology
systems to property developers and property owners;
and by expanding the scope of services in order to
enhance customers’ satisfaction.

o The development of information technology system on
both database level and application level in order to
enhance the quality of property management services
and for streamlining and standardising property
management services in order to elevate service quality,
consistency and optimise cost efficiency.

o Recruitment of more talent in order to facilitate the
provision of a wide range of services to customers and
property developers and property owners in various
stages of property development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately 8.0% to
approximately RMB392.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMB363.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The increase in revenue was mainly
attributable by the increase in the property management
services by approximately 12.7% to approximately RMB331.8
million from those revenue-bearing GFA. Revenue derived
from providing property management services for public
properties, office buildings and hotels, and government
properties increased by approximately 22.3%, 8.1% and
2.6%, respectively which was mainly attributable to the
increase in the average monthly fee per GFA (sq.m.) for the
aforesaid properties for the year ended 31 December 2018.
However, the said increase was partially offset by the
decrease in revenue from non-revenue bearing GFA to
approximately RMB56.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from approximately RMB64.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Cost of services provided

The Group's cost of services provided increased by
approximately 9.6% to approximately RMB324.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB296.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase in cost
of service provided was in line with the increase in property
management services income from revenue-bearing GFA
which leads to the increase in staff costs, sub-contracting
staff costs and utility expenses.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit slightly increased by approximately
0.7% to approximately RMB67.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 from RMB66.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 due to an increase in revenue despite
being partially offset by the increase in the cost of services
provided. Gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately 17.2% which is lower
than gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December
2017 at approximately 18.4% as a result of the increase in
cost of services provided.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains decreased to
approximately RMB6.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMB7.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2017. The decrease in other income and gains was
primarily due to the decrease in government grants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 29.8% to approximately RMB6.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB4.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase in selling
and distribution expenses was primarily due to recruitment of
selling and distribution staff and carrying out more marketing
and promotional activities during the year ended 31
December 2018.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately
13.3% to approximately RMB48.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 from RMB42.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The increase in the administrative
expenses was primarily attributable to (i) the increase of staff
costs by approximately 32.5% to approximately RMB27.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB20.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 due to
recruitment of more middle and senior management for the
expansion of the business, (ii) the increase of research and
development cost by approximately 125.8% to approximately
RMB7.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 from
RMB3.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 for
the development of the information technology system on
both database level and application level in order to enhance
the quality of the property management services, and (iii) the
increase of consultancy fees including compliance advisor
fees, legal and professional fees and public relation
consultant fees, etc. by approximately 533.3% to
approximately RMB5.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMBO0.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 due to the professional fees incurred after
the Listing in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
aforementioned increases were partially offset by the
decrease in listing fees and compensation expense for
litigation which were not incurred for the Period.

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased to approximately RMB0.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB1.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The significant
decrease in the finance costs was due to the decrease in
average bank borrowings during the Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures

Share of profits of joint venture increased by approximately
7.8% to approximately RMB5.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMB5.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 due to increase in profits shared from
Bengbu Zhi Xin and Hefei Zheng Wen.

Share of profits and losses of associates

Share of profits of associates was maintained at a stable level
of approximately RMB7.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 as compared to the year ended 31 December
2017.

Income tax expense

The income tax expenses increased to approximately RMB5.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB1.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase
in income tax expense was mainly due to the decrease in
release of income tax provision from RMB8.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB3.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The release of
tax provision of RMB8.6 million and RMB3.1 million,
represented difference between tax provided under Deemed
Profit Basis and Accounting Book Basis for certain entities of
the Group for the year ended 2012, 2013 and 2014. For
further details, please refer to Financial Information section of
the Company’s prospectus dated 28 November 2017 (the
“Prospectus”).

Profit for the period and net profit margin

As a result of foregoing, the net profit decreased by
approximately 27.6% to approximately RMB26.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB36.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 and the net profit margin
decreased to 6.7% for the year ended 31 December 2018
from 10.0% for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Trade Receivables

The trade receivables increased by approximately 45.4% to
approximately RMB82.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from RMB57.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2017, primarily due to the government
organisations settlement pattern and the long-term
relationship with them, the trade receivables for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are relatively higher. However, the
trade receivables are in line with the historical pattern
throughout the Period. The trade receivables turnover
(average trade receivables divided by revenue multiplied by
365 days) was 65.1 days (2017: 59.3 days).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The prepayment, deposits and other receivables decreased by
approximately 16.5% to approximately RMB62.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 from RMB74.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease in
prepayment, deposits and other receivables primarily due to
the amount of net proceeds from international placing
approximately RMB50.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 which was subsequently received on 10
January 2018 but partially offset by (i) increase in prepayment
on Share Award Scheme approximately RMB13.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018; and (ii) increase in
earnest money paid and loan advance for acquisition of one
property cleaning and environmental hygiene services
company approximately RMB10.0 million. Please refer to the
Company announcement dated 11 January 2019 for further
details of the Acquisition.

Trade payables

The trade payables decreased by approximately 9.2% to
approximately RMB53.0 million as at 31 December 2018
from RMB58.4 million as at 31 December 2017, primarily due
to the earlier settlement of the trade payable. The trade
payables turnover (average trade payables divided by cost of
services provided multiplied by 365 days) was 62.6 days
(2017: 66.2 days).

Other payables and accruals

The other payables and accruals decreased by approximately
7.0% to approximately RMB65.1 million as at 31 December
2018 from RMB70.0 million as at 31 December 2017. As at
31 December 2018, receipts on behalf of residents accounted
for approximately 43.8% of total other payables and
accruals. The receipts on behalf of residents increased by
approximately 5.9% to approximately RMB28.5 million as at
31 December 2018 from RMB26.9 million as at 31 December
2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash Flow

The net cash used in operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately RMB42.9 million.
Operating cash inflow before changes in working capital was
approximately RMB20.2 million, which was primarily
attributable to profit before tax for the year of approximately
RMB32.0 million, as mainly adjusted by deducting share of
profits of joint ventures and associates of approximately
RMB12.8 million. Changes in working capital increased the
cash outflow by approximately RMB63.1 million, which
primarily consisted of (i) an increase in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables of approximately RMB26.1 million
which was primarily due to the increase in prepayment on
Share Award Scheme of approximately RMB13.4 million and
more prepayments were made, (i) an increase in outstanding
trade receivables of approximately RMB26.1 million, which
was mainly a result of longer period of settlement, (iii) a
decrease in trade payables of approximately RMB5.3 million,
and (iv) a decrease in other payables and accruals of
approximately RMB4.9 million. The increased cash outflow
was partially offset by a decrease in restricted bank balances
of approximately RMB6.0 million. The cash inflow was further
reduced by income tax paid of approximately RMB6.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The net cash used in investing activities for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately RMB10.1 million. This
was primarily due to an increase in earnest money paid and
loan advance for acquisition of one property cleaning and
environmental hygiene services company of approximately
RMB10.0 million.

The net cash from financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately RMB59.5 million. This
was primarily due to the dividend paid at the amount of
approximately RMB13.3 million and paid interest on bank
loans of RMBO0.4 million, which are mainly financed by the
net increase in bank borrowings at approximately RMB15.0
million, the proceeds of issue of shares of RMB56.5 million,
non-controlling interests arising from additional capital
injection of RMBO0.9 million and disposal of non-controlling
interests of RMBO.8 million.

BERENWR D

HERE

HZE2018F 12 A31HILFE » £&EFFAR
TFBEHABARKLLOBETT - £EESEEAI
KEEHRESRANBARK 20258 2
FERFRBRBRAEFOBARK3205ET
EHASBEEHNBR IR ELERBEDERFL
AR 1288 TRIELAR - HEESEHS
BEnbBmmARKE31BET  TEBH)
T RIE - 2 R EMERGRIBEE NN AR K
261 BB TEHNE BN BT EIMTER
REEMOARKI34EETEELTENKE
X ()VREEESHENGRIBIE NN AR
26 BEL TEEHENEEHRETERATE - (i)
ZoRNBBRIDOARESIEET  LivE
HENFIERETFERBDHOARKELIIBET
WML INFBD W ZRFBIRITEHB D AR
6.0BETTATIKE - ZIRERMARAEHE2018F 12
A3MBULFEENAMEROARK66BEE T
E—FRD o

HZE2018F 12 A3 BILFE  BESTHHAAR
CRENAARBI01EEL TEHNETE
EHRKE —RYESZRIRBHERE AR
TR 7B & R B FRIE FIEHE N A RE
10.0 B BITATE °

HE20184 12 A31 AILFE - BEAEHAEH
SFPOAARKSISEET  TBEREMNB

BHAREIB3EETLEARBITERINFE
ARBOABETE  ZE2EETERIRITHE
TR ARE15.0B 8T - BITRIDAER
HARKES65HETT « BINEEFEERIETER
B AREOIEE T RHEFERES AR
08BHE LAY -

B B ARAT)
' 3R 2018 77



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB165.0 million. Cash and
cash equivalents increased to approximately RMB156.1
million as compared with the beginning of 2018. The total
interest-bearing bank borrowings increased to approximately
RMB20.0 million as at 31 December 2018 from RMB5.0
million as at 31 December 2017. The gearing ratio (total
debts divided by total equity) as at 31 December 2018 was
approximately 8.3% (31 December 2017: 2.3%). The current
ratio (total current assets divided by total current liabilities) as
at 31 December 2018 was 2.2 (31 December 2017: 2.0).

Financial management and policy

The management has designed and implemented a risk
management policy to address various potential risks
identified in relation to the operation of the businesses,
including financial, operational and the interest risks from the
property management agreements. The risk management
policy sets forth procedures to identify, analyse, categorise,
mitigate and monitor various risks.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk
management system and assessing and updating, if
necessary. The risk management policy is reviewed on a
quarterly basis. The risk management policy also set forth the
reporting hierarchy of risks identified in the operations.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Directors was not aware of any
significant events that would have resulted in material
contingent liabilities.

Subsequent Event

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINAL DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 5 June 2019
to Tuesday, 11 June 2019, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
above meeting, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4 June 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the IPO (including the exercise of the over-
allotment options on 5 January, 2018), after deducting the
underwriting commission and other estimated expenses in
connection with the Global Offering which the Company
received amounted to approximately HK$125.5 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB104.9 million), comprising
HK$117.9 million (equivalent to approximately RMB98.6
million) raised from the Global Offering and HK$7.6 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB6.3 million) from the issue
of shares pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment
options, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the net proceeds from the Listing
were utilised as follows:

Use of proceeds

BBWHE - REREN S
AESE/E SR NIF N
R B TTK R ST

Horizontal expansion by
acquisition, investment or
forming business alliance
with property management
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Used

2 EH
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Planned Use

of Proceeds
Frigma
FTEIAE

HKS$ million
BEET

Balances

HK$ million
BEBTT

companies in the markets 42.7 0.1 42.6
Vertical expansion of both MY EEIRITRENESE

industry chain and supply MMt ITA RIERE

chain in the property

management industry 29.8 15.5 14.3
The development of information Bz & AR £ 40

technology system 19.8 13.0 6.8
Recruitment of talent and BEAT REHEIEIR

implementation of REEET &

training and recruitment

programs 16.3 7.4 8.9
Repayment of bank borrowings  {BER17E XK 5.0 5.0 -
General working capital —MEEES 11.9 11.9 -

125.5 52.9 72.6

As of the date of this annual report, the Company does not
anticipate any changes to its plan on the use of proceeds as
stated in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

POTENTIAL ACQUISITIONS
As announced by the Group, the Group entered into the
following letters of intent and framework agreement:

(i) on 11 January 2019, the Company, through Pujiang
Property, entered into a letter of intent with the vendors
and the target, all are independent third parties,
whereby Pujiang Property intended to acquire 51%
equity interest in the target from the vendors. The
target is engaged in the business of property cleaning,
environmental hygiene services, maintenance of marble
and greening maintenance and has businesses in
regions where the Group currently does not have a
presence. For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 11 January 2019;

(i) on 8 February 2019, the Company entered into a letter
of intent with the vendors’ authorized representative
and the target, all are independent third parties,
whereby the Company intended to acquire 80% of the
entire issued share capital of the target from the
vendors. The target is engaged in the business of
property management in Hong Kong. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8
February 2019; and

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets to the
Group's success. The primary objective of the Group’s
remuneration policy is to ensure there is an appropriate level
of remuneration to attract and retain experienced people of
high calibre to join the Group. The Group links the
remuneration of its employees to both the Group’s
performance and individual performance, so that the interests
of the employees align with those of the Company’s
shareholders. As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed
approximately 1,184 employees. To enhance the
performance of the employees, the Group provides its
employees with adequate and regular trainings. Employees’
remuneration package comprises fixed and variable
components including salary, discretionary bonus and share
options that may be granted to eligible staff by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERENEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H #3&), aged 69, a co-founder of our
Group with Mr. Fu. Mr. Xiao was appointed as our Director
on 27 July 2016, as the chairman of our Board and re-
designated as our executive Director on 24 October 2016.
Mr. Xiao is responsible for strategy planning and business
development of our Group. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of our Group. Mr. Xiao is the father
of Mr. Xiao YQ.

Mr. Xiao obtained a diploma degree in Chinese Language
from Shanghai Institute of Education* (_E/82 & ZFk) in the
PRC in July 1985. He attended a training course in economic
study organised by the Graduate School of Shanghai Academy
of Social Sciences* (_E/Ett & RIZFAFFTAHL) in the PRC in
March 1997. Mr. Xiao obtained the qualification of senior
economist upon completion of the Integrated Economic
Management Programme* (£ E#%r& &) organised by
Shanghai Accreditation Board for Senior Professionals in
Economics (Production sector)* (/&M 4&&HE &ZF|(AEB ) S
RBERMBISERERTEEZE®) in July 2003.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Xiao had
worked in several state-owned enterprises. He joined
Jiangnan Shipyard* (IR &) (now known as Jiangnan
Shipyard (Group) Company Limited* (I &EM(ER)ERE
£72 7)) in November 1968 and acted as head of its publicity
department from October 1992 to June 1995. Mr. Xiao first
encountered the property management industry when he
served as an officer director of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company*
((E/8AER]), deputy general manager of Shanghai Jiushi
Company Bund Zhihuan Headquarters* (/8 A=A Al
B4 E6) responsible for overall operation and general
management of Shanghai Bund Housing Replacement
Property Company Limited* (L/8NEEEEBRMEER A
A]) (now known as Shanghai Bund) from May 1995 to
October 2002.
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With his knowledge and experience gained in property
management industry, Mr. Xiao established Pujiang Property
jointly with Mr. Fu in December 2002 for carrying out
property management business and served as the chairman
of the board and general manager since its establishment.
With the growth and expansion of our Group, Mr. Xiao and
Mr. Fu later established or acquired other property
management companies for carrying out various property
management projects and also set up Pujiang Holding in June
2007 as their investment holding vehicle for various property
management companies and other companies carrying out
investment management business and has been acting as its
chairman since then. He has served as the director and
chairman of the board of Shanghai Rui Zheng, Shanghai
Bund, Pujiang Holding and Shanghai Pujiang Energy Co.
Ltd.* (/88 TRERARRAR]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Pujiang Holding) since January 2004, March 2004, June 2007
and February 2011 respectively. Mr. Xiao has also been the
director of Shanghai Jiu Yi since May 2003.

Mr. Xiao was awarded the independent innovation leading
talent* (B EAI¥EE AA) by Shanghai Luwan District
Government* (E/BEEE A RBAT) in April 2008, the
golden prize of outstanding contribution to Shanghai
Property Management Industry* (/@M% ERTERS
HRA£ ) in January 2011 and the outstanding individual*
(Bt A¥D88) by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society* (L/EMEEIEITERE) in January 2015.

Mr. Fu Qichang (f8H 8), aged 61, a co-founder of our
Group with Mr. Xiao and was appointed as our executive
Director and vice chairman of our Board on 24 October 2016.
He is responsible for strategic planning and business
development of our Group. Mr. Fu is also a member of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of our
Group.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma degree in Accountancy from Lixin
Accountancy College of Professional Studies* (MZ{z &+t EF}
E2#2) in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from Macau University of Science and
Technology (by distance learning) in Macau, in February
2004. He obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration (Service Management) (by distance learning)
in Shanghai, the PRC offered by W. P. Carey School of

Business of Arizona State University in May 2013.
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Mr. Fu obtained the accountant qualification awarded by
Shanghai Accreditation Board for Middle Level Professionals
(Accountants) of the Shanghai Moto Industry Holding
Company* (L/8M/RBETEE R R RSP AREFERIE
BAEBEKRTEZEE) in June 1992 and attended a
corporate finance course organised by Sino-Euro International
Business School* (FREIEIER T RE467) in August 1999. He
obtained the qualifications of senior business manager* (/=
BEEEIE MM EIKFEE) awarded by Shanghai Business
Talents Training Center* (LM EAAIEIIF L) and
Shanghai Desirable Talent Training Projects Joint Conference
Office* (L/BERAA B TREBE RN AE) in February
2004 and corporate manager of national property
management upon completion of the National Property
Management for Corporate Manager Programme* (£ BI¥1%
B> F418) organised by Shanghai Property Industrial
Education Centre* (/& MEHIETTEZE F ) in December
2001. Mr. Fu was awarded the chief financial officer
qualifying training certificate by Shanghai National
Accountants Institute in July 2013.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Fu acted as the
deputy general manager and chief accountant in Pudong
Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (E/8AE R EHR
7~ \]) and the deputy general manager of Property Company
of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (E/8 A EAFYZEA F]) from
July 1997 to March 2003.

Mr. Fu has served as a director of Puijiang Property since its
establishment in December 2002. He was appointed as the
director and deputy general manager of Shanghai Bund in
April 2004 and he has served as its vice chairman and general
manager since February 2009. Mr. Fu has also been acting as
the director of Shanghai Rui Zheng since its establishment in
January 2004, a director of Shanghai Bund Green since its
establishment in August 2004, a director of Anhui Bund since
October 2010 and a director of Shanghai Hong Ji since March
2016. He has served as a director and chief executive officer
of Pujiang Holding since its establishment in June 2007.
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Mr. Fu was awarded the role model of the Shanghai Labour
Force* (/8T & E)EEE) by Shanghai People’s Government
in April 2010, national role model of the industry* (2BI7T%
F£18) by National Property Management Society* (2 Bl#)%
B E) in September 2011, veteran professional manager
of the Shanghai property service industry* (/8 Y12 RS
PEERBE&E A) by Shanghai Property Management
Industry Society in January 2012, Shanghai Huangpu district
professional and technical talents* (BERITHAE AA) by
Shanghai Huangpu District Government* (E/8m&HE AR
M) in September 2012 and the outstanding individual by
Shanghai Property Management Industry Society in January
2015.

Mr. Xiao Yuqiao (B ¥%&), aged 36, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 24 October
2016. He is responsible for the overall operation and
management and execution of the policies of our Group. Mr.
Xiao YQ is also member of the remuneration committee of
our Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is the son of Mr. Xiao.

Mr. Xiao YQ obtained a double degree in Philosophy and
Business Management from the State University of New York
at Stony Brook in the United States in May 2005.

Mr. Xiao YQ has over ten years of experience in the property
management industry. He joined our Group in February 2006
and had served as the general manager of Shanghai Pujiang
Sanqing Property Co. Ltd.* (E8BI=/8MFHRAA])
(now known as Shanghai Rui Zheng) until May 2012. He was
the general manager of Ningbo Plaza from May 2012 to
December 2013. Mr. Xiao YQ had served as the deputy
general manager in Pujiang Property since May 2012 and was
subsequently appointed as its director on 11 March 2016. He
has been the deputy general manager of Shanghai Bund
since May 2012 and a director of Shanghai Jie Gu since May
2016. Mr. Xiao YQ has also served as an executive director of
Pujiang Holding since January 2014.

Mr. Xiao YQ was awarded the outstanding individual (15th
anniversary) by China Property Management Magazine*

((HPEIYIZEEIR) FE5tL) in July 2016.
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Mr. Jia Shaojun (E4*E), aged 48, joined our Group in
December 2014 and has served as a deputy general manager
and chief officer of department of operation and
administration in Shanghai Pujiang Property Company
Limited* (8B I®WEBR2AF]) and Shanghai Bund
Property Company Limited* (/8 5NEWZEBR A E]) since
then. He was appointed as our vice president on 24 October
2016 and as our executive Director with effect from 7 May
2018. Mr. Jia is also the director of FEBBEE S EMEBRR D
A] (Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company
Limited*), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Jia graduated with a bachelor’s degree in ship
engineering from Dalian University of Technology* (R T
AE) in July 1992 and a master's degree in professional
accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong (by
distance learning) in December 2011. He obtained the chief
financial officer qualifying certificate from the Shanghai
National Accounting Institute in August 2010.

Mr. Jia has over 20 years of experience in strategy planning
and corporate management before joining our Group in
December 2014. He was a deputy head of the department of
operation and management in Shanghai Waigaogiao
Shipbuilding Company Limited* (/84N aEiEMBRR A7)
from June 1996 to October 2005. He served as an assistant
to the president and head of planning and management
department of Jiangsu Rongsheng Heavy Industry Company
Limited from November 2005 to March 2008 and was its
deputy president from April 2008 to March 2010. Mr. Jia was
the president and head of economics and operation
department of Rongsheng Machinery Company Limited* (/&
ER M AA PR A A]) from March 2010 to March 2011 and its
president from May 2013 to June 2014. Mr. Jia was a deputy
general manager of Zhonglian Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd (+
s BN AR A R]) from July 2014 to November 2014.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Yongjun (;R#EE), aged 43, has been appointed
as our non-executive Director with effect from 7 May 2018.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University*
(E/BRBARE) with a bachelor’s degree in cranes,
transportation machinery and mechanical engineering in July
1996 and a master’s degree in business administration in July
2003.

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in investment and
corporate management. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as the senior investment manager in Shanghai Galaxy
Digital Investment Co., Ltd.* (B2 EIEIRE AR Q)
from January 2003 to March 2006. He served as the assistant
director of the investment department at Shanghai Industrial
Investment (Shanghai) Company Limited* (F E&E (L&)
BBR22F]) from April 2006 to April 2008. He was the deputy
general manager of Runfeng Investment Group Shanghai
Investment Co., Ltd.* (2% & &£ E LB EBR A A]) from
April 2008 to May 2009. Since June 2009, he has served as
the director and head of the investment department at
Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company Limited*
(EEE (L/8) BBRAR). He has served as the assistant
president of Shanghai Overseas International Trading Co.,
Ltd.* (/&89MA A]) since January 2019.

Currently, Mr. Zhang serves as a director of Weifang City
Water Supply Co., Ltd.* (445 B R/KBR AR, Shanghai
Qingpu Second Sewage Treatment Plant Co., Ltd.* ((E/& &)
F—I5KEREMmAR A7) and Dazhou Good Environment
Renewable Resources Limited* GEMNEZREBEERER
3 F]). He is also on the board of supervisors of SIIC
Environment Holdings (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.* (F EIRELAE (R
%) BRR2AF]), a subsidiary of SIIC Environment Holdings
Ltd. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 807) and the Singapore Stock Exchange
(stock code: BHK)).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Dong (#25), aged 56, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 15 November 2017.
He is responsible for overseeing the management of our
Group independently. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of our Group.

Mr. Cheng graduated with a Bachelor degree in management
engineering from Tongji University ([E}&AZ) in the PRC in
July 1984 and Master degree in economic informatics from
Academy for Computer Science and Computer Executives*
(Akademie fur Fach- und Fuhrungskrafte der Informatik) in
Germany in May 1995.

Mr. Cheng was accredited as an organisational programmer
and economic informatics scientist by the Chambers of
Industry and Commerce Region Stuttgart* (Industrie- und
Handelskammer Region Stuttgart) in Germany in November
1992 and December 1992 respectively.

Mr. Cheng was a teacher at the School of Economics and
Management at the Tongji University (R AE2) from July
1984 to January 1990. From March 1992 to June 1995, he
served as an software engineer and project manager at
Yingta Information Technology Company Limited, Germany*
(R mAFE RN A F]) and was the company’s chief
representative at its representative office in PRC between
June 1995 and May 1998. He had served as the general
manager of Shanghai Yingta Information Technology
Company Limited* (/8 %EEE BRI AR A F]). Mr. Cheng
is currently holding senior positions in several companies in
the PRC including legal representative (A A X 3X) of Shanghai
Entai Business and Trading Company Limited* (/8 2 Zm@m &
BIR 7)) since May 1996, chairman of Shanghai Yingta
Health Management Company Limited* (/8RS EE I
B2 7)) since November 2008, and general manager of
Anpac Bio-Medical Science Company Limited (& REHA ¥ 82
BRI (H8)BRAF]) since April 2014,
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Mr. Weng Guogiang ($El5&), aged 58, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 15 November
2017. He is responsible for overseeing the management of
our Group independently. He is also member of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of our Group.

Mr. Weng graduated with a Bachelor degree in Applied
Mathematics from the Tongji University in the PRC in July
1982 and a Master degree in Public Administration from the
University of Macau in Macau in September 2003.

Mr. Weng was accredited as a National Vocational
Qualification Level 2 Vocational Management Professional*
(BRRBEZE L —ABEEGIEA) in May 2003 and a Level 1
Senior Vocational Management Professional* (— &= 4%
#KIEA) in September 2004 by the Shanghai Vocational Skill
Testing Authority* (/8T EEIREEEFEH D). Mr. Weng
was also accredited as a Certified Property Manager by the
Personnel Department of Shanghai* (L&MW AERE) in
October 2006 and an Advanced Economist* (&= A% 4% ERT) by
the Personnel Department of Jiangsu Province* (T# & A
) in September 2009.

Mr. Weng has extensive experience in the property
management industry in Shanghai for over 18 years. He had
served as a general manager of Shanghai Lujiazui Property
Management Co., Ltd. (E/8BEREMEEIZER A F]) from
October 1999 to May 2008 and as a general manager of
Wuxi Dongzhou Property Management Company Limited*
(EHRMNDEEIEAR A AF]) from May 2008 to December
2009. Since January 2010, Mr. Weng has taken up the
positions of general manager and subsequently executive
director at the Shanghai Tonglai Property Management
Company Limited* (_E/EREEEIEGR A 7).
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Mr. Weng was the chairman/director/legal representative of
the following companies which were incorporated in the PRC
at the time of their respective cancellation:

SELERTIERBEZMAZNLR(REEB
)R EEEERK

Principal
business activity Reasons of
before revocation/
Name of Company cancellation Date of cancellation Means of cancellation cancellation
HEAEE e/
NEEE EBEH at 8F B 2 AHE AR H#HERR
Shanghai Lujiazui Property ~ Property 3 March 2006 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Service Company Limited* ~ maintenance Company Law (Note) have operation
services
LBEREDE RS MERERY 200653 A3H RBH B D EDETH (D) TEEEER
BRAR
Shanghai Banshan Catering  Japanese 6 April 2006 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Company Limited* restaurant Company Law (Note) have operation
LEFILERERAT AREE 2006F4 A6H REFBE R ADET () TBEEER
Shanghai Shibangde Property 19 July 2005 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Bidding Agency tendering Company Law (Note) have operation
Company Limited* services
RLHERRERE MERSRYE 20054677198 REBEHBE DDA (D) TBELER
BRARA
Shanghai Yugiao Property ~ Property 28 November 2007 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Company Limited* management Company Law (Note) have operation
FREEMEERAT MEEE 200711 A28H RBEH B D DA (D) TBELER
Shanghai Mingcheng Café  Catering services 24 August 2005 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Company Limited* Company Law (Note) have operation
R e BRI 200548 A24H REBPEAREZH () THREEY
BRAT
Shanghai Jiaxun Cleaning Property cleaning 14 February 2006 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to

Services Company

Limited*
FERERERRE

BRAR

Shanghai Lujiazui Hotel
Management Company
Limited*

HBEREEEER
BRAT]

services

ESENAiYS

Hotel
management

BEERE
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Principal
business activity Reasons of
before revocation/
Name of Company cancellation Date of cancellation Means of cancellation cancellation
AHAEE s/
NEER EBEH a8 B 2 AHEA R H#HERE
Shanghai Lujiazui Jinpan Property 2 March 2011 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Property Management management Company Law (Note) have operation
Company Limited* services
LEERESENR MEEERYE  2011%F3A2H REFE R ADET 8 (M) TEEEER
ERARAT
Shanghai Lujiazui Property ~ Call centre 30 January 2007 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Service Information services Company Law (Note) have operation
Company Limited*
LBEREYE R LRSS 200741 A30H REFBE R ADET () TBEEER
ERARAT
Shanghai Lujiazui Property ~ Property agency 30 June 2005 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Management Consultancy  services Company Law (Note) have operation
Company Limited*
LEERENFEE WERERB 200546 A30H RIEPEAREZH () THEEEY
BARRAT
Shanghai Lurui New Building materials 17 May 2006 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Commerce and Trading trading Company Law (Note) have operation
Company Limited*
LakEREE BEMBES  20066F5H17H REBEHE DDA (D) TBEEER
BRARA
Dongguan Kuka Information  Information 3 June 2016 Cancellation under the PRC Ceased to
Technology Company technology Company Law (Note) have operation
Limited* consultancy
services
REMEREERR BRI 20166 A3 H REBEPBE D AT (D) TBELEER
BRARA %
Note: BT

Pursuant to Article 180 of the PRC Company Law, an application of  RIEFBEAQARIEFE 180K @ ERILGCEEB KL ENRAA
cancellation can be made voluntarily by way of submitting applications to the ~ AR TEATRERABIRRHBH AN PEEFEEN -
Administration of Industry and Commerce for companies which have ceased

to carry on business or operation.
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Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (%), aged 46, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 15 November
2017. He is responsible for overseeing the management of our
Group independently. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee and member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of our Group.

Mr. Shu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business
(Accounting) from Deakin University in Australia in September
1994. He qualified as a certified practising accountant in
Australia in May 1997 and became an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants in September 1997. Mr. Shu
attended the chief financial officer programme offered by
China Europe International Business School from July to
November 2009.

Mr. Shu has over 20 years of experience in audit, corporate
finance and financial management. He joined Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as an accountant in March 1994 and later became
a manager of Deloitte’s reorganisation service group in April
2000. Mr. Shu joined Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance
Limited and served as its manager from July 2001 to
November 2002. Mr. Shu worked as an associate director in
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited from November 2002 to
April 2005. He served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Texhong Textile Group Limited* (4T
4B AR AF) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 02678) from May 2005 to July 2008. Mr.
Shu was employed as the chief financial officer of Jiangsu
Rongsheng Heavy Industries Co., Ltd* (T&BAKETHRA
Al) overseeing its financial management functions and
corporate finance activities as well as the daily management
of its finance department from July 2008 to June 2010. Mr.
Shu served as the chief financial officer of Petro-king Qilfield
Services Ltd.* (B &l HARTEBFRAR]) (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 02178) since July 2010
to July 2018. Mr. Shu has served as the chief financial officer
of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly known as Top
Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (a company listed on
the stock Exchange with stock code: 02203) since 1 August
2018. He was also an independent non-executive director of
Chengdu Expressway Co., Ltd. (B EB =R AN BR A F])
(@ company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
01785 and Twintek Investment Holdings Limited (Z.1&8#% &%
& BMR A7) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 06182) since November 2016 and December
2017 respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Company Secretary

Mr. Choy Suk Man (£ ), aged 53, joined our Group as
the chief financial officer and company secretary on 1
September 2016. He is responsible for overseeing accounting
activities and company secretarial work of our Group.

Mr. Choy graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accounting (Hong Kong) (by distance learning) from Napier
University, Edinburgh, the United Kingdom in 1999. He is a
fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Choy has nearly 30 years of experience in accounting.
Mr. Choy served as an accountant in Universal Leather
Tourister Limited GR¥E AMRITAmABR 2R from
November 1989 to April 1997. He was the group deputy
financial controller of Mission Hills Golf Club Limited (B¢ 5 £
&) from July 1997 to June 2003. Mr. Choy was the group
financial controller of Jimei International Hotel Management
Company Limited (5 EBIEEEEE AR A F]) (now known
as Jimei Hotels International Management Company Limited)
from January 2005 to September 2011. Mr. Choy was the
financial controller in Kings Romans (£ KR EE B R A7)
from October 2011 to November 2013, and was the financial
controller and company secretary of Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd ($74 5 B(BIRR )= G BR 22 7))
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code:
06893) from July 2014 to July 2015.

Ms. Zhu Hong (%R4L), aged 54, is responsible for managing
the invested companies of our Group and their projects outside
Shanghai markets.

Ms. Zhu graduated with a diploma degree in Basic Organic
Synthesis from Shanghai Chemical Industry College* (/&1L
BT H¥ERER) in the PRC in July 1984 and a Master
degree in Business Administration (by distance learning) from
Macau University of Science and Technology in June 2004.
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EERENEERE

Ms. Zhu qualified as a corporate manager of the national
property management upon completion of the National
Property Management for Corporate Manager Programme
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre
in May 2003, a national property manager by the Shanghai
Human Resources and Social Security Bureau* (_E/8 A J &R
Mt 2REER) in September 2011 and an engineer by
Shanghai Engineering Technology Management Middle Level
Professional and Professional and Technical Title Qualification
Evaluation Committee* (H AT IR EIRIREEMREE
PSR ERTEZ B 8) in November 2014.

Ms. Zhu had been engaged in the property management
business for nearly 20 years. Ms. Zhu served as an assistant to
the general manager in Shangshi Property Management
Company Limited* (/8 EFEMEERHBRAF) from July
1996 to January 2001.

Ms. Zhu joined our Group and was appointed as the office
director of Pujiang Property in August 2003, deputy general
manager of Pujiang Property and Shanghai Bund since April
2006. Ms. Zhu was appointed as a deputy general manager
of Anhui Bund on 1 January 2013 and became its director on
15 February 2016. She has served as an assistant to the
director of Pujiang Holding since January 2009. Ms. Zhu was
appointed as our vice president on 24 October 2016.

Ms. Zhu was recognised as an expert for the Shanghai
Property Management Bidding and Tendering* (/&M #%
EIRRTIZTIZER) by the Shanghai Housing and Land
Resources Management Bureau* (L/8MEE L& RE R
/&) from September 2006 to September 2008 and a
procurement evaluation expert of Shanghai People’s
Government* (B8 MB/TREFZEEXR) by Shanghai
Finance Bureau* (E/&ME B /E). She was awarded the
veteran professional manager of Shanghai Property Service
Industry by Shanghai Property Management Industry Society
in January 2012 and the outstanding individual by Shanghai
Property Management Industry Society in January 2015.
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Mr. Bai Min (BIE), aged 47, is responsible for managing
business development and day-to-day business of our Group.

Mr. Bai graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business and
Corporate Management from Hubei Province Economic
Management Cadre Institute* (#1b& & B E L # HZ0) in
the PRC in January 2009, a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration (Marketing) from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in the PRC in January 2012 and a Master degree in
Business Administration (by distance learning) from City
University of Macau in July 2015.

Mr. Bai obtained the qualification of national property
manager by Shanghai Human Resources and Social Security
Bureau in October 2010.

Mr. Bai had worked in various property management
companies in Shanghai for over 10 years before joining our
Group in April 2009. Mr. Bai was a property manager of
Shanghai Yuntai Property Management Company Limited*
(LBERWEEEABRAA]) from April 1997 to August
2000. He was a senior director in Shanghai Kai Shing
Property Management Service Company Limited* (/&R
YEEIEIR AR A R]) from August 2000 to December
2000. He was employed as an assistant to general manager
of the integrated centre and deputy general manager of the
property department of Shanghai Minghua Property
Company* (L/8FRZEYZ A 7)) from February 2001 to July
2005. He was the general manager of Yangshan district and
deputy general manager of the quality control department of
Shanghai New Century Property Service Company Limited*
(bEFtt 42 B ERM AR A7) from August 2005 to March
20009.

Mr. Bai joined our Group as the general manager of our
estates management office of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China in April 2009 which was managed by Pujiang
Property. He was then seconded to serve as the general
manager of the Shanghai World Expo in January 2010. Since
January 2011, he has served as an assistant to the general
manager and chief property officer in Pujiang Property. Mr.
Bai has been serving as a deputy general manager of Anhui
Bund since 1 January 2013, and director and deputy general
manager in Shanghai Xin Di since June 2015. Mr. Bai was
appointed as our vice president on 24 October 2016.
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Mr. Bai was awarded the outstanding individual by Shanghai
Property Management Industry Society in January 2015 and
is an expert of 5th Council of Shanghai Property
Management Industry Society* (L/8MYWEERITEHESE
HEEEE) since December 2015.

Mr. Xu Wenzhang (X %), aged 58, is responsible for
managing engineering facilities of our Group.

Mr. Xu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Power
Mechanical Engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University
in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master degree in Management
from Norwegian School of Management Bl in Norway (by
distance learning) in January 2000.

Prior to joining our Group in November 2015, Mr. Xu had
worked at a number of international corporations in property
management sector for over 25 years. Mr. Xu was the
property engineering senior manager in American
International Group (AIG) from March 1990 to February
2005. He was the chief property officer in Shanghai Alison
Group Company Limited and general manager in Shanghai
Alison Property Management Service Company Limited from
February 2005 to January 2007. Mr. Xu held the position of
national facilities manager (associate director) in Jones Lang
LaSalle Surveyors (Shanghai) Company Limited from February
2007 to September 2008. He served as a director of facilities
management of Accor Greater China in Accor Hotels Group
from September 2008 to December 2015.

Mr. Xu joined our Group in November 2015 and has served
as the chief technical officer in Pujiang Holding since then
and deputy general manager of Pujiang Property since
January 2016. He was appointed as our vice president on 24
October 2016.
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Mr. Xu Chaobin (FF&R7&), aged 41, is responsible for managing
major projects of our Group.

Mr. Xu CB graduated with a diploma degree in International
Trade and Economics from Shanghai Institute of Foreign
Trade* (E/B¥INE HAE) (now known as Shanghai
University of International Business and Economics* (&%}
HMEE KE) in the PRC in July 2000.

Mr. Xu CB qualified as a corporate manager of national
property management upon completion of the national
property management for corporate manager programme
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre
in December 2004 and as a national property manager by
the Shanghai Human Resources and Social Security Bureau in
September 2013.

Mr. Xu CB has 20 years of experience in property
management. Mr. Xu CB served as a property management
assistant in Shanghai Hong Kong Square Property
Management Company Limited* (L8 EBESMESIES
FR 72 &) from October 1997 to January 2000. He was the
project manager in Shanghai Shenda Property Service
Company Limited* (/B8R K¥EBRAF]) from January
2000 to February 2002.

Mr. Xu CB was appointed as a manager of the property
management department in Shanghai Bund in April 2002
which was acquired by our Group in May 2004. He was
promoted as the deputy office director in January 2003 and
manager of the human resources department in January
2004. He has been serving as a manager of several public
transportation property management projects since January
2005. He started to serve as a secretary to the board in
January 2011 and as an assistant to the general manager in
January 2012. He has been serving as a manager of Shanghai
Jinhonggiao International Building, Shenhong area and
Honggiao airport property management projects in Pujiang
Property since January 2012. Mr. Xu CB was appointed as
our assistant president on 24 October 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to establishing good corporate
governance practices and ensuring integrity, transparency
and comprehensive disclosure. The Board believes that such
commitment is beneficial to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

The Board has adopted the CG Code as set out in of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 11 December 2017 (the “Listing Date”). The
Board is pleased to report compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code from the Listing Date to 31
December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. In
response to specific enquiry made by the Company, each of
the Directors confirmed that he had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors : Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao

(Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Jia Shaojun

Non-Executive Director . Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Independent
Non-Executive Directors

: Mr. Cheng Dong
Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ. Save for the family
relationship between Mr. Xiao and Mr. Xiao YQ, there was
no financial, business, family or other material relationship
among the Directors.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence of the Company and the
Company considers each of them to be independent in
accordance with the guidelines of assessing independence as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS
According to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

The Company generally convenes at least four regular Board
meetings a year. During the Period, four regular Board
meetings were convened:

1. reviewed and approved the 2017 annual report of the
Company and its related results announcement and
documents;

2. reviewed and approved the 2018 interim report of the
Company and its related results announcement and
documents;

3. reviewed and approved of the amended terms of
reference of the Audit Committee; and

4.  reviewed, discussed and considered the Group’s affairs,
including strategic plans, financial affairs, progress and
updates of business performance.
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Attendance at Meetings of the Board and Board
Committees

ESERESZES ERHELHE

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend for the

year ended 31 December 2018

BZ20185 12831 BLEEHE SEREESE LI

Audit Annual

Name of Director Board Committee General Meeting
EEHE Exg EREES BRRBERS
Executive Directors
HITEF
Xiao Xingtao 4/4 N/A 01
HEE il
Fu Qichang 4/4 N/A 11
BHS TE R
Xiao Yugiao 4/4 N/A 11
BET® NEm
Jia Shaojun (Note (i)) 3/4 N/A 171
BAOE (M) NEm
Non-executive Director
FHITEF
Zhang Yongjun (Note (ii)) 3/4 N/A 11
SRPEE ST A (MRE (i) NEM
Independent Non-executive Director
BIIFHTEF
Cheng Dong 4/4 4/4 11
BR
Weng Guogiang 4/4 4/4 11
HE R
Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4/4 4/4 1/
EFER

Notes: Pt eE

(i) Mr. Jia Shaojun was appointed as an Executive Director on 7 May  (j) BELELAEN2018FES A7 AESIAHITES -

2018.
(i) Mr. Zhang Yongjun was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 7 (i)  3RIEE AN 20184F5 A7 ARET BIEHITES -
May 2018.

During the Period, no meeting of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee were convened.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the management of the
Company, which includes formulating business strategies,
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
reserves power for decisions concerning all major matters
which include, inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgeting, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those which may involve conflict of interests of
Director(s) or substantial shareholder(s)), appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall responsibility of
developing, maintaining and reviewing sound and effective
corporate governance policies within the Group and is
committed to ensuring that corporate governance functions
are carried out in accordance with the CG Code, including
continuously reviewing and improving the corporate
governance practices within the Group.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company as well as the services and advice from the
company secretary and senior management. The Directors
may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services
of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.
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AR E

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of the report, Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the
Chairman while Mr. Xiao Yugiao is the chief executive officer
of the Company. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the father of Mr. Xiao
Yugiao.

DNEE

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the overall operation and
management and execution of the policies of our Group.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out
in writing.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All executive Directors and non-executive Director have
entered into a service contract with our Company for an
initial fixed term of three years and renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other expiring at the
end of the initial term or any time thereafter. All independent
non-executive Directors are appointed from the date of the
Listing until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the Company or the respective
Director.

The current articles of association of the Company provide
that subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of
directors as from time to time prescribed by the Listing Rules,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation and that
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the
Board.

All the Directors have confirmed in writing they had
participated in continuous professional developments to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as directors
during the Period.
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NEERWE

TERBAEENEEREA2INFIINFEEE
BRABR

The below table summarises the participation of Directors in
training and continuous professional development during the

Period under review.

Types of Continuous Professional Development

BESXRRER
Received an
introduction

regarding the

Reading responsibilities
Material regarding and obligations
regulatory update under the Listing Attending
and corporate Rules and seminars/
governance relevant statutory conferences/
Name of Directors matters requirements forums
EERE
EHRAIR
HEEBEE HEBEEEER
EHREXER BEENBER HENwE
EEpnE EEMNME BEERH 25 Wil
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Xiao Xingtao v
HEREE
Mr. Fu Qichang v
BHExE
Mr. Xiao Yugiao v
HT&EE
Mr. Jia Shaojun v v
BELERE
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Zhang Yongjun v v
REEE £ 4
Independent non-executive Directors
BIFHTES
Mr. Cheng Dong 4
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Mr. Weng Guogiang v
SR EE
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence v v
FFERLLE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) was established on 15 November 2017
comprising 3 independent non-executive Directors, who have
reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018. All of them have appropriate
professional qualifications and one of them has accounting
expertise. Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence is the chairman of the
Audit Committee. No member of the Audit Committee is a
member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
at the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, the
following matters:

(@) overseeing the Company's financial reporting system,
internal control procedures and risk management;

(b) reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor of
the Company;

() reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard; and

(d) monitoring the integrity of financial statements of the
Company and the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing any
significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them.
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During the Period, the Audit Committee convened four
meetings and performed the following work:

1. reviewed the 2017 annual report and the 2018 interim
report of the Company and their related preliminary
results announcements;

2. reviewed and discussed the auditor’s report to the
Audit Committee in respect of 2017 annual audit;

3. reviewed and recommended the re-appointment of the
external auditors, taking into account its independence;

4.  reviewed and discussed the internal control reports;

5.  reviewed the amended terms of reference of the Audit
Committee; and

6. reviewed and discussed the 2018 annual audit plan of
the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 15
November 2017 comprising five members, namely 2
executive Directors, Mr. Fu Qichang and Mr. Xiao Yugiao and
3 independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Dong,
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr. Weng Guogiang. Mr.
Cheng Dong is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for, inter
alia, the following matters:

(@) establishing and reviewing the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the
Board on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration;

(b) determining the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors of the Group and senior
management;
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(©) reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and that any compensation payment is otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

(d) advising shareholders of the Company with respect to
any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable to
the Directors and the details of the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (excluding Directors) for
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in details in
Notes 8 to the audited consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 15 November
2017 comprising five members, namely 2 executive Directors,
Mr. Xiao Xingtao and Mr. Fu Qichang and 3 independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung
Laurence and Mr. Weng Guogiang. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is
currently the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available at the Company’s website and on the website of
the Stock Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for, inter
alia, the following matters:

(@) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

(b) developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors;

(0 making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors; and

(d) assessment of the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships by
making reference to the balance of expertise, skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and
time commitments of such individuals, business requirements
of the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of
the Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of aspects, including, but not limited to, gender,
regional and industry experience, skills, knowledge and
educational background. All board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 8 directors. #HZEARREHH EFe@H/\LE=FHK - Hrb
Three of them are independent non-executive directors, =%ABIENITES @ EHBERIGT REZ
thereby promoting critical review and control of the EIERF ZZLERNEE XX =LK
management process. The Board is also characterised by &JHEZERE @ #EEZ b - TRE—FEUR
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of ZAXREHZHEAEFEEKE 2% TLIRE ¢
nationality, professional background and skills. The following

tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board members as

of the date of this annual report:

Age Group Ethnicity
Fir AR Bk
Other,
Name of Director 30 to 39 40 to 49 50 to 59 Above 60 Chinese if applicable
EEnE 302395 40F49%  S50E59% 605 A £ EH Hi(WER)
Xiao Xingtao v v
Bz
Fu Qichang v/ v/
BHE
Xiao Yugiao v/ v
R
Jia Shaojun v/ v
Zhang Yongjun v v
REE
Cheng Dong v/ v
X
Weng Guogiang v v/
S5
Shu Wa Tung Laurence v/ v
FFER

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as 124 ZEE @B N EER B Z TLEE - UER
appropriate, to eusure its effectiveness. HEEME -
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The
Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and the
Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external
auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared by
the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of
the Company. A statement by auditor about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has developed the Group’s internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall
responsibility for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of
the Group. It evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at
least annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and
management of risks associated with its business activities.
The Group’s internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems and fulfillment of business objective. The system
includes a defined management structure with segregation
of duties and a cash management system such as monthly
reconciliation of bank accounts.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s material
internal controls and is of the opinion that the resources for
and qualifications of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function are adequate and sufficient.
Based on information furnished to it and on its own
observations, the Board is satisfied with present internal
controls of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”)
was entered into by Partner Summit, Vital Kingdom, Mr.
Xiao, Source Forth, Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune and Mr. Chen, the
Controlling Shareholders in favour of the Company on 28
November 2017, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders will not, and will procure any of its/his
associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled
by him/it (not include any member of the Group) not to
either on his/its own or in conjunction with any body
corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual
agreement, whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit
or not, carry on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or
operate, or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm
or company (except members of the Group) to conduct any
business which, directly or indirectly, competes or may
compete with the business presently carried on by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other business that
may be carried on by any of them from time to time during
the term of the Deed of Non-Competition, in Hong Kong or
the PRC and such other places as the Company or any of its
subsidiaries may conduct or carry on business from time to
time, including but not limited to provision of property
management services and other related services. Details of
the Deed of Non-Competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 2017. In
order to ensure that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, the
independent non-executive directors of the Company had
reviewed the status of compliance by way of confirmation by
individual Controlling Shareholder and confirmed that the
Controlling Shareholders have complied with all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

DNEE

1 10 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

THREZE

ERBREAS B2 HtE - RE BEE
ERERBEEUNRRR AT AR2017F 11 A
8B UAHEFRB(AHERRE]D - Bit -
BEBEBRREETS - WERELTABHEANRL
HEESMEZINEAQAR(TEEAERET

KB AR T EEBIERERIEE - 557 -
REBBHEMS Wﬁ* E&&ﬁ&(ﬂﬁ%
T%IﬁDLﬂ S8 5H - 1tE - WBERE

CEREEM AL FREA ‘KK%EWE@
ﬂ@%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%’uﬁﬁEﬂE%
AR RN ETANB AR EATEITHE
% RETEFRIEEME - AR R SETRME
RN TNRERBLFERARNAR S EERMEA
A A RE NS B S EE R E Mt 75 U] H
EB NG F KA BB FEREL - 8
FRB AR AR 2 B 18 AR 75 N B b AR B AR 7 ©

THRFRENFBINARRBEA2017F 11
A28 BMHBRER [EIERREMEER] —& -
BERERBREET IR FRLE - ANAREL
FEMITES D RBERIZERREERN T NEH
GRER - WHERIERREREZ=2018F 12 A
31 HIEFEEEF I RFRIEE NHTAFGE °



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit for the year ended 31 December
2018 amounted to approximately RMB960,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choy Suk Man (“Mr. Choy") was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 September 2016.
The biographical details of Mr. Choy are set out under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, Mr.
Choy has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in
each year and at the place as may be determined by the
Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting
("EGM™).

— Right to convene extraordinary general
meeting
Any one or more members holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the
Company’s principal office as set out in the manner
below, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company at
the Company’s principal place of business at 2/F, King's
House, 971 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong, and
such may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary of the Company will ask the Board to
convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered members. On the contrary, if the request has
been verified is not in order, the shareholders will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested. If within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by
the requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and not
less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
Company;

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the
Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post
to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors and
other stakeholders. The Company endeavors to maintain an
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At annual general meetings, Directors are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries. The
Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports
and announcements to the public in accordance with the
Listing Rules, the relevant laws and regulations.

There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents since the Listing Date.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Except for the adoption of new memorandum and articles of
association by the Company to comply with the applicable
legal and regulatory requirements (including the Listing Rules)
on 15 November 2017 and with effect from the date of the
Listing, there were no changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEREE

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting
their annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is property
management. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their services and the Group has only
one reportable operating segment which is engaged in
property management services. Since over 90% of the
Group's revenue and operating profits were generated from
providing property management services in mainland China
and over 90% of the Group'’s identifiable assets and liabilities
were located in mainland China, no geographical information
in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the IPO (including the exercise of the over-
allotment options on 5 January, 2018), after deducting the
underwriting commission and other estimated expenses in
connection with the Global Offering which the Company
received amounted to approximately HK$125.5 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB104.9 million), comprising
HK$117.9 million (equivalent to approximately RMB98.6
million) raised from the Global Offering and HK$7.6 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB6.3 million) from the issue
of shares pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment
options, respectively.

114 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

AAREEMAREARARNTREWB AT (5
[REEDEZE2018F 12 A3 BIEFEFR L
REZIR A IEREK -

FEXHK
ARBEBEBR/MEEE - FEARFKEAL
AIEBXBHBHNRAMBHRERME -

7 EBE

RTRER  AEBEWEZRH S D EHEL
AEBEEERFEVFEEERGH —ETHRELE
DED e N AEE B 90% 2 W M AR = s R E
EETEAMERYEEERT  BAKER
90% 2 A #BEERBEGUNFTEAM - &
WEREEBMBREENERELLE N2
HEEF -

EREFRERR
RARFTREE B X ARBEEESRIEFE(E
FER2018F 1 A5 AITEAEBRER AR E « &40k
BHEAeAREERBEEFENEMAETHAE
BIHWAR1255BEBT(HERHAREK104.9
BEL) ETRESRNBERBEEEMSE
TM79BEBT(HERHARBIB6HET) A
FABETEBEEREMETROME768
EBT(HERWARKIBEET) -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2018, the net proceeds from the Listing
were utilised as follows:

EEREE

R2018F 12 A31H » I WABFIAFHECDEE
BT :

Planned use Proceeds
Use of proceeds Fri8FIE A& of proceeds Used Balances
RS R1E 2EH
STEIAR PR RIE rEeR
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BEET BEAET BEETT
Horizontal expansion by acquisition,  :#&:@UEE - & BTG
investment or forming business NEMEE R QTN
alliance with property management BBt EIT/KEER
companies in the markets 42.7 0.1 42.6
Vertical expansion of both industry R EIRI TR EEHE
chain and supply chain in the KAt EGEEITHE RIER
property management industry 29.8 15.5 14.3
The development of information BB RS
technology system 19.8 13.0 6.8
Recruitment of talent and REAT REHEIEI X
implementation of training and HEEEHE|
recruitment programs 16.3 7.4 8.9
Repayment of bank borrowings ERIBITER 5.0 5.0 -
General working capital —REEER 11.9 11.9 -
125.5 52.9 72.6

As of the date of this annual report, the Company does not
anticipate any changes to its plan on the use of proceeds as
stated in the Prospectus.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2018
and the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 140 to 143 respectively.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 65 to 67 and 68 to 81 respectively of this
Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Relationship is the fundamental of business. The Group fully
understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with the customers to fulfil their immediate and
long-term need.

All of our full-time employees are paid a fixed salary and may
be granted other allowances, based on their positions. In
addition, discretionary bonuses may also be awarded to our
employees based on the employee’s performance. We
conduct regular performance appraisals to ensure that our
employees receive feedback on their performances.

Our major suppliers are primarily sub-contractors for our
property and management services. The Group is dedicated
to develop good relationship with suppliers and sub-
contractors as long-term business partners to ensure stability
of the Group's business.

POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The following are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

Business Risk

A significant portion of our operations is concentrated in
Shanghai. We expect that Shanghai will continue to account
for a significant portion of our operations in the near future.
If Shanghai experiences any adverse economic conditions, or
if the local government authorities adopt regulations that
place additional restrictions or burdens on us or on the
property consultation industry in general, our business,
financial position and results of operations could be materially
and adversely affected.
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Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 and the financial position of the Group as
at that date are set out on pages 140 to 143.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 5
June 2019 to Tuesday, 11 June 2019 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4 June 2019.

SUMMARY OF 5 YEARS’ FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the 5 years
ended 31 December 2018 is set out on page 250.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the outstanding bank loans and other borrowings
of the Company during the year are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed shares of the
Company during the year, except that the trustee of the
Share Award Scheme, pursuant to the terms of the rules and
trust deed of the Share Award Scheme, purchased on the
Stock Exchange a total of 6,550,000 shares of the Company
at a total consideration of approximately HK$15.0 million.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the year are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The payment and the amount of dividends
(if any) will depend on the Group's results of operation, cash
flows, financial position, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Group, future prospects,
and other factors that the Group may consider relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders.

Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject
to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
constitutional documents, which indicate that dividends may
be declared and paid out of the profits, realised or unrealised,
or from any reserves set aside form profits which the
Directors determine is no longer needed. With the sanction
of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be declared and
paid out of the share premium account or any other fund or
account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount will
be declared or distributed in any years.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had distributable
reserves of approximately RMB227.7 million (2017:
RMB206.9 million) calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. This includes the
Company’s share premium account of approximately
RMB170.2 million (2017: RMB177.2 million) which is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Period, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers
accounted for approximately 26.7% of the total sales for the
year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 8.5%.

Purchases from the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 27.4% of the total purchases for the year and
the purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 11.8%.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associate(s) or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
5 largest customers or 5 largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Jia Shaojun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yongjun
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Xiao Xingtao, Mr. Cheng Dong and Mr. Shu Wa Tung
Laurence will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence of the Company and the
Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing independence
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 82 to 97 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director,
has entered into a service contract with our Company for an
initial fixed term of three years and renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other expiring at the
end of the initial term or any time thereafter.

The independent non-executive Directors have been
appointed from the Listing Date subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of our
Company and until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either the Company or the
respective Director.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed to have a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within 1 year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance, to which the Company, its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year. There are no transactions, arrangements and
contract of significance to the business of the Group between
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, or a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year. During
the year, no transactions, arrangements and contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Group by a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, the
Directors, the secretary and other officers of the Company
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts, to
the extent as permitted by laws. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company
during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) were as follows:

EERADANEMEBEE 2R -
EROREEIE 2 EERAXR

R2018F 12 A31H @ EERNARQ A E R
E(ERxRFHFLBEGROIZEXVER) 2 Kh &E
BARR 1D R HE A (a) BB IR 3B 5 M EAE 150158 XV 2B
FT7R8DEBAMAR R R Z #Ew (BIER
BEHFRAEGRIIC ZERXESHE EIHER
EZBZ2EERAR) (b)) BRAREBFESRK
HEROIEI2EAEFE 2 ERM o #RE 2k
(QOZBBRBELMBETAESETBESF I ZHHIRLEST
B (M2 ZE<FRI ) BAARRE) R AT 2 #E s 0
T

Number of issued

ordinary/underlying Percentage
Director Nature of interests Shares held of interest
e RTERE/
= EmtE HEER OB FrihfEEB D
Mr. Xiao Xingtao Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
B EE LA B S — AT HAFERER
REHEEER
Mr. Fu Qichang Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
BHESE B 5 — AT HAFERER
REHEEER
Notes: PIE -

(1) As at 31 December 2018, 294,000,000 Shares were held by Partner
Summit, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is
owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by
Pine Fortune. Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu own the entire issued share capital
of Vital Kingdom and Source Forth respectively. Thus, both Mr. Xiao
and Mr. Fu were deemed to be interested in 294,000,000 Shares.

(2) All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares
of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors, or their associate(s) had any interests or short
positions in the shares or debt securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

A no time during the year were the rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to date of this report,
no Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is
considered to have an interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group, pursuant to the Listing Rules, other
than those business of which the Directors of the Company
were appointed as Directors to represent the interest of the
Company and/or the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted the Share Option
Scheme on 15 November 2017. No share option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme"”) on 30 August 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the Scheme is to recognize the contribution by
certain Employees and give incentives thereto in order to
motivate them for the continual operation and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personal for further
development of the Group. Unless terminated earlier
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be
effective for a period of four (4) years commencing on the
Adoption Date provided that no contribution to the trust
fund will be made by the Company on or after 31 May 2020.
Please refer to the Company announcement dated 30 August
2018 for further details of the Scheme.

During the Period, the trustee of the Scheme, pursuant to the
terms of the rules and trust deed of the Scheme, purchased
on the Stock Exchange a total of 6,550,000 shares of the
Company at a total consideration of approximately HK$15.0
million. As at 31 December 2018, no shares were awarded to
any director or employee of the Company under the Scheme.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than
the Directors) had interest in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company which (a) would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein:

% 13 28 B 5+ &l

ARNTIDH2018FE8 A30 B ([R4 B HA ) £/
It 2B Et 8l ([ &5t 8l)) - ZFtEl 2 BN ARER
AT REFTENERIA T 126 - USEERIA
BREBEATEBEERERRYS  URAREE
HE—TSEBEWSIGBEAT - BRIEBIEZTENERK
RERIE ZETEBNERB BTN FER
AR BIIRAARLARN2020F5 A31H 2%
TgrEEESIERHER - BEZTE 2 HibqF
15 B2HARFIHEA2018F8A30H Z AL -

REAA - ZEt 812 ARIBZAT 2R AER R E
ARERBIMNERELNISOBEEELESE
KAl E ££6,550,000 0% & 17 - 720184 12 A
318 ERBEZFERARAEMNESHIE
BRMRMD

FERRK

R2018F 12 A31H M TNAL(BEERIN AR
NAIRMND RAEBRDF S () BRIBEES K H
EIEBIZEXVELSE 2 & 37 EBrAIAR 7 R AT
B2 b ALABREESRBEKMNE
336K TEFEZE MR

Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
e &7
B HERG FrihfEs
REERE HE Mg Eg=] Bok
Partner Summit Beneficial owner 294,000,000 72.6%
am| E=EEA
Vital Kingdom Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
=1 HE— AT HFREOER

REHLAEER
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EEREE

Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
FriFe 81T
B EERe P&
BREEE A Mg ESq=] B
Source Forth Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
REL LS — AT HERFARER
R EE R
Pine Fortune Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
=1 HE— ATHRRANER
R EE R
Mr. Chen Interest held jointly with another 294,000,000 72.6%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
PR A& HE— AT HRRANER
R EE R @
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Interest of controlled 30,000,000 7.4%
Limited (“S.1.") corporation®
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings RGN EEERC
Limited (['S.1.])
Shanghai Industrial Holdings Interest of controlled 30,000,000 7.4%
Limited (“Shanghai Industrial”) corporation®
EBEFXERERAR([LEER]) XEHEE#EZE®
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled 30,000,000 7.4%
(Holdings) Company Limited corporation®
("Shanghai Industrial Investment”)
EBEX(ER)ARAT (T LEBEXE] ZIEHEEER®
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled 30,000,000 7.4%

Treasury Company Limited
(“Shanghai Treasury”)
Shanghai Industrial Investment
Treasury Company Limited
(['shanghai Treasury])

corporation®
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Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
e 81T
B HERe FrihfE s
BREEE A ERME ESg=] B
Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited  Interest of controlled 30,000,000 7.4%
(“Shanghai Investment") corporation®
EBREZERERAR([ LERE]) XEHEE#EZ®
Sure Advance Holdings Limited Beneficial owners® 30,000,000 7.4%

(M
BIRERARAR ([@R])

Notes:

(1

)

3

Sure Advance”)

ERmBEEAC

All the interests stated below represent long positions in the shares of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2018, 294,000,000 Shares were held by Partner
Summit, which is owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source
Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune. Mr. Chen owns the entire issued share
capital of Pine Fortune. Therefore, Mr. Chen, Pine Fortune, Vital
Kingdom and Source Forth were deemed to be interested in
294,000,000 Shares.

Information is extracted from the corporate substantial shareholder
notices filed by S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai Industrial
Investment, Shanghai Treasury, Shanghai Investment and Sure
Advance on 11 December 2017. Shanghai Industrial Investment
directly holds 100% of the issued share capital of Shanghai Treasury,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of Shanghai
Investment, which in turn holds 47.77% of the issued share capital of
Shanghai Industrial, which in turn holds 100% of the issued share
capital of S.I., which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of
Sure Advance. Therefore, S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai Industrial
Investment, Shanghai Treasury and Shanghai Investment are taken to
be interested in the number of shares held by Sure Advance pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, there was
no person who (i) had an interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which (a)
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

SFO;
SFO,

or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (ii)

were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying the right
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any options in respect of such capital.
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INTEREST BEARING BANK LOANS

Particulars of interest bearing bank loans of the Group as at
31 December 2018 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are
set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements
under “Employee benefits” on page 197.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
percentage of the ordinary shares in public hands exceed
25% as at the date of this annual report.
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EEREE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS FER S

Set out below are the details of the connected transactions X & 5B 8 8B F B A D FIEER
and continuing connected transactions of the Company as 5 RIHERERX HHIEEE °

required to be reported under the Listing Rules.

Non-Exempt Connected Transactions TEREVBERS
(1) The acquisition of the entire equity interest in (1) WEE EEMERENDIRIRE
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu
Date of agreement : 26 April 2018
IiEASE: © 201854 A26H
Parties . (i) Pujiang Property, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company; and

(i) Pujiang Holding, the equity interest of which is owned by Mr. Xiao
as to 87%, Mr. Fu as to 10% and Mr.Chen as to 3%, a group of
Controlling Shareholders.

kP CG) RIWE ARRNEEEZENBAR &

(i) JAUTIEN c R L - BRAE MR AE (fBA—AEIER
BB 87% ~ 10% K& 3% °

Assets to be acquired . Pursuant to the Agreement, Pujiang Holding agreed to sell and Pujiang
Property agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in the Shanghai
Bund Ke Pu.

FWBEE C REHE O RIERRAEHEHINERERBE HBINERDEN 2
BRAHE -

Consideration . The consideration for the Acquisition in the sum of RMB3,109,929.82

was paid in a lump sum by cash by Pujiang Property to Pujiang Holding
within 30 days from the date of the Agreement.

The consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the Pujiang Property and the Pujiang Holding and with
reference to the net asset value of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu as at 31
December 2017 as appraised by an independent valuer on 23 February
2018. The consideration of the Acquisition was financed by the Group's
internal resources.

K& D BB ETEMREB AR 3,109,929.82 7T B ik H EAE 30 B NEET
MEAR & — RS TR -

RETIEETIYWENHITIERSE FEINERDER 2017412 A31H
MEEFE(EBIHEMN2018E 2 A23 B#ET M) B A TER
BT o  WEEEMREBEBAREBNANILEREN

Details of the transactions contemplated under the W TE TR TS SR ED R AR
Acquisition Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s FIEHEA2018F 4 A28 AR EWE -

announcement dated 28 April 2018.
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EERESE

Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions TERRNESERERS
Property Management Framework Agreement

(1) MEERERNGR

7 June 2018

20186 A7H

(i)  Anhui Bund, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group; and

(i) Anhui Wan Tou, a connected person of the Group at the subsidiary
level

() ZRINE ARAIREFZENBRF &

(i) ZREKR AEERMELFEENEEALT

From 7 June 2018 to 31 December 2020 (both dates inclusive), during
which period the parties may from time to time enter into specific
agreements in relation to the provision of property management services
by Anhui Bund to Anhui Wan Tou or its associates, which shall be
subject to the terms stipulated in the Property Management Framework
Agreement

20186 A7 HEE2020F 12 A31 HIL(BEEEMA) - R
HRAET A S A AR N M 2 B IR X B IR R TSR] L A
ez - AR Y EEIRIER TP E IR AR R

Anhui Bund shall provide property management services to Anhui Wan
Tou or its associates

RGNS M R R S B B AR R B IR RS

Pursuant to the Property Management Framework Agreement, the
property management fees chargeable for the property management
services shall be determined by the parties through arm’s length
negotiations with reference to the comparable fees charged by the
Group for services to independent property owners of other similar
projects and on normal commercial terms or better
RIBYEEBERTG R SO EEBRBAUBNMEERERS
RIH 2R B RL A E A A IR B 8998 7 5 F IR AR TS TR Y AT

BEHRERE  SRATEERZERHEBKRAKIEEZEREE
Annual cap for the year ended : RMB18,000,000
31 December 2018
BZE2018F 12 A31HIEFE AR 18,000,000
WEFE LR
Actual consideration for the
year ended 31 December
2018
HE2018F 12 A31HIEFE : AR 14,033,076 T
NERRE

RMB14,033,076

Details of the transactions contemplated under Property Y% IEIE SR IE N EVE TR BB
Management Framework Agreement were disclosed in DRAANTHEA2018FE6 A7 AL
the Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2018. WEE o
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As confirmed by our Directors, the principal business of
Anhui Wan Tou and its associates is property development
only, they do not provide any property management service.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions and have confirmed that the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group;(ii) on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and are in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company were engaged to report the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 " Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transaction under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, have issued an
ungualified letter containing their findings and conclusion in
respect of the continuing connected transactions for the
Period disclosed above in accordance with the Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules and confirmed nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the continuing
connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions
involving the provisions of goods or services by the
Group;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing

these continuing connected transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. Apart from the connected
transactions disclosed above, the other related party
transactions as disclosed in note 35 fall under the scope of
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules but are exempted from reporting, annual review,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") as stated in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited:

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF

LISTED COMPANIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. In
response to specific enquiry made by the Company, each of
the Directors confirmed that he had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to maintaining
sustainable working practices and pays close attention to
ensure all resources are efficiently utilized.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Period, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by our Group that has a significant impact on
the business and operations of our Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established
in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code, for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group's financial reporting process and internal controls.
Currently the audit committee comprises the 3 independent
non-executive Directors, who have reviewed the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Ernst & Young who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at a fee to be agreed by the
Board.

On behalf of the Board

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Xiao Xingtao

Chairman

Hong Kong
27 March 2019
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Ernst & Young KB SEHEH Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower EBhE Fax {8 E:+852 2868 4432
1 Tim Mei Avenue REBE1E www.ey.com

i,i Central, Hong Kong s kB2

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Riverine China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 140 to 249,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

1 34 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Key audit matter

HEEZEE

18 M 2 B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRRELKSENERL R

Recoverability of trade receivables

B 5 IR &) AT [B] 1

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
trade receivable is RMB83,083,000, which accounted
for approximately 25.8% of the current assets of the
Group.

2018F 12 A31H - EZRYIGRIENRESERA
K #83,083,0007L X116 EEBERHEEN
25.8% °

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements and
the significant judgement exercised by the
management in estimating the expected credit loss
(ECL) of trade receivables including, the existence of
disputes, historical payment record, forward looking
factors and any other available information that may
impact the estimated expected credit loss.

EEHE S RKFIEN PR E W ER A —THEREEZ
RE AREGEMBEREAMEERBREREAN B
ERENEE S REKENTEREEEE (FEHE
EEE) (BERAFHEMY - BEX ML - AT
AERA g EMGTEREEBEENTMEMAIEE
B R ZRE R E R HE -

Please refer to note 3 and 19 to the consolidated

financial statement for related disclosures.
EBAEEEE  FRHEGAUBHRMERMFTIRI9 -

Our procedures in relation to assessing the recoverability
of trade receivables included:
EENEE S RBFIART D L E P B 4

— obtained an understanding of how management
assessed the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, and evaluated the design and
operating effectiveness of key control relating to
the monitoring of the recoverability of trade
receivables;
THRERBEMNGESRKFIBRRAEEEENS
AUANHEARMEE B 5 R IE R Y 1 AR
SR 4R e ) AR AT BB AR

— evaluated and tested the methodologies and data/
parameters used by management, including
historical loss information, probability of default,
and expected loss;

A RAREREMATEREE 28 (2E
BEBIBER BHOXKEMER)

— executed substantive analytical review procedure
by analyzing the fluctuations of major customers’
outstanding balance and accounts receivable
turnover days;

HITERDMIERBIET  TERIMEREF
e A5 R R FE N MR B B R B R B 1EOR

— testing, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables to cash receipts
and the related supporting documentation.
REREEES IR & iR MR B A X RIS E
ZREMFIANREREZ BN
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The
Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after
the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\FE —E 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFIT
REVENUE g 5 392,258 363,303
Cost of services provided REARBE KA 6 (324,875) (296,434)
Gross profit EF 67,383 66,869
Other income and gains HE U A R Uz 5 6,724 7,611
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RGBS (6,073) (4,682)
Administrative expenses THAX (48,392) (42,690)
Finance costs =D 7 (390) (1,496)
Share of profits and losses of: FEIEAT ARER ¢
Joint ventures B 5,481 5,148
Associates B (b5 7,307 7,159
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR % A 5 A 6 32,040 37,919
Income tax expense PRSI 7 2 10 (5,800) (1,752)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREF 26,240 36,167
Attributable to: AR AL :
Owners of the parent ISYNETEF PN 25,405 35,919
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M A 835 248
26,240 36,167
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE R ARIEBEEIZEBEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EEESRER
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB) HARNEE (AR 12 0.06 0.12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEEsREMZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TR AR¥SFT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A 26,240 36,167
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hib2mEWK =
Other comprehensive income that may  7\k&1% 23RS 7] 42 & 37
be reclassified to profit or loss in NIEEE=EN
subsequent periods: Hth 2 mEmKas -
Exchange differences: MEH Z5E
Exchange differences on translation BMEIBINERE LR
of foreign operations B 5 = %8 2,389 (1,739)
Net other comprehensive income that ~ FARE1% HARS 7] L & 5
may be reclassified to profit or loss DEEERH
in subsequent periods HEi2mEikaF58 2,389 (1,739)
Other comprehensive income that will ~ BE/2 HAfS I~ & &5
not be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEETH
subsequent periods: HEmzmikas
Equity investments designated at fair 8 EERAFEFTA
value through other comprehensive HEip 2 mUEsH
income: BRARE
Changes in fair value N EE = -
Income tax effect PSR E - -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR R E b 2 E Uz -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIRRB 1B 2,389 (1,739)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREZEKRAAE
FOR THE YEAR 28,629 34,428
Attributable to: AR AT -
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZS DN 27,794 34,180
Non-controlling interests FEIE SRS 835 248
28,629 34,428
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2018 7220184 12 A 31 H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E 5
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HizF ARET T AREEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR E 13 3,750 2,003
Intangible assets B EE 14 895 19
Investments in associates NEt S P ELE 15 41,283 34,936
Investments in joint ventures NELSPEKE 16 18,226 15,395
Equity investments designated at fair ~ &FIE AT EEA
value through other comprehensive H 2 mEUR A
income fE A& 17 700 -
Available-for-sale investments HEERE 17 - -
Deferred tax assets BREFIAE E 28 35 10,089
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 64,889 62,442
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories =g 18 284 97
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 19 82,943 56,972
Prepayments and other receivables FE FRIE B H A FE MR 20 62,133 74,430
Restricted bank balances SR HISRIT 45 5% 21 11,107 17,084
Wealth management products HEEEESR 22 1,000 2,000
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEESTABED
profit or loss ERMEE 23 84,527 -
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEY 24 80,481 156,100
Total current assets RBEERE 322,475 306,683
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables 2 SN IA 25 53,043 58,368
Other payables and accruals HaEN I N ETER 26 65,108 69,966
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEERITER 27 20,000 5,000
Tax payable R RIE 9,470 20,288
Total current liabilities TEREARE 147,621 153,622
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETEE 174,854 153,061
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBARE
LIABILITIES 239,743 215,503
Net assets BEFE 239,743 215,503
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

As at 31 December 2018 72201812 A31H

2018 2017
—E—N\F —E—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HizF AREFT T AREEF T
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to owners BARERABGESR
of the parent
Share capital [z 29 3,391 3,349
Reserves & 30 227,698 206,905
231,089 210,254
Non-controlling interests Bl iy ey 8,654 5,249
Total equity IS 239,743 215,503
Xiao Xingtao Fu Qichang
HEE BHES
Director Director
E- 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAFMEARE
Exchange- Non-
Share Share Capital Merger  Statutory fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve Reserve profits Total interests equity
E£5E FER

Bx  REEE  ERRE  AHREE  LehE i REER st B Y 4
RMBOOO  RMB000*  RMBIOOO*  RMB'OOD*  RMB'OO0*  RMB000*  RMBOOO*  RMBIOO0  RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTL* ARETL* ARETT* ARBTR* ARETR* ARETI* ARETT ARETR ARETR
Note 28 Note29()  Note29(i) ~ Note29(i) ~ Note 29(v)  Note 29(v)

Wikas o ME200)  MEE29G) W29 K290 HEE200)

At 1 January 2017 R17E1A18 - 60,750 9470 (30,342) 8,586 - 7807 56,271 4,01 60,292
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - - 35,919 35,919 248 36,167
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMRANE :
Exchange difference on translation of BEBNEBE
foreign operations EiES - - - - - (1,739) - (1,739) - (1,739)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRRANELE - - - - - (1,739) 35919 34,180 28 34,428
Non-contralling interests arising from BEINFEEEN
additional capital injection FERER - - - - - - - - 980 930
Issue of shares for the Initial RERAREE
Public Offering (IPO") ([BRAFEE]
kb 841 130471 - - - - - 131312 - 131312
Transfer from share premium ERaRHE 2,508 (2,508) - - - - - - - -
Share issue expenses BOEGT - (1509 - - - - - M0 - (M09
Transfer from retained profits BRERTEN - - - - 3712 - 3712) - - -
At 31 December 2017 R2017E128318 3,349 177,204 9470 (30,342) 12,298 (1,739 40,014 210,254 5249 215,503
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A18 3349 177,204 9470 (30342) 12,298 (1,739) 40,014 210,254 5,249 215,503
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 25,405 25,405 835 26,240
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREHRENE
Exchange difference on translation of RERNEEH
foreign operations ERES - - - - - 2389 - 2389 - 2389
Total comprehensive income for the year EREANGAR - - - - - 2,389 25,405 27,19 835 28,629

Disposal of equity interests of a subsidiary LE-FHBARN

AR - - 14 - - - - 14 752 766
Non-controling interests arising from BINTEELR
additional capital injection SRR = - - - - - - - 858 858
Issue of shares BkG L) 6,264 - - - - - 6,306 - 6,306
Business corbination under common TRREHOEHAR
control - - (18) - - - - (18) = (18)
Acquisition of equity interests from the W -EEEHBAT
equity holder of an then associate EalEANRTES - - - - - - - - 960 960
Final 2017 dividend declared BER0TERERS = (9,726) = = = = = (9,726) = (9,726)
Interim 2018 dividend declared BER0IBERERE = (3,535) = = = = = (3.535) = (3.535)
Transfer from retained profits EEERDE - - - - 2436 - (2.436) = = =
At 31 December 2018 H2018E 124318 3391 170,207 9,466 (30,342) 14,734 650 62,983 231,089 8,654 239,743

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~ * MR2018F 12 A31H  ZERBEREZEAUBMRR

RMB227,698,000 in the consolidated statements of financial position KA A FEE AR 227,698,000 (2017F : AR
as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB206,905,000). % 206,905,000 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Biat AR¥T AR®EFTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERLETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 5 B 4 A 32,040 37,919
Adjustments for: AT S IEMERE -
Finance costs R E AN 7 390 1,496
Share of profits and losses of: DA T ARIER ¢
Joint ventures BETE (5,481) (5,148)
Associates B3 (7,307) (7,159)
Interest income FEWA 5(b) (552) (855)
Depreciation of items of property, W HEKREER
plant and equipment e 13 906 551
Amortisation of intangible assets A 14 106 28
Listing expenses X 6 = 10,592
Provision for impairment of trade B 5 W GRIE R E R
receivable 140 -
Net loss on disposal of items of LEME - BEMERHE
property, plant and equipment, net T8 B i8558 6 4 487
20,246 37,911
Decrease/(Increase) in restricted bank SR 4|58 1T 4564
balances A, () 5,977 (5,695)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FEOEEMm,Em (187) 15
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables £ 5 fE W XIE (32 50) (26,111) 4,471
Increase in prepayments, deposits and ~ FEfTFIE - S K&
other receivables 4t i YR TR S 0 (26,053) (3,130)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables 2 ZFENRIE G4 ) 1L A0 (5,325) 7,953
Decrease in other payables and HE e RIE N ETER
accruals Vo (4,858) (1,312)
Cash flows generated from operations &&EEFFTEREERE (36,311) 40,213
Mainland China corporate income tax 2 457 B A Hh 1> 3 AT 1550
paid (6,564) (9,968)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating & E8) (FrA), Fr53R4
activities MEFEE (42,875) 30,245
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv—\ é Iﬁ, ﬁ 5}2&:% %

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat AR®T T AR®EF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDFRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant ~ BEEWX - HER
and equipment HHEIEE (2,645) (700)
Purchases of Intangible assets BAELEE (982) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BEK
property, plant and equipment RIETEE TS FUE 3 41
Dividends received from joint ventures WEURB AL EMKE 2,650 5,024
Investments in joint ventures and RE B E R EDER
associates wE - (980)
Business combination under common  HFEHEH TR EK S G
control, net of cash paid (HBEANES) 31(b)/(c) (19) -
Repayments from a related party RE— BT ER - 30,112
Advances to a related party A — %4 RE B 7 A 3R (1,700) -
Acquisition of equity interests from the Ui —FE B A &8
then equity holder of a subsidiary, RIEFB AR ER -
net of cash received YR e 31(a) 1,748 -
Purchase of equity investments at fair ~ BEE A FET A HAM
value through other comprehensive 2 EWEMRERE
income (700) -
Prepayment to a potential acquisition 7] g {TURAE EIE Y
TR FRIE (10,000) -
Subscription of wealth management REVEEEESD
products (3,000) (2,000)
Redemption of wealth management BN EEEEM
products 4,000 -
Interest received 2 E 552 855
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing R&E®) (FTA),Fris
activities RemnEFHE (10,093) 32,311
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Biat AR®T T AR®EFTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans and other IRITERREAMERAE
borrowings IR 30,000 5,000
Repayment of bank loans and other BEBRITERNHEMMER
borrowings (15,000) (50,000)
Non-controlling interests arising from — ZEYMNT & & A4 A FEIE L
additional capital injection = 858 980
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FTIS5IE 56,514 81,104
Disposal of equity interests of a HE—FHB AT
subsidiary N 766 -
Listing expenses X - (19,739)
Dividends paid BT S (13,261) -
Interest paid ERFIE (390) (1,496)
Net cash flows from financing activities Bt & /EBTEREREF5E 59,487 15,849
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRRESEEYWEM
EQUIVALENTS HE 6,519 78,405
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#MIR 4 RIS SEY
of year 156,100 79,434
Effect of foreign exchange rate change [ R & B 5 2 2,389 (1,739)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERNBELRELZEY
AT END OF YEAR 165,008 156,100
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASHAND HR&RBESESEYE
CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and bank balances B4 NIRTTAER 24 80,481 156,100
Wealth Management products with W R R BB R
original maturity of less than three R=1E A&
months when acquired MEER
= 84,527 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in I E&REXRAREES R
the statement of cash flows BEZEEBY 165,008 156,100
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 11 December 2017 (the “Listing”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
business of property management services in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the
“directors”), the holding company of the Company is
Partner Summit Holdings Limited (the “Parent”), a
company established in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").
The ultimate controlling shareholders of the Company
are Mr. Xiao Xing Tao, Mr. Fu Qi Chang and Mr. Chen
Yao (together the “Controlling Shareholders”).

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows:

1.

AAIREEER

TR BIIERAR AT (AR RIEHA
SEHENTEEREREIMA I RER
RBERAT o NAF KM I EE AU A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e K X Al A2017F 12 AN BESE
BEERZMBR AT (TBRAT]) ERE
mEml e

Ape) R EMBAR (FEIAKE])EER
EREARKME (THEDREMEERE
AR5 255

ARAEE(EFDRR ARANER
ARAaeERERARTEAR]) - —M
ERBRLZHS ((RBREZES )KL
DA e RRBBELERIRR S E HFE
- BEERERRELEL (A [ERK
R e

AR A AR
AAFEEMBAANEENT

Percentage of equity

Place and date of Nominal value of attributable to the
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share  AQRELEZAE AL
Name place of operation capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
FMAL/ BRI
BRHR LER/CiEf
£ AEREXHE RANEE E# B IEXHR
Sino Ease Global Limited British Virgin Islands Us$100 100% - Investment holding
16 June 2016
PRIRRBR AT RERLHES 100%7T 100% - REBR
201656H16H
Leading Way Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$ 68,431,000 - 100%  Investment holding
20 May 2016
VREEBRAT] BB 68,431,000/ - 100% H®EER
2016F5H20H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2EREEER(E)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

RENMEBLRNESR (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date of Nominal value of  attributable to the
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share  AAREEEREDL
Name place of operation capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
AL/ BT
BLHER LER /B
£ REREREE RANEE H# mE IEER
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. Shanghai, the PRC, RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Property management services
Mainland China
2 December 2002
LERINEERATF RERH - HE e AE® - 100% WEERRS
2002612 A2H 50,000,000t
Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd.  Shanghai, the PRC, RMB7,700,000 - 100%  Property management services
Mainland China
8 April 1996
LEINENEBRAT hEA - PELE N - 100% WRERRS
19964 H8H 7,700,0007T
Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Shanghai, the PRC, RMB10,000,000 - 51%  Property management services
Management Co. Ltd. Mainland China
1 April 1996
HEARYEERBRAT hER - FE LS =3 - 51% MEERRS
19964518 10,000,000 7T
Anhui Bund Property Management  Hefei, the PRC, RMB5,000,000 - 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Mainland China
26 December 2005
ZENENEERARAA HER - FEAE =3 - 51% MEERRE
2005%12 A 26H 5,000,0007C
Shanghai Bund Green Construction  Shanghai, the PRC, RMB500,000 - 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Mainland China
10 August 2004
HENERICRRBRAT hER - FE LS = - 100% MEERRS
200458 A 10H 500,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

NI REBER (B)

RENMEBRRNESR (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date of Nominal value of attributable to the
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share  AAREEEREDL
Name place of operation capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
AR/ BT
BRHR LER/CHf
£ AERERLH RANEE HE mE IEER
Shanghai Hongji Property Shanghai, the PRC, RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Mainland China
18 March 2016
LBIENEERARLA mER FELE N - 100% WEERRS
20163 A 18H 3,000,000t
Shanghai Jiegu Technology Shanghai, the PRC, RMB5,000,000 - 85%  Technology research services
Co., Ltd. Mainland China
3 May 2016
DENAMBERRA BRI - PR LS ARE - 85%  iMHT R
2016F5H3H 5,000,0007T
Shanghai Pujiang Ruizheng Shanghai, the PRC, RMB930,000 - 100%  Property management services
Property Co., Ltd. Mainland China
8 January 2004
HEBIRENEERAR BRI - PR G ARE - 100% MEREERHB
2004F1H8H 930,0007T
Anhui Pujing Property Hefei, the PRC, RMB6,000,000 - 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Mainland China
10 May 2017
ZHBRNEERDR HER - RS =3 - 51% MEEERS
2017F5R10H 6,000,000t
Shanghai Aidepu Trading Co., Ltd  Shanghai, the PRC, RMB200,000 - 100%  Hardware wholesale
Mainland China
23 November 2006
HENEERERRAR hER PE L ARE - 100%  BEfFHLE
2006411 A23H 200,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2EREEER(E)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

RENMEBLRNESR (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date of Nominal value of attributable to the
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Company

registration and registered share  AAREEEREDL

Name place of operation capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
AL/ BT
ERtER LER/Cif
£ AERERLH RANEE H# Mg TEER
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering  Shanghai, the PRC, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Engineering Management
Management Company Ltd. Mainland China services
30 November 2004
DEMERAIRERERAR  PEAM PELS =3 - 100% IREERS
2004411 A30H 10,000,000 7T
Ningbo Puyong Property Zhejiang, the PRC, RMB1,000,000 - 51%  Property Management services
Management Co., Ltd. Mainland China
15 August 2018
ERRENERBERLA REA - PEMT N - 51%  MEEERS
2018F8 A 15H 1,000,0007T
Nan tong Pu Sheng Intelligent Jiangsu, the PRC, RMB6,000,000 - 51%  Property Management services
Property Co., Ltd. Mainland China
18 October 2017
mEBREENEERAT hEIA, - P EL & ARE - 51% MEERRS
20174107 188 6,000,000t
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 REEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for the wealth management products and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi(“RMB"”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(©) the Group’'s voting rights and potential voting
rights.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss is attributed to the owners of the parent
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements

Amendments to HKFRS 2 (lassification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Annual Improvements

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration
Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

2014-2016 Cycle

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, HKFRS 4,
HKAS 40 and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle,
which are not relevant to the preparation of the
Group's financial statements, the nature and the impact
of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The adoption
of HFRS9 has no significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements as at 1 January 2018.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position, including the effect of replacing HKAS
39's incurred credit loss calculations with HKFRS
9's expected credit losses (“ECLs").
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts
under HKAS 39 and the balances reported under
HKFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

2.2 B BERBENEE (8
(@ (&)

PERFTEE)

R2018F 1 A1 BIREE B %£A
F39GEMREELERER M BE®RE
ERIFE IR 2R &R 2 A E R0

T
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
BBETENE0RHE EBUEREENFIRIHE
Re-
Category Amount  classification ECL Other Amount  Category
B
Lap] kXl EXNSE 513 it £5 Lep]
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fist ARBTT ARETT AR%TT AREFT ARETT
Financial assets SHEE
Trade receivables Z SR L&R! 56,972 - - - 56,972 AC?
Finandial assets included in SIABMTER
prepayments and other At FEATIAR)
receivables SHAE L8R 72,505 - - - 72,505 AC
Restricted bank balances RIRHRITRE L&R 17,084 - - - 17,084 AC
Wealth management products ~ BIE2EBER L&R 2,000 - - - 2,000 FvpL3
Cash and cash equivalents BERESEEN L&R 156,100 - - - 156,100 AC
Total assets wEE 304,661 - - - 304,661
1. L&R: Loans and receivables 1. L&R: B K FE ML FR IR
2. AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised 2. AC IR AT ENSREERSREA
cost &
3. FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3. FVPL IR AT EFABENSREAE
Impairment e

The Group performed a detailed analysis which
considers all reasonable and supportable
information, including forward-looking elements,
for estimation of expected credit losses on its
financial assets in accordance with the
requirements of HKFRS 9. The adoption of HKFRS
9 has had no significant impact on the impairment
of the financial assets of the Group. No additional
credit loss allowance has been recognised against
accumulated profits as the amounts involved are
insignificant as at 1 January 2018.

The transition to HKFRS 9 has no impact on
reserves and retained profits as at 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts
with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability
account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are
included in notes 5 to the financial statements. As
a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect to
revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the
modified retrospective method of adoption. Under
this method, the standard can be applied either to
all contracts at the date of initial application or
only to contracts that are not completed at this
date. The Group has elected to apply the standard
to contracts that are not completed as at 1
January 2018. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has no
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements as at 1 January 2018.

(i) Consideration received from

customers in advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
recognised consideration received from
customers in advance as other payables.
Under HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as
contract liabilities which are included in
other payables and accruals.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(0)

(Continued)

(i) Consideration received from
customers in advance (Continued)
Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group reclassified RMB8&,183,000 from
other payables to contract liabilities as at 1
January 2018 in relation to the consideration
received from customers in advance as at 1
January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15,
RMB5,750,000 was reclassified from other
payables to contract liabilities in relation to
the consideration received from customers
in advance for the provision of property
management services.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to
determine the date of the transaction when
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity
receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or
liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date
of the transaction for the purpose of determining
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income (or part of it)
is the date on which an entity initially recognises
the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or
non-monetary liability (such as deferred income)
arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising
the related item, the entity must determine the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. The interpretation has
had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the Group’s accounting policy for
the determination of the exchange rate applied
for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or
non-monetary liabilities is consistent with the
guidance provided in the interpretation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
23 EEMERKRERNEBMBREE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Leases

Insurance Contracts’

Definition of Material

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures'
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described

below.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it must
include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable
of acquiring the business and continue to produce
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of
outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process
is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EHEMGEMSARERNEBU R REE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases.
The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a
lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses
unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events,
such as change in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine those- payments. Lessees will
generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a

1 60 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Bl (&)

BBV BRELENE 16T EGTE
AFE17HRAE FR(BARMBHRERE
Z88) REFINECLHRSREH
5 FE(FRREZES) REE 1550
KEME — BERBARB(ERREBZE
) -REE27RAHESAENERT A
MR ZHAE © ZERH I BRHERER -
AFE 2 REBEZRA WESFAEMEA
AHERABAROHEEEREBE - ZER|
BREMEAEARERZERNEEE -
EREEEELREMHEE NHEMKA
5l A AR B EAEREE N (A
HERE)  MEEERNEUBEREREE
RN (BEREEE)  ERAEEERR
AR RETITE RAEDRER R E
BRIFERAREENER BB GTERIF 40
BAREMERZER AP MERAEME
M —mE - BEM&E - HERER

MHENFMBD - ABAKBREBER
EHEMHERENNERXLERERER
ENFER - ABANTKEARELESE TS
(BN ME ) - BRETERKEENRD
BHINREHEYMZENRER) KHE
A EHERE . —RWME - AEAKRE
REFEHERESHE  FRYEME
BEMAE - BEWBHRELEAE 1657A
THHHEASFEFT LS ERIFE175RA
TEEET AR I R IR L o T A K 4
BEMRTBETENE7TRPNERE D
RAEBDEHERRSEZHELRE
HE - FAEVBREELF 165 2FEHE
ARBEEABRRBEEE G ERIE 1751E
HERZEE - AEAREEAZ@EN



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

modified retrospective approach. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group plans to
adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives.
In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The
right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application. The
Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the
standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end
within 12 months as of the date of initial application.
During 2018, the Group has performed a detailed
assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16.
The Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of
RMB3,754,000 and lease liabilities of RMB3,754,000
will be recognised at 1 January 2019.
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23 EEMERKRERNEBMBREE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope
exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is
applied and does not include long-term interests that in
substance form part of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture, to which the equity method
has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies
HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting
for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to
the net investment, which includes the long-term
interests, only in the context of recognising losses of an
associate or joint venture and impairment of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments on 1 January 2019
and will assess its business model for such long-term
interests based on the facts and circumstances that exist
on 1 January 2019 using the transitional requirements
in the amendments. The Group also intends to apply
the relief from restating comparative information for
prior periods upon adoption of the amendments.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS
12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity
considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the
assumptions an entity makes about the examination of
tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of application as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January
2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

2.3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statements of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures are included in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and comprehensive income. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liguidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and equity investments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for

which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

10%-33.33%
10%-33.33%
10%-33.33%
10%-33.33%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 1 to 3 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

. The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income if both of the
following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled
to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on
an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably
elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can
be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss.

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial
assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

24 EXETHBEME )

BREREMESMEE(E2018F 181
HEBAREEAMKREEREIFRE
THER) (&)

HEBHE (B

BN FEFABZ 2 BEEE)

EMARERNAN(REsmAaBERIESH
FERONTETAEEETEAEZRMEHN
ESHRER  AEERARITETA
HRGERNEB T AFATETEANES
BRARAHNYIFRATEFELHE
FABE BZOTATEBETESRALIE
Z%Eé%?ﬁilﬂﬂﬁ% c MARPTET A
NFEE - BRATEZENIESRER -
BEANKRLRES  KRIENEEMB
NATIEReERER  HERIPBERER
FEYEEEESHTABEZANNSHE
EEEHOER - FETENNE -

BRABE D‘i\wﬂéFIE‘“E’J BEEINA
AETATRERIR eREETRER
HAJ\_MIEI,E:EW%%‘ﬁ%&A
ANBZNEREE -

RERAEMEBMEE(R20185F 141
BRIEAREBEERNEI9REAT
HR)

NSEARE
ERMEENV TR DB RIE A FER
ABEHNEREE B MEREA K
AHHESHRE(RER) EREER
NI ERFRAFEFE  SNEEDR
BERIENRZRA - IR A FETIRE
ANBmEREERI -

BT AR AR AT
' o W1



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS
39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with positive net changes in fair value presented
as other income and gains and negative net changes in
fair value presented as finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 January 2018)" below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted
for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if
their economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
guoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss in finance
costs for loans.

Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity investments.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss in other income, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss
in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned
whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
before 1 January 2018)" below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of
the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future
or until maturity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new
amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred assets is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (@ 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the
Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt
investments. In addition, the Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An
impairment exists if one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet
been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
the other expenses in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to a related party and a joint
venture, and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings
is as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in
HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for
the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on the estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Provision of property management services

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives the
benefits provided by the Group. Like the previous year,
revenue from the Lump sum basis are recognised on a
gross basis, and revenue from fixed remuneration
contracts are recognised on a net basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) Property management services under the
lump sum basis and property management
services under the fixed remuneration basis
The Group charged property management fees in
respect of the property management services on a
lump sum basis and on a fixed remuneration
basis.

On a lump sum basis, the Group are entitled to
retain the full amount of received property
management fees. From the property
management fees, the Group shall bear expenses
associated with, among others, staff, cleaning,
garbage disposal, gardening and landscaping,
security and general overheads covering the
common areas. During the term of the contract, if
the amount of property management fees the
Group collected is not sufficient to cover all the
expenses incurred, the Group is not entitled to
request the property owners to pay the shortfall.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

(a)

Property management services under lump
sum basis and property management services
under fixed remuneration basis (Continued)
Accordingly, on a lump sum basis, the Group
recognises as revenue as the full amount of
property management fees the Group charged to
the property owners and property developers.

These services are performed by an indeterminate
number of acts over a specified period of time.
Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the specified period unless there is
evidence that some other methods better
represents the stage of completion, and the costs
of services is recognised as incurred in connection
with performing such services.

On a fixed remuneration basis, the Group is
entitled to a fixed amount of management fees
the property owners and property developers are
obligated to pay over a specific contract period.
The remainder of the management fee is used as
property management working capital to cover
the property management expenses associated
with the property management work. In the event
of a surplus of working capital after deducting the
relevant property management expenses, the
surplus is generally repayable to the customer. In
the event of a shortfall of working capital to pay
for the relevant property management expenses,
the Group may need to make up for the shortfall
and pay on behalf of the community management
offices first, with a right to recover from the
residents subsequently.

On a fixed remuneration basis, the Group
essentially acts as an agent of the property owners
and property developers and accordingly, the
Group only recognises as its revenue the pre-
determined property management fees on a
straight-line basis over the specified contract
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1

January 2018) (Continued)

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument on a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in
central pension schemes operated by the local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension
schemes.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 ERSHEEME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China use Hong Kong dollars (“HK$")
as their functional currencies, respectively. The
functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is Renminbi.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China,
Renminbi is used as the presentation currency of the
Group. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the
Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts
in advance, the Group determines the transaction date
for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than Renminbi. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Renminbi at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Renminbi at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying values of deferred tax assets at
31 December 2018 were RMB35,000 (2017:
RMB10,089,000). Further details are contained in note
27 to the financial statement.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2018
was nil. (2017: nil). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2018 was RMB31,362,000
(2017: RMB16,470,000). Further details are contained
in note 28 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage
by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised
into business units based on their services and the
Group has only one reportable operating segment
which is engaged in property management services.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form
the above reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group's revenue and operating
profits were generated from providing property
management services in Mainland China and over 90%
of the Group’s identifiable assets and liabilities were
located in Mainland China, no geographical information
in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group's sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue, no information about major customers in
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WiE - Hil AR KE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: Was AT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTTT

Revenue from contracts with customers 22 E A 48U

Property management service BEIMEERRBEHA
income on the lump sum basis 388,140 358,689
Property management service B & %190 % B IR AR S YA
income on the fixed remuneration
basis 4,118 4,614
392,258 363,303
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNHNKE
(i) The following table shows the amounts of () TRITAHEHEERO W ES
revenue recognised in the current reporting period 2 R ZRBFARIERSEAVINS
that was included in the contract liabilities at the HWBEETREIPETRABELNE T
beginning of the reporting period and recognised B AR
from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

2018
—E-N\EF

RMB’000
ARET T

Revenue recognised that was included B R HEHIHIE T A
in contract liabilities at the beginning & 4B &I :
of the reporting period:
Provision of property management REYEEIR RS
services 8,183

LA BEZERER AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
5.

the Group from the relevant government bodies. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W& - HWARWKES (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNHWE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Performance obligations (i) BHEMRE
Information about the Group's performance MR AEEMNEANSTER SN
obligations is summarised below: T
Property management services YR EIEIRTE
The performances obligation is satisfied over time BASTHEREREHEBTK - &
as services are rendered. Management service BREAATIIE—Z2NFOFEET
contracts are for periods of one to four years, or 3o NIREERRREEER o
are billed based on the time incurred.
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining R2018F12H31H ' nBEHRTE
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially B BT (CRFTEKEEBD TH) X FHE
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 are as BT
follows:
RMB'000
AR®ET T
Within one year —F R 247,151
More than one year E—F 122,756
369,907
The remaining performance obligations expected TEHRERA—F I ERRANR TELD
to be recognised in more than one year relate to BEEBNMFANTRAEERSEE
construction services that are to be satisfied within e TEEITE AR TEAEESRN
two years. All the other remaining performance —FAER - EXRENSBELTE
obligations are expected to be recognised within FEXR GBI ERE -
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is
constrained.
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®EF T
Other income HABKA
Bank interest income RITHAEMA 552 855
Government grants* B xEES * 4,942 6,477
Others Efb 1,230 279
6,724 7,611
* Government grants include various subsidies received by * BT ERI5E € B 15 748 & B 18 8 BUR #

BESNZEMEE BMEBRZEHE
MARER G RREEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLAIEF
The Group’'s profit before tax is arrived at after REBBRBANS A TG (GTA) T3 &
charging/(crediting): THEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hist AR®T T ARBTTT
Cost of services provided IRHEIRE A 324,875 296,434
Depreciation E 13 906 551
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & & # §4 14 106 28
Research and development cost A 35K 7,006 3,086
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHE
(defined contribution scheme), (REM|KETED -
social welfare and other HERM REMERN
welfare 32,866 27,350
Minimum lease payments under 48 & M & 18 T & (KHEE 5K
operating leases 2,444 1,318
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R & 960 925
Employee benefit expenses EE®ARXZ
(including directors’ and chief (BREEEREE
executive’s remuneration TBAEME
(note 8): (Kt3E8))
Wages and salaries TERS® 86,500 82,506
Bank charges RITHE 140 95
Office expenses MAERE 2,354 1,260
Listing expenses ayilb3 - 10,592
Compensation expense LB E R
for litigation - 1,280
Net loss on disposal HEME - BER
of items of property, HEIEE BB RE
plant and equipment 4 487
FINANCE COSTS 7. BERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXNRDHTAT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Interest expense on bank borrowings 1T FF BRI X 390 1,496
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEMSE
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the BiE ETRA] - BB D BEHIE 383(1)a)
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section b) QOEROEARARI(RBEESFZEZER)
383(1)(@), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies HOIE 28 BTHRBENFNES REEITH
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ABHBEMT -
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Fees e 312 18
Other emoluments: HEme :
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and E e AP AN
benefits in kind R E YA 2,753 2,117
Pension scheme contributions and RIS ETEIHA K
social welfare @A 240 148
3,305 2,283

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive

directors during the year were as follows:

() BUFHITES
FABENBIERTEENEES N
T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T R AREEFIT

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence ETER LA 104 6
Mr. Cheng Dong BREE 104 6
Mr. Weng Guogiang SR STt 104 6
312 18

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence, Mr. Cheng Dong and
Mr. Weng Guogiang were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 15 November 2017. There were no
other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2017:
Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERIETHBAEME ()

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) HITEERIETHASE
executive

Year ended 31 December 2018
BZE2018F12831BLLEE
Salaries, Pension
bonuses, scheme
allowances contributions
and benefits and social

in kind welfare

gFe- BirE

AL ERER  STEMERR
ue BEYEF HEREFA #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARESTR AR%®Trt AR%®Tx

Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao B S A - 929 = 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHEELLE - 654 80 734
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao R e - 590 80 670
Mr Jiao Shao Jun ELERE - 580 80 660

- 2,753 240 2,993

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE2017F 12831 BILFE

Salaries, Pension
bonuses, scheme
allowances contributions
and benefits and social

Fees in kind welfare Total
e RS
TE4L ~ FEBL K MK

wa BEWEF R #Et

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTIE ARETE ARETT ARETET

Executive directors: HITEE

Mr. Xiao Xing Tao R e - 873 - 873
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHEELE - 654 74 728
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao ERirr - 590 74 664

- 2,117 148 2,265
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIFETHAEM=(E)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) HITEERFETHRAE(E)
executive (Continued)
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao, Mr. Fu Qi Chang and Mr. Xiao HEELE BHEELEERE TFEL
Yu Qiao were appointed as executive directors of HER2016F 10524 HEZ X AEAR
the Company on 24 October 2016, Mr. Xiao Yu AMITES - H THEEN20165F
Qiao was appointed as the chief executive of the 10 24 BEZERARRRIITHARE -
Company on 24 October 2016, and Mr. Jiao Shao MELELER2018F5 A7HEZR
Jun was appointed as executive directors of the ERHTES -
Company on 7 May 2018.
There was no arrangement under which a director FA - BEBEENESHKEETHAER
or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any WES R ERET RS HE o
remuneration during the year.
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HEBRE¥HESR
The directors and the chief executive of the Group FR AEBEERTETHRAEBSEN
during the years including four directors and the chief BEERFETHABQO7F: =4) -
executive (2017: three), details of whose emoluments RERNMEF BN EXHIT8 - 8a T —H
are set out in note 8 above. For the year of the WIARBEZTKFETHRAEN RS FH
remaining one (2017: two) highest paid employees who BEEMNFAMEIOT
are neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —ZE—LF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TF T AR®EF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits b AN (F =395
in kind EYEH 829 1,504
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTBIMHR 16 92
845 1,596

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following band is as follows:

MENFUATHENFESRIFETETHR

Nil to RMB1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T

ABRESHEEAZNT
2017
—E—+F
1 2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions
in which members of the Group are domiciled and
operate. The Group and the Company are not liable for
income tax in Hong Kong as they did not have
assessable income sourced from Hong Kong during the
year.

The Company is a tax-exempted company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.

Under the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT Law"), the
income tax rate became 25% starting from 1 January
2008. Therefore, a provision for the PRC income tax has
been made at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
(2017: 25%) on the assessable profits of the PRC
subsidiaries.

0. FIEH X

AEBANEREERAKEXE QAR
HiEM k& EmaErDEERMELS XIS
B M SIS E R - ARBRARRHBA
BREERSH ARERFATERE
BB ERBTAA

ARBRNFAERSEMAINRKT AT -

RIBFREAREMBEI([HE]) CEMEH
EFEERBEIE] - B2008F1 71
BB E 525% @ Eit - % EH B
NIRRT R @A TSR & 25% (2017
F 1 25%)ETHRERERE -

2018 2017
=i T tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®EF T

Current Mainland China corporate BHAA B b 1 25

income tax PR

Charge for the year FRZ M (4,254) 3,397
Deferred tax (note 28) EIERIE (FI3E28) 10,054 (1,645)
Total tax charge for the year FRBIAX LB 5,800 1,752
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in
which the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to
the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

10. FRfEBixZH (&)
BARE REXNE DM B R B EMATER
ERERDETE B RS E BT AR M PrE A
MBER X B ERM R ENRARX
HEERLAT -

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Profit before tax B 75 ATV A 32,040 37,919
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% HOATEME 25% T ERFIIE 8,010 9,480
Lower tax rates enacted by local b 77 HE BE 2B 4 B B B R
authority (290) (85)
Profit attributable to joint ventures and & &1 3[R Bk &8 10 2 {5 % 7
associates (note (a)) (MHzE @) (3,197) (3,077)
Expenses not deductible for tax R0l 5a 667 318
Release of tax provision upon the expiry BFUX & w12 £ bk 7 I8 B
of statute of limitation (note (b)) (B #E (b)) (3,113) (8,648)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIIEER 3,723 3,764
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 1 AEBEBRH RTEMN
FIEF X 5,800 1,752
Note: 5T -
(@)  The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and associates (@) HBHZE2018FENANBLEEE HHAELE
amounting to RMB4,240,000 for the years ended 31 December LE S EFTE AR 4,240,000 7T (2017 4 -
2018 (2017: RMB4,296,000), is included in “Share of profits AR#4,296,0007T) - ThEt AREE&ER [H1h
and losses of joint ventures and associates” in the consolidated AEDENBEDEIEE] -
statements of profit or loss.
(b) The release of a tax provision of RMB3,113,000, represented (b) fRG T ITERE ARY3,113,000 TEEH E 2014

differences between tax provided under the Deemed Profit
Basis and Accounting Book Basis for certain entities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014. Such provision is
only released upon the latter of i) the receipt of confirmation
from the competent tax bureau that the adoption of the
deemed profit tax assessment basis and tax rate following the
provisions of relevant PRC tax laws, which was received in April
2017; and ii) the expiration of the statute of limitation of the
tax provision for the year ended 2014, which was on 31 May
2018.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

DIVIDENDS 11. BE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEF T

Interim — HK1 cent (2017: Nil) R E — R @A 1 Bl
per ordinary share (2017%F : &) 3,535 -

Proposed final — Nil (2017: BEARE —REERT
HK3 cents) per ordinary share (2017 € : 3710) - 9,726
3,535 9,726

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 404,931,506
(2017: 305,753,425) in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the rights issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
Nil).

12.

EEgWIAEHRNEE20184 12 A 31
BIEFERNRBEKE -

BAREBEESMBEARBEERER

BREABMESENIRG AR BERSE
EABEARFERNERNFER ET
404,931,506 A% (2017 4 : 305,753,425 % )
TBRAINE A E - TR NEF
HHE LA R AT FEITHHRAR -

HE2018F12A31BIEFE > AEEW
ERESHEERITEER(Q017F &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAREEREEMEAELERER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE (&)
PARENT (Continued)
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: BRERBRTIZAT#IETE -
2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Earnings BF|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BAREBERAA
holders of the parent FEAE 2 7 25,405 35,919
Number of shares
R&GOEA
2017
—T—+F
Shares & 12
Weighted average number of ordinary AN E 2 31T @AY A
shares in issue during the year iS58 404,931,506 305,753,425
Earnings per share SRER
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARANEE(ARET) 0.06 0.12
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. M1% - BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles Total
BEMXZEE HERME BRREE AE Hst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT AEEFT ARBTT AREFT
31 December 2018 2018F 124318
At31December 2017and ~ R22017F 12 A31B K
at 1 January 2018: R2018F1 A1 :
Cost or valuation AR 1300 2,347 939 3,145 7,731
Accumulated depreciation  EiHTE (658) (1,854) (834) (2,382) (5.728)
Net carrying amount REFE 642 493 105 763 2,003
At1lJanuary 2018, netof 20181 718
accumulated depreciation  HBREFHTE 642 493 105 763 2003
Additions NE 556 820 116 1,153 2,645
Acquisition of a subsidiary BRI B A - 15 - - 15
Disposals & - 4) - 3) M
Depreciation provided during 4 A ¥ & Bfés (st 6)
the year (note 6) (288) (341) (47) (230) (906)
At 31 December 2018, net of 20181718
accumulated depreciation IR EFTINE 910 083 174 1,683 3,750
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A318
Cost KA 1,856 3,153 1,055 4,253 10,317
Accumulated depreciation  2:HTE (946) (2,170) (881) (2,570) (6,567)
Net carrying amount FEFE 910 983 174 1,683 3,750
31 December 2017 2017E12A318
At 1 January 2017: R201I7TE1518
Cost or valuation A fhat 1,190 2,408 926 3,795 8319
Accumulated depreciation  £iHTE (580) (1,724) (778) (2,8%) (5.978)
Net carrying amount FEFE 610 684 148 899 2,341
At1January 2017, netof — H2017F1 318
accumulated depreciation  HBREFHTE 610 684 148 899 2,341
Additions NE 110 298 13 279 700
Disposals & - (315) - (172) (487)
Depreciation provided during 4 A ¥ & Bfés (Mizt6)
the year (note 6) (78) (174) (56) (243) (551)
At 31 December 2017, net of 7201712318 -
accumulated depreciation MR EFHINE 642 493 105 763 2,003
At 31 December 2017: W2017512A318
Cost AR 1,300 2,347 939 3,145 7,731
Accumulated depreciation  2:HTE (658) (1,854) (834) (2,382) (5,728)
Net carrying amount FEFE 642 493 105 763 2,003
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

14.

15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. B EE
Software
B4
RMB'000
AREEF T
31 December 2018 2018412 A31H
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated 7 20184F 1 A1 BRRA -
amortisation HOBR Rty 19
Additions INE 982
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FREHRE (ME6) (106)
At 31 December 2018 M20184 12 A31H 895
At 31 December 2018: MR2018%F 12 A318 -
Cost AR 1,284
Accumulated amortisation Rt (389)
Net carrying amount FREFE 895
31 December 2017 2017512 A31H
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated 201751 A1 BEIKA -
amortisation FOBR Rt 47
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FREHEE (WHiEe) (28)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F 12 A31H 19
At 31 December 2017 and at 1 January 2018: R2017F12A31 B8R
#2018 1818 :
Cost (D% 302
Accumulated amortisation - (283)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 19
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. REZECENKRE
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT
Share of net assets DB EFE 40,232 33,885
Goodwill on acquisition g i 1,051 1,051
41,283 34,936
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15. REFECENRE (8)
EBRTT aES RS AR AT (Shanghai Dong Fang RS EEEBREAR AT ([ FER
Xin Di Commercial Services Co., Ltd.) (“Shanghai Xin W) EEREMEER A LEF®R
Di"), EEBAEWEAR A A (Shanghai Qiang Sheng ED BRI T ESEERER AT
Property Co., Ltd.) (“Shanghai Qiang Sheng”), Z&/& (IZEEBHTES])  ZTEHEBYEERER
W ESYEEE AR A A (Ningbo Plaza Property RAal([ZBER]) AAEEBESTER
Management Co., Ltd.) (“Ningbo Plaza”), Z#UE 3% WARBAREBMEB T -
¥ BB AT (Anhui Pu Bang Property Management
Co., Ltd.) ("Anhui Pu Bang"”) are associates of the
Group and are considered to be related parties of the
Group.

Particulars of the associates are as follows: Bt DERNFEBHT

Percentage of
Authorised fhtt
Place and date of registered/paid-in/  Ownership Voting Profit
Name incorporation issued capital interest power sharing  Principal activities
EECHM/

£3 AR A BR/ERORK  FARER REE  2fhad IEXH

Shanghai Xin Di Shanghai, the PRC RMB25,000,000 45% 45% 45%  Property management
19 June 2015 services

L HE L A 25,000,007 NEERRHE
2015F6A419A

Shanghai Qiang Sheng*  Shanghai, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 30% 30% 30%  Property management
17 December 1992 services

TR T K% 5,000,000 NEERRE
19924127178

Ningbo Plaza Ningbo, the PRC RMBS5, 100,000 49% 49% 49%  Property management
20 January 1995 services

ERBTES PEER ARH5,100,0007T WEERRS
1995414 20A

Anhui Pu Bang Anhui, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 49% 49% 49%  Property management
4 August 2015 services

ZERH PEILH AR%5,000,0007C WEERRE
201568 A4H

BIFEERERAT 215
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
15. |NVEST|V|ENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

A subsidiary of the Group acquired a 30% equity interest in
Shanghai Qiang Sheng in May 2016 at a cash consideration of
RMB9,534,000. Goodwill of RMB1,051,000 was recognised,
representing the difference between the consideration paid and
the share of the fair value of the net assets of Shanghai Qiang
Sheng at the date of acquisition.

* K * %

On 25 April 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
(“The Pu jiang Property”) entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Nantong Sheng He Property Management
Limited (“the Nantong sheng he”) to acquire a 2% equity
interest in Nan tong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Management
Limited (“the Nantong Pu sheng”) Nan tong Pu Sheng was an
associate of the Company, 49% of its equity interest was held
by the Company, and on 26 April 2018,conditions precedent
were fulfilled. As the Company held a 51% equity interest of
Nantong Pu sheng, Nantong Pu sheng became a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

The following tables illustrate the aggregate financial T
information of the Group’s associates that are not
individually material:

15. EAH?‘ ENRE (B)

R2016F5 A AEEHBATNRESREA
R #9,534,000 T W #E )88 E30%KiE-B
EREmELHEAARE 1,051,000 BIEHK
BREHEEFREEEFENREASOATF
BRI EEE -

R2018%4 7258  ARBINMEEMBAR([H
I HEBRAMESEERARA((EA
BMDFICEERE(ZBED  LERR
ﬁﬁ“ﬂﬁé%%ﬁﬁﬁ@T(Fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ)z%a’m&
Ho-BmEBERRAARRNBENE AR

b7 49% B IR HE ﬁﬁﬁé2018¢4ﬂ 26H - 5'&59&
IEHEEEERK - AR L EREBEBES1% R
- R AR ARINIEEENE AR

%%§IJ$’E B & 5l 3F E R B0 Bt = (b
BB ER

ES)

Share of the associates’ profit for FRD(GEEE D EEA R T
the year
Aggregate carrying amount of the

Group's investments in the associates

REFBRBELE
S E AR ARE

2018 2017
= — \&E —E—+F
RMB 000 RMB’000

AR%ETR AREFIT

7,307 7,159

40,232 33,885
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16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 16. REELENRE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREEF T

Share of net assets DMEEEFE 18,226 15,395
EETBXINEYEEZFR AR (Hefei Zheng Wen AREMBXIINEMEERBR AR (G
Bund Property Management Co., Ltd.) (“Hefei Zheng B ) RERTEEMERRAR([HE
Wen") and HHE M EEYEBPR A F (Bengbu Zhi Xin EEDARASBEEEPERTERALREHE

Property Co., Ltd.) (“Bengbu Zhi Xin") are joint ventures E0)za) A

of the Group and are considered to be related parties
of the Group.

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: SEPENFBERT -
Percentage of
Authorised fhte
Place and date of registered/paid-in/  Ownership Voting Profit
Name incorporation issued capital interest power sharing  Principal activities
EEEEM/
£ HMR IR A S BR/BRORE  FEEER REE  2ER TEXH
Hefei Zheng Wen Hefei, the PRC RMB30,000,000 50% 50% 50%  Property management
14 April 2004 services
AEHX PEAE AR 30,000,0007C 50% 50% 50% MEERRS
2004544 14R
Bengbu Zhi Xin Bengbu, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 50% 50% 50%  Property management
13 September 2004 services
HRERE EEE ABRE5,000,0007C 50% 50% 50% MEEERG
2004F9 7130
The following tables illustrate the aggregate financial TREIAEBEREERNEG EBER
information of the Group'’s joint ventures that are not MEAIEER

individually material:

2018 2017

S aSd =7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for ~ FRDEE 2 EART

the year 5,481 5,148
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBREEDE

Group's investments in the joint KRENREAE

ventures 18,226 15,395

LA BEZERER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT

FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-

SALE INVESTMENTS

7. BEERAVEFAEMZE ISR

rRE AHEHERE

2017
—T—+F
Equity investments designated EERAFEGFARMLRZE
at fair value through other KENRERIRE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair FELIRARE - BAFER
value
Jiangcheng Hujiang Lianfeng IR R & R R
Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd BRAF 700 -
Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd BB EEEMEARR A A 1,500 -
Impairment RE (1,500) -
700 -
Available-for-sales investments AtHERE
Unlisted equity investments, at cost JE TR ARG E - A - 1,500
Impairment BE - (1,500)
Net carrying amount FREFE - -

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be

strategic in nature.

Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd did not generate
any revenue and it had ceased to operate any business
including property management services since 2010. As

such, full impairment had been made.

21 8 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

INVENTORIES 18. 78
2018 2017
—E-N\F =+
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Consumables SHRE M 284 97
TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZEWKIA
2018 2017
=Sl T EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Trade receivables =) e e 83,083 56,972
Impairment B (140) -
82,943 56,972
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly REFEZFHNEIKITEAEZE B

on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance in normally required. The credit period is
generally 10 days, extending up to three months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

MEPI —RFERANK - FEEH—
RB/IOK I2EPHRZERE=EA -
EEPAZRAEERS - NREBBNER
ERERPONEKRFIE  RKREEE
ZHIHPFIAREREEERR - SRER
EE%%%@%%%°%%ML%&&$
RAKENE S RWFIBY RAETEE
B EAfYrFEEERRSESTNIE
e REEY B E HRU K REHRITH
EMEARKEMEERE - B 5 R
TAET S o

/ﬁ/IEF' .T:HX%B&A A 21 9
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance is as follows:

19.

B 5 BWRIE (&)
RBEHR BFREFRRERE A
kBB R ENRRE ST

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Within 3 months 3EAA A 70,584 49,977

3 to 6 months 3ZE61EA 6,324 3,204
More than 6 months but less than wmEeEAB LK1 E

1 year 3,687 943

Over 1 year HBiE1E 2,348 2,848

82,943 56,972

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

BHRWHIBEREBBREESINT

2018 2017

—E-N\F T —+tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AREEFIT

At beginning of year RFA]) - -
Impairment losses REEE 140 -
At end of year RER 140 -

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended
31 December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage
by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E
19. EZEWIE(E)

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended
31 December 2018 (Continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

BIEHZ2018F12A31MBLFEES
BUEREERFEIRETHRE ()
TXHINEEAEEFAREEENEZ S
W BHASNEERBRER

R201812A31H

Past due
gt
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
ikl
e LPH1ER 1Z3{@A 318 A #st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEFEX 0% 0% 0% 23% 0.17%
Gross carrying amount RERE
(RMB’000) (AR®FT) 70,584 1,907 4,417 6,175 83,083
Expected credit losses HHEREEE
(RMB'000) (ARBFTT) - - - (140) (140)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 that were not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is

R2017F 12 A3 HIRES A ST ERE
39T AR K LR RIERBERNE 5 FEIK
FURRRBRDATUIT

as follows:
2017
—ET—+tF
RMB'000
AREFTT
Neither past due nor impaired B AR B BRI AR R B 49,977
Less than 1 month past due wHE R 1 {E A 1,619
1 to 3 months past due BE1=31EA 1,585
More than 3 months past due wHAR A 31E A 3,791
56,972

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large amount of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that
no provision for impairment under HKAS39 was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had not
been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

BE R 280 5 7 R OB (B HY FE Wk IR T BT B
BENCHNAREZTTILEFAR -

BHERRENRERIES R ANEEET
BECHKRENBYLER - RIEBELR
HRNEEERI EBEARE L RAERITDER
RABBWRE - RRREZTAR/LEAR
BEBGTERE IR ZEE ARG
ERE -

LA BEZERER AR
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20. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. ANREREMEKRRIEA

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AR®ETF T

Prepayments to suppliers TAR T ERFRIE 12,090 1,789
Payments on behalf of residents REBERIAFIE (M)

(note (a)) 15,577 13,374
Cash in advance EXRE 1,388 1,042
Deposits B4 6,773 7,105
Prepaid expenses TR 677 136
Receivables related to international B B S a YR IE

offering (note (b)) (5% (b)) = 50,208
Prepayment related to a potential ERBTWIEEIED

acquisition (note (c)) TEfT R IE (MHEE () 10,000 -
Prepayment related to Employees’ BAEENR KD ERTEIAN

Share Award Scheme (note (d)) TR FIE (MEE () 13,357 -
Amount due from a related party JFE Y B Bt 75 R IE 1,700 -
Others HAth 571 776

62,133 74,430
Notes: M aE
(@  The balance represents advance payment for property (@) HEHRERXERMIVEETERBHIBERNEK

management service expense on behalf of residents.

I8 o

(@]

()

The balance represents the amount of net proceeds for
international placing in the IPO, which was received on 10
January 2018.

The balance represents the refundable deposit for a proposed
acquisition.

The balance represents the advance payment to the trustee for
acquiring the Company’s shares from the market under
Employee Share Award Scheme. Until 31 December 2018, the
trustee still held the awarded shares which were not vested to
selected employees.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables and prepayments for which there
was no recent history of default.
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(b) HEHRIEEIALAAEENEBRESDOAER
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RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

21.

Restricted bank balances received from WWEN B EERYEESIEREL

residents for property management
services

IR HISRITAE S

2 PR BISRIT AR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T NS R
11,107 17,084

Restricted bank balances earn interest at interest rates
stipulated by the respective financial institutions. The
restricted bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

XRBIRITHERIZ S S RMBBER] TN X
REAB - XIRBIRITER D FREREE
RAF N BT B4 R FC 8RO ERTT

WEALTH MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS 22.
2017
—E-N\EFE —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Wealth management products B EEEER 1,000 2,000
The wealth management products have a term of less MEERERMNRPIN—F BHEHRF
than one year and an expected annual rate of return of [B] 3] 3 /&3.7% (20175 : 4.1%) » 1R IK A
3.7% (2017: 4.1%). Pursuant to the underlying e By BEEEERRIHBAR
contracts or notices, the wealth management products EART o
are principal protected upon the maturity date.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. RAFEFABENEHMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
—E—N\FE 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT

Other unlisted investments,
at fair value

i3 EDRE
(EAFE)

84,527 =

The above unlisted investments at 31 December 2018
were Bonds Repo products issued in Mainland China.
They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

EFaR2018F 12 A31BMIELTRE R
HEFR B A EE 1T R B & 3% B8 (Bonds Repo)
Eme HREANBEREYIFEALAS
EMFBEMNHK MZEERERHHESE
BEATFEFABENESREE -

LA BEZERER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
24.

25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24. BERBEEEEY

Cash and bank balances

Be ME2EEY

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
80,481 156,100

At the end of reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to RMB54,820,000 (2017: RMB89,823,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the Reporting Periods, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

25.

RBEER  KREBUARKFENRS
MR 1T 4 8% A AR 54,820,000 7T (2017
& AR%89,823,0007T) ° ARKETEE
RHARABHEMER - A REBERBEAH
B SN B FR AR SR A5 IE ~ B IE RS IEE R
BE AEBESRBERELEINEER
RIRTTARE S B AHEMER -

FRUBITNR SRS BRITERMNED
FEFRBREUN R - SRITER D IF R
BRI RET R RCERAIRTT

B2 EARE
RBEHR BFERNFBRER AN
BREDMTan T

2018 2017

—E-)N\F —E—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETIT

Within 3 months 3EAA R 49,070 53,660
3 to 12 months 3Z 1218 A 2,064 2,719
Over 1 year Bl F 1,909 1,989
53,043 58,368

The trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled on terms of 5 to 90 days.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HWEMARIEREFTEHR
2018 2017
—E-N\F =+
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
iokz3 ARET T AREEF T
Advances from customers PR - 8,183
Contract liabilities EHEE (a) 5,750 -
Staff payroll and welfare payables & T T & N{&F|FEfI 738 9,002 7,797
Deposits received B U EIZ % 7,531 9,103
Receipts on behalf of residents REBRWKZ (b) 28,546 26,854
Maintenance funds HIEES 2,996 7,680
Accrued compensation expense  JEETERFAREERM

for litigation - 1,280
Other tax payable H b e R IE 11,283 9,069
65,108 69,966

Notes: 5T -

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1
January 2018 are as follow:

(@ 20189 12A318 %2018F1A1BMAH
BEFBET :

31 December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\F —E-N\F
t=RA=+—-H —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREEFTT
Short-term advances received from customers B E PR
Property management services YEE B IR 5,750 8,183
Total contract liabilities AHaBERE 5,750 8,183

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
deliver property management services.

The balance represents the receipts from building residents to
settle utilities, bills, maintenance and repair fees on behalf of
them.

Other payables and accruals are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

EHNEBEERECERIRHYEERREWENE

() HEHEMEFERUDOAAARKRERELE
NRAHNE  RE  RERGEER -

R RORR B B R ABER  £8
RAREREEE -
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 27. FTERITER
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) RMB’000 (%) RMB’000
BERAI=E HIRF =
(%) AR¥Tx (%) AREFIT
Bank loans RITER
— unsecured — 5.00 20,000 5.00 5,000
20,000 5,000
28. DEFERRED TAX 28. ELERIE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year BEMIBEERNFANEBINT
are as follows:
Deferred tax assets EEMRIBEEE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
future
taxable Accrued
profits payroll  Impairment Others* Total
A FREER
BANER EiIE A Hi+ ‘st

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRL

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 567 2,106 - 5,771 8,444
Deferred tax credited/(charged)  RERETA/ (1% H)

to profit or loss during the BamEERE

year (note 10) (3£ 10) (567) (157) - 2,369 1,645
At 31 December 2017 andat ~ R2017F 128318

1 January 2018 KF2018F1 A1H - 1,949 - 8,140 10,089
Deferred tax charged to profitor  RERIG 518

loss during the year (note 10)  EFERIE (FH:E10) - (1,949) 35 (8,140) (10,054)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H - - 35 - 35
* Others represent deferred tax assets recognised in trade * Hih gk BB BEAREERBEAD

payables for unsettled service charges to dispatch agencies or REZRENFIERABNRLERIEELE
sub-contractors.
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28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB13,132,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB8,255,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also had tax losses arising in Mainland China
of RMB18,230,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB8,215,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10% (2017:10%). The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures established in Mainland China (2017:
Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries and joint ventures will distribute
such earning in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised amounted to approximately
RMB102,240,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB67,014,000).

28. EIERBE ()

MR2018F 12 A31 8 ASEEREESE
FiTE E5 48 A R %13,132,000 7T (2017 £
AR #8,255,0007T) + A #&FR 2 7A 4K
EEEIBR A AR AR ERTOEF)

MR2018F 12 A31H ' AEBITEFEA
HhE A TR IEE B A R ¥5 18,230,0007T(2017
F: ANR¥8,2150007T) R —ERFE
WEH - A AR AR SR ERFDEF ©

RRZFERIIREC R — B
BAR - BRRATKA LA RGN
RIABHHIEE R - At W ERZFEE
HERELRIBEE -

BIEPBEPEMSE  RAPB AR
MINEDEARMINRIEEESTRAOKE
RE10% B - ZEKH2008F 1 A1
BREAER - WiEAMR2007F 12 A31 8%
EXERNAEF - BINEREEMB A EER
P ERNMEREHE - INEREE ] E
AEEEINHE - iAEEmE  @HAK
K E10% (2017 5F : 10%) ° HI > FLAF
B A Hb AX 37 B 5% S5 B B A B) Bt B 2008 4F 1
A1RRBREENBFDIRORE  NEE
BB TEAORL

MR2018F 12 A31H WENALRERR
FEAMK B AR  BEDEREE
TENRELBFNCASMNENTE) ME
MBI EREERE(2017F &) -
BERE  ZEWNBARIRALEETKA
RERATERBIRDIRBBEEAF - R2018F
12A318 " MABREEHBEENNS
BB ARMEE TR ENHERY
B E=REA 4B AR%102,240,0007T(2017
F: AR¥67,014,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. A

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFTT
Authorised: VETE ¢
8,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 8,000,000,000 X &%
(2017: 8,000,000,000 shares of E{E0.01 B LA AL (2
HK$0.01 each) 70,096 66,872
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
405,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 405,000,000 f% & % F &
(2017: 400,000,000 shares of 0.01BTHIRR D (2017 F -
HK$0.01 each) 400,000,000 & AR EI1E
0.01 BRI ) 3,391 3,349

The Company was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
27 July 2016 with authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each and one fully-paid subscriber share was
allotted and issued to the nominee of the Company
providing company secretarial services, who is an
independent third party. On 12 August 2016, the
Company allotted and issued 979 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each to the Parent of the Company as fully
paid at par. On 24 October 2016, the Company issued
9,020 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to the
shareholders of the Company as fully paid with a total
consideration of RMB60,750,000. The excess of
consideration over the par value of the Company’s
issued ordinary shares was credited to the share
premium. On 15 November 2017, the authorised share
capital of the Company was increased from
HK$380,000 to HK$80,000,000 by the creation of a
further 7,962,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

The Company effected the capitalisation of share
premium into 299,990,000 ordinary shares by applying
HK$2,999,900, equivalent to RMB2,507,000, to pay up
in full at par for allotment and issue to the then existing
shareholders in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in the Company as of the date
immediately preceding the IPO successful listing. The
issued and fully paid ordinary shares of the Company
was deemed as 300,000,000 shares as at 31 December
2016.
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RATR2016E7 A27 B RSB S T M
ML BEREERAR FERAEAR
380,000/& 7T © %3 438,000,000 iz &A% FEIE
0.0 B LWk M —IRERREARD
BB RETT —HREQRMWERBEH
ARERBA(—RBBILE=T) > R 2016
F8A 128 RAFMARRGAF AT
N EE1T979 M B EE0.01 B TR T @A -
WIZEEARIIER B AR FK - K 2016 10
B2aB> RR2ARMUNBEREBARE
60,750,000 T M)A A B AR R 317 9,020 I &
FRTEEO0.01 B TR L@ - W ABRIIES
BRR - RERAQRERITERBKMN®E
BERBEI DT ARMDRE - K2017F 11
A158 « K228 8% E IR 2N B 18 3% 58 o0
7,962,000,000 I & A 1B 0.01 B ST HI AR 17
F8 380,000 /& 7T i1 % 80,000,000 8 7T ©

KA B3R iE E A 2,999,900 T (FAE R A
R #2,507,00070) IHEHEEHC R - 5%
13 (B 78 & A £ A 299,990,000 M 3@
ff  ZEEBRNDIZEZERALAHBEERK
NEMABHEREERESENAQA
B335 A% B 01 1) 457 S5 B 3% Je B8 1T » 72016 4F
12A31 8 ARFIEEIT R L ERE
% /300,000,000 f °



29.

30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

On 11 December 2017, the Company issued
100,000,000 shares in its initial public offering at the
price of HKD1.55 per share.

On 2 January 2018, the Company partially exercised
over-allotment option of an aggregate of 5,000,000
shares at HKD1.55 per share.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

(i) Share premium
The share premium of the Group represents the
difference between capital injection and the share
capital paid by the Controlling Shareholders.

(ii) Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (1) the
difference between the consideration and net
asset acquired paid by the Controlling
Shareholders for the further acquisition of non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries; (2) the
difference between the consideration received by
the Controlling Shareholders and the net asset
disposed of for the partial disposal of certain
subsidiaries; and (3) the difference between the
consideration received by the Controlling
Shareholders and net asset acquired under
common control for the acquisition of equity
interests in subsidiaries.

29. BA (&)
R2017F 12811 B ARRIRE XD
B E L E RIS5E LB K BT
100,000,000 A% %17 °

MR2018F1 A28 » "R A AEFMK1.55%8
TLEB 1T{E A 5,000,000 A& A& (7 B EB BB B
& AE o

30. f&f&
AEERAFEMBEFENRESER
HEPNUBRRNGAEREPIRAZE
5I] e

(i) Bt=EE
AE BB 5 (BT E RIERR AR
SAHBRARZ HEZE(E

(i) BEXEE

REBEWE AR ERE () ERBRAE
—FUREE T B~ R B FF % AR A 2 1 S
NEOREBEMKENFEEZHNE
B QEBRBRRMES HES THE
AAREOREBENENFEEZM
HZRE R Q)IERBRRMKBENE A
A B A ot M B B X B S 2 LR 2 6
PR ER FEE < M ER ©

WIRRERARAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

30. RESERVES (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the
capital contributions from the equity holders of
the subsidiaries. The addition during the year
represents (1) the injections of additional paid-in
capital by the equity holders of the subsidiaries to
the respective companies; (2) the consideration
paid by the Controlling Shareholders for the
further acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries; and (3) the consideration paid by the
Controlling Shareholders for repayment of the
consideration received in the progress of
Reorganisation. The deduction during the year
represents the consideration received by the
Controlling Shareholders for disposal of the
subsidiaries in the progress of Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations and the
articles of association of the companies of the
Group, before distributing the net profit of each
year, companies of the Group registered in the
PRC are required to set aside 10% of their
statutory reserve net for the year after offsetting
any prior year's losses as determined under
relevant PRC accounting standards to the statutory
surplus reserve fund. When the balance of this
reserve reaches 50% of each company’s share
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The
statutory surplus reserve fund is non- distributable
except in the event of liquidation.

Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to increase
share capital, provided that the remaining balance
after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the foreign
subsidiaries.
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30. feife (58)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

aotEE
AEBENEHHHEREREMERRE
HFEANLE - FREINE0)HE
RAEMESRFEARER AR EINE
ABBEA © QEBRBRHE — P
BB ARMIFZERERD AR
B RQ)EEBRMEECEMABRE
I UER E0 RAB T S A O ARAE » F R
BisER R ERBRER BB
RAEMYEREIRAE -

EERE

RIBFEDER M AKBE T RAHAE
BERMAY > SFOIRFMNEA - A
5 B B R A RIAR B AR RS B
SRR ERIEEFNERR - A
BREHEFEAEFREN10% 2EE
BHAES  BERXREEESAT
BRARH)50% B 1 - AR RAEREF
PR ERE  EERBRLDBES TS
I - BRIFEEATER o

IR BN E TRABRT -
REARLEOEBTOREREA
#25% - BB5RTE BB RT BRI
AN -

B RRE)
PEE =R B et 5 I I R S5 B SN B Y /BB
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

On 18 October 2017, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company ("“Pujiang Property”) established
an associate namely Nantong Pusheng Intelligent
Property Limited (“Nantong Pusheng”) with a
shareholding ratio of 49%. The percentages of
voting rights and profits sharing of this associate
are the same as the percentage of ownership of
the ownership interest.

On 25 April 2018, the Company entered into an
agreement with Nantong Shenghe Property
Management Limited (“Nantong Shenghe”) to
acquire 2% of interest of Nantong Pusheng at a
consideration of RMB40,000. Thus the Group
acquired a 51% interest in Nantong Pusheng.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Nantong Pusheng as at the date of
acquisition were as follows

31. ¥4t

(@

MN2017F 108188 » KR a2 &K
BAa ([EIWE]) K — R &
¥ AREBHEBREEYMESRRAT
(FE@mAEE]) FREAIAEL49% © %
BEPENREREEEEENNE
DR EESITEAN G D8
[ o

MR2018F4 8258 KA A LR
BRIYEEEERAR ([FBEM])
I eE - ARE AR ¥ 40,000 TR
EREEERN2%ER - Al A&
B B R B A 51 % HE s ©

RULEE B HIe B dm R Al BB B E K
BEAFEWT

Fair value

recognized on

Acquisition

MU B EE

BRNLEE

RMB’'000

ARBT T

Property, plant and equipment Y - BERE&E 13 15

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEY 1,788

Prepayments and other receivables TE A FRIE DA K L Ath & W K08 157
Total identifiable net assets RAEAENABENEE

at fair value FEBRE 1,960

Non-control interests SRR 960

Transfer from investment in an ERERBEDENRE
associate 960
2% interest satisfied by cash IR & AT H) 2% s 40

The Group incurred transaction costs of
RMB5,000 for this acquisition. These transaction
cost have been expensed and are included in
administrative expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

AEBRUBEBEELERINAAR
50000 ZERSHHMAD 8
Wt AR A IBRERANITHAY -

T B AR A )
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

The fair values of the other receivables as at the
date of acquisition amounted to RMB157,000,

which is equal to its gross contractual amounts.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the

31. ¥¥E0t(8)

@ (&)
PUEE BB E BN IE AT EA
AR#157,0007C c HEREA N
¥B o

WE—EHBARNEREZRES TN

acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: T
RMB’000
AR®EF T
Cash consideration paid EXREeRE (40)
Cash and bank balances acquired EUEEIR & RIRTTA R 1,788
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents (t AR EEHELRSRENIRS
included in cash flow from investing RBReEBYMRNFE
activities 1,748
Transaction cost of the acquisition AL EHELERSNER
included in cash flows from WEEEEZ Z KA
operating activities (5)
1,743

Since the acquisition, Nantong Pusheng has
contributed RMB529,000 to the group’s revenue
and RMB163,000 to the consolidated profit for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination take place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue from continuing
operations of Group and the profit of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018
would have been RMB392,868,000 and
RMB26,689,000, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(b)

On 2 April 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Pujiang Property”) entered into an
agreement with Pujiang Holding to obtained
100% equity interests in Shanghai Bund Ke Pu
Engineering Management Company Limited
("Kepu"”) at a cash consideration of
RMB3,110,000. As both parties were under
control of controlling shareholders before and
after the combination and such control was not a
provisional one, hence this combination was the
business combination involving entities under
common control. The consolidation of this
transaction amounting to RMB3,110,000 was
paid on 28 April 2018, and the right of control
was transferred to the Company. Therefore from
28 April 2018 onwards, the Company included
Kepu in consolidated statements, and they have
been accounted for from 28 April 2018 onwards
and no restatements of periods prior to the
combination were made under common control
of IFRS10.

The carrying amounts of Kepu's assets and
liabilities at the combination date are as follows:

31. ¥¥&6t(8)

(b)

MR2018F 4828 KARIZEMNB
A &) ([Pujiang Property]) £2Pujiang
Holding 3] 32 17 + MRS R EARE
3,110,000 SLER 15 /8 S #E Rp o T2
BRAT(TEDE]) 100% B A% o
HARETHOE AR EHATE T IERARE
=H) - BB B I SEER R -
b BREHTE RARES TELE
MEBEH ZRXIMBEEEBBAR
# 3,110,000 7T 5 18 E. 11 2018 F 4 B
28X MEZEHIEEEET AL
Al e EItt » B20184% 4 A28 HiE * A&
NEBEEEETAGZAERE  BEHRE
B2018F4 A28H AR E - B
IR IR BIPR B TS 5 2RI 28 10 SR AL [RE
HITBEEmAEITE MM ESHAR -

RA BB BRI EE R A EEEE
m -

As at

28 April 2018

R-B—N&

BZ=+N\H

RMB’000

AREEFIT

Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTTAR 3,095

Prepayments and other receivables TEAST FRIE DA K B A FE YRR IR 1

Total net assets BEFERRE 3,096
Combination difference BB ARSI ENAHESE

(through equity interests) 14

Satisfied by cash PAIR & X 1~ 3,110
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
31.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 31. ¥BE/t(E)
(b) (Continued) b) (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the WiE—RHEARMREERES TN
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: T
RMB'000
AREBTTT
Cash consideration paid EXMRERE (3,110
Cash and bank balances acquired BUEEIR & RIRITA 3,095

Net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents included in cash flow
from investing activities

Transaction cost of the acquisition
included in cash flows from
operating activities

AARERPELRDREN
Be MReEEYRHIFHE

AARERDELRTREN
WIE R HMAA

(18)

The Group incurred transaction costs of
RMB3,000 for this acquisition. These transaction
cost have been expensed and are included in
administrative expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Since the combination, Ke Pu has contributed loss
of RMB1,586,000 to the consolidated profit
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination take place at the beginning
of the year, the profit of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
RMB26,489,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(0)

On 2 July 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Pujiang Property”) entered into an
agreement with Pujiang Holding to obtained
100% equity interests in Shanghai Aide Pu
Trading Company Limited (“Aide Pu”) at a cash
consideration of RMB195,000. As both parties
were under control of controlling shareholders
before and after the combination and such control
was not a provisional one, this combination was
the business combination involving entities under
common control. The legal process of this
transaction has completed on 12 July 2018, and
the right of control was transferred to the
company. Therefore, from 12 July 2018 onwards,
the Company included Aide Pu in consolidated
statements, and they have been accounted for
from 12 July onwards and no restatements of
periods prior to the combination were made
under common control of IFRS10.

The carrying amount of Aide Pu’s assets and
liabilities at the combination date are as follows:

31. ¥¥&6t(8)

(0

R2018F 7828 KRAREEWE
~al(BImE D) BB TIERET L
& LB eRE AR 195,000 T E
SEBNBEHNERRAR100% %
i - HRFTHNE T RAEHATER
AT AR AL S - B A R B I IEER A
TH BRRAEHTISRERESTE
BONEBEMH RRXINERERFE
F2018F 7 A 12 B 58 A - T 4% I i
B#EZETALNA - EHIt - B20184F7
A128#  ARARBNEETALE
wWER BERKRB2018F7H12H
RARE - ARBEEBRYKHREE
BIZE 1057 F RS N EE T A GERT
KBTI HAR ©

REFBRENNEETEEREERT
=N

As at

12 July 2018

= E— )\ F

+HA+=H

RMB'000

AREETIT

Cash and bank balances Re NIRTES 186

Total net asset BEFERTE 186
Combination difference (through FRRAERTENAHER

equity interests) 4

Satisfied by cash IR &S 190
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
31.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 31. ¥BE/t(E)
(¢) (Continued) © (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the WiE—RHEARMREERES TN
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: T
RMB'000
AREBTTT
Cash consideration paid EXMRERE (190)
Cash and bank balances acquired BUEEIR & RIRITA 186
Net outflow of cash and cash FAREEHELERSRER
equivalents included in cash flow RERRSFEBYREFE
from investing activities (4)
Transaction costs of the acquisition AL EHEARESREN
included in cash flows from WHEEERZ S KR
operating activities (2)
(6)

The Group incurred transaction costs of
RMB2,000 for this acquisition. These transaction
costs have been expensed and are included in
administrative expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Since the combination, Aide pu has contributed
loss of RMB4,000 to the consolidated profit
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the profit of the Group during the
year ended 31December 2018 would have been
RMB26,466,000.

236 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

AEBRUBEEELERINAAR
#2000 ZERXRSHHMAD 8
Wt AR A BERAMNITEAY -

BUEER VBT AEZE2018F12
A3 BIFEGARMERBEAR
#4000 7T °

iME HRENETT  NEBEHZE2018
FNRANBHIEFEEMNEAEARE
26,466,000 TT °



32.

33.

34.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Change in liabilities arising from financing
activities

FERSREBRME
RMETBHEENEEES
Interest-bearing

bank borrowings

T ERITER

RMB’'000
AR®TT
2018 2018
At 1 January 2018 MR2018%1A1H 5,000
Changes from financing cash flows MERCREE 15,000
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H 20,000
2017 2017 &
At 1 January 2017 MR2017%F1A1H 50,000
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREEE) (45,000)
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12 A31H 5,000
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. HAREE

As at end of the reporting period, the Group had no
significant contingent liabilities.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 34,

As Lessee

The Group leases its office buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

RBER > ARELEEARAAIE -

RERE AR

ERAEBRA

AEERBEEHE ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂi"fﬁ /NS
VERENEBEHEN T —20%F -

MR2018F 12 A31H  KEEREA
ﬁé%«%%ﬁ‘;ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂiﬂ’éﬁmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FRABEEINT

2018 2017

—B-N\F —TtF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR T

Within one year —&FR 2,036 1,260
In the second to fifth years, F_FEERF

inclusive (BIEEEMF) 3,754 1,260

5,790 2,520

LA BEZERER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BEEARD
(@) Particulars of the related parties which entered (a) AEBEBEBM A LEAR NS
into material transactions with the Group are as N
follows:
Name Relationship Referred to as
28 2R 5k
EEETIERER AR Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders  Pujiang Holding
EERTIERERAR FR 12 AR AR SR A% LR
EEREEERERERAT Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders  Shanghai Gaoze
EEREEERERERAT FR 12 AR AR SR 4% BadisE )=
(b) Transactions with related parties: (b) HEEAINRS :
Cash (advances)/repayments BEeBIGER)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Related parties* BT *
Pujiang Holding TR - 30,112
Shanghai Gaoze HERE (1,700) -
(1,700) 30,112
* Cash advances/(repayments) to related parties are * BEEE IR B GERR) UF IR -

illustrated on a net basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35. BEAERE (&)

Due from a related party: (@]

& W B BsE 77 OR

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETT

Shanghai Gaoze Babishio)-o

1,700 -

The amount due from Pujiang Holding is
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed payment
terms.

FEUORI TR IR T B - 2B K
1 B E E KA -

Compensation of key management personnel of d TEEFEZEBEAEHM
the Group:
2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETTT
Short term employee benefits MHEE B BT 3,053 3,209
Post-employment benefits RIKIEEBH| 263 312
Total compensation paid to key ENEEBTEAE
management personnel HNaERE 3,316 3,521

Further details of directors’ and the chief
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to
the financial statements.

EERRRITRABNMENE—F
BN EHRERMEES o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. EEEEsEMIT A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REEHR  SEASH T AENERED
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting T

period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2018 M2018F 12 A31H
Financial assets EREE

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value  through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BAFEFA RAFEFA
BEK  Hit2EKE
tREE NEMEE
Financial
assets at
Held for Equity amortised
Trading investments cost Total
RBERATE
HIEEE BRERE NEMEE #ct
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R

Equity investments at fair R AFEFAEMEE

value through other W AR &
comprehensive income - 700 - 700
Trade receivables B SRR - - 82,943 82,943

Financial assets included in 5t ATE(ZI8 K E A
prepayments and other FEUFENSREE

receivables - - 26,009 26,009
Restricted bank balances SR HIIRITE 5 - - 11,107 11,107
Wealth management HEEREM

products 1,000 - - 1,000
Financial assets at fair value R AF{EEH ABEA

through profit or loss PREE 84,527 - - 84,527
Cash and cash equivalents & MIR&EEY - - 80,481 80,481

85,527 700 200,540 286,767
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. REFEsERMIA(E)
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018 (Continued) 2018512 A31H (&)
Financial liabilities cRas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RBERATE
ol Y =N
RMB’000
ARMTF T
Trade payables 2 S ERRIE 53,043
Financial liabilities included in other ST AHMENFIR R ETERS
payables and accruals TEAE 39,073
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HERITEER 20,000
112,116
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REEEAR - SENem T ANREELRD
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting I

period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2017 2017512 H31H
Financial assets tRMEE
Available-
for-sale Loans and
investments receivables Total
Al Bk
HERE JE W RIE et

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTIT AREBTE ARETT

Available-for-sale investments A ERE - - -
Trade receivables H 5 WA - 56,972 56,972
Financial assets included in FTATERIA -

prepayments, deposits and other e M E A EUR

receivables HENCREE - 72,505 72,505
Restricted bank balances ZRRFIRITAE R - 17,084 17,084
Wealth management products T EEEEMN - 2,000 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEED - 156,100 156,100

= 304,661 304,661
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE
36.

37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2017 (Continued)

. RERE2ERMI AW

R2017F12A31H (&)

Financial liabilities THAaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REER AT 2
NEeRtBE
RMB’000
AR T
Trade payables B 5 N FIE 58,368
Financial liabilities included in other ,;U\fl\ﬂﬂf‘h‘ RIE N FEETE R
payables and accruals TRAE 44,917
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HERITEE 5,000
108,285

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances, wealth
management products, trade receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other assets, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, an amount due from a
related party and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation
process and results are discussed with management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS RAR M At

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's businesses are located in Mainland China
and nearly all transactions are conducted in RMB. As
nearly all of the Group’s assets and liabilities were
denominated in RMB, the subsidiaries of the Company
in Mainland China were not subject to significant
foreign currency risk. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group'’s assets and liabilities denominated in HKD were
mainly held by the Company and certain subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China which had HKD
as their functional currencies, and the Group did not
have material foreign currency transactions in Mainland
China during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

8. UHEBEEBZRREE

AEENTIECHITARRRS RRITE
B ARSI ANTIZENSIR/A
SEREBERE AKEREBHRENR
REANEFGRERNFESEHMCZESREE
REE HREKEERESL -

AEESH TAEEENERERRIMNMER
B EERAREADHECER BEFSR
A0 19 B IR A U F R AR - #tan
T o

SMNEE [ B
AEEEFERMSESEBBLTRBEE
BUAAREBE AR AEBLTEE
ERBEHUARETE  ARFRFEH
A B B B R B BB ZE T e B K HMNE LB -
R2018F 128318 REB B THE
MEENBEFEHRARRREFERNM
ANEMA S BB T iERTEEE NS
FHEBARFE  BRER AEEET
B A i W BT EAINER 5 -

EERR

AEBERERARCEERFNE=ZTR
5 RBARBOEEK - FIARRERR
FETRHNEFPABABBEERER
Frettdh NREBERHEERBUAELR
R S5 [ A SR AR L B 3 TN BB K © LA IR DA
HEREENNEERHENRIME -
EAREEEZTEREREBRT K

SETSRBEEEGRK

WIRRERARAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018F 12 A31 HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. BiEMEEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 MR2018F 12831 A EK LR K FRME
December 2018 B

The table below shows the credit quality and the TREHN2018F12 A31HIRBEAEE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s FEER(FTEERNBIER  BRIFEFTE
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due BRARHE AT Eﬁﬂéﬁﬂ AIERIE)
information unless other information is available WEEEZREERR LR - U RFRE
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging EBokE - E#J:ﬁﬁﬁi‘%&éﬁﬁ = REETJR
classification as at 31 December 2018. For listed debt FRINLEEETREEETEE . 258
investments, the Group also monitors them by using EASHEAENEOABELRVBIEREN
external credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross FEERRE -

carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure
to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

ECLs Lifetime ECLs
A
FEF#E 2HRAEERE
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F1RR F2lEBR  H3ER  MENE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR AR®TR AR%T:R

Trade receivables* B AW * - - - 82,943 82,943
Financial assets included in FABATIER

prepayments, and other Hib e FIBL

receivables TREAE

— Normal** —EmH 26,009 - - - 26,009

Restricted bank balances XRHNRITHES

— Not yet past due — HARBH 11,107 = = = 11,107
Financial assets at fair value BATESARR

through profit or loss MERMEE 84,527 - - - 84,527
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEEN

— Not yet past due — A E 80,481 - - - 80,481
Wealth management products ~ Bf &2 R

— Not yet past due — HARBH 1,000 - - - 1,000

203,124 - - 82,943 286,067

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * RAEEERERABBECENE S EKFIEM
approach for impairment, information based on the provision T ERBEBES R E R B R R M
matrix is disclosed in notes 19 to the financial statements. 194K EE -

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in o FEATER IR - At EKGRIE R EMEENGE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered EEZRMABAEMEENRBEREER
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no AR BRI NOBR T HRATESE]
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant TR ERMEENEEERWE R [AIRE] -

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, an amount
due from a related party, other receivables and certain
derivative instruments with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of
the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers
the maturity of both its financial instruments and
financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected
cash flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank overdrafts, bank loans, convertible bonds, finance
leases and other interest-bearing loans.

MHEREERERBERE)

EERR (&)

#A2017F12 B31 BRIERK LR
$%Eﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁé&ﬁé“
Y - FEURREEE 5 RUE C HMEURERIBIA R
ATHEIR Erﬁﬂ&ﬁgwmzﬁ
TEMKRAEEE -

HRASEEEHERAFEE Eﬂm%:
ARG MAWEREEFEK - FERAR
%$$%ﬁ/ﬁ$ﬁ&&ﬁ&&?h%

HEE - AN AEEESERKNENEF
HEZN %FTH“%&H% KEEE
BERBHOEPRET T EZE

B R B O A A S
B — S BCBUS - RIS BANI 19
B -

RBESER

AEERAEEERBESFETA

m,\éihﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬂ[ﬂuﬂoﬁtl/\a%)’gﬁfﬁ
MIANGREE(INE 5 EYGKIR) B
HER  ARFEHREREXEHBNRESR

=
z=°

AEEBRIVEBERRITES  RITHE
R ABREES  eREEREMFER
R ERESRENER M HHFE -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. BiEMEEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRER (E)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as AEBENSHEERNSREHRZBEY
at the end of each of the reporting period, based on KA REEMNE BB RO T -

the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

As at 31 December 2018
R=ZB-N\F+ZA=t-H
On Less than 3t0 12 1to5
demand 3 months months years Total

=2
ZEX SR=@EA t+=@EA -EIf st
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARHRTT ARMTR ARWTR ARMTR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings t 84R17E X - 278 20,698 - 20,976
Trade payables BHRMNFE 27,369 25,674 - - 53,043
Financial liabilities included in st AE A ERFIE
other payables and accruals REGTERN
SRBE 39,073 - - - 39,073

66,442 25,952 20,698 = 113,092

As at 31 December 2017
R-_E—+F+-F=1+—H

On Less than 3t0 12 Tto5
demand 3 months months years Total
=%
BEX  LR={EA +=f8R —E8F @t

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTL AREBTT ARETT ARBTR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t BIRITER - 69 5,028 - 5,097
Trade payables BHEMNFA 37,695 20,673 - - 58,368

Financial liabilities included in 5t A E-fth e 7008
other payables and accruals REGERN

TRAE 44,917 - - - 44,917
82,612 20,742 5,028 - 108,382
Capital management EXEE
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital AEBERNERNTFEBNAREREER
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to FERLENREN  THEFBENERLE
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy UL HEEBREERSKRER -

capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. BiEMEEEERBE (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings, Capital represents
total equity:

EXRER(E)
AEBREEBEERINESETEHLEARE
BRIEFHFAZE - BBRHNARERERE -
AEBETAERNS FRENKRE - AKRE
REBEEARNBEITHRMD - AEBBEEST
ERIINEBIEINM B AIRE - B E20184F 12
A31BHK2017F12831HILEE 18
BEARNEBRN  BERSBREWE L REME
@J °

AEBEREARR G T (BRERER AR
R EmER - BEBBEABRITE
Ko BAIE A ©

2018 2017

—E-—N\F —E—+F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHRIRITER 20,000 5,000
Total debt BB 20,000 5,000
Total equity g 239,743 215,503
Gearing ratio ERAELE 8.3% 2.3%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this report, there was no significant event undertaken
by the Company or by the Group.

39. REHREH

M2018F 12 A3 BEAEEAREAE -
RAB A LB EEITERERNEM -
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40. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. QTR EMRRT
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of AABRREROP B KRER DT :
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHBARKRE 59,535 59,535
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary FE U B B A RIFRIE 69,574 1,645
Prepayments, other receivables and AR FIE ~ e K E M BRI
other assets 13,524 50,506
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEED 26,116 63,859
Total current assets MBEERE 109,214 116,010
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary LS ENGI E e 1,272 1,272
Other payables and accruals Hith e RE R ETEA - 100
Total current liabilities mENBERE 1,272 1,372
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 107,942 114,638
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 167,477 174,173
Net assets BEFE 167,477 174,173
EQUITY E
Share capital N 3,391 3,349
Reserves (note) = (M) 164,086 170,824
Total equity PR 167,477 174,173
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40. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS MY aE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z£2018F 12 A31 HILF/E
RN BB ARMRE ()

THE COMPANY (Continued)

40.

Note: FfaE -
A summary of the company'’s reserve is as follows: RAREER AT
Exchange
Share Fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R13EE BB 5K B RETEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR¥ETT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H 60,750 - (300) 60,450
Total comprehensive loss FREHEEEREE
for the year - - (7,923) (7,923)
Issue of shares 1T 130,470 - - 130,470
Share issue expenses RIDEITHEZ (7,931) - - (7,931)
Capitalisation of share qnya§=¥N(e
premium (2,507) - - (2,507)
Exchange difference on REGINERBH
transaction of foreign EHER
operation - (1,735) - (1,735)
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A31HK
1 January 2018 K2018F 1818 180,782 (1,735) (8,223) 170,824
Final 2017 dividend declared EEIR2017FEREBE (9,726) - - (9,726)
Interim 2018 dividend declared B &R 2018 FH HiMk 8 (3,535) - - (3,535)
Total comprehensive loss for FARHEEERE
the year - - (4,813) (4,813)
Issue of shares BT 6,264 - - 6,264
Exchange difference on HMEBINETEE
transaction of foreign EHEZR
operation - 5,072 - 5,072
At 31 December 2018 M2018F 12 A31H 173,785 3,337 (13,036) 164,086
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  41. #UEMBEHR

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2019.

B RRMN2019F3 A27BEEE &

KSR RETIE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFHBERE

OPERATING RESULTS

EEXR

For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\E —E—+F —T-RE —T-RHE —T—-uEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFT AREFTT ARETTT AREFT
Revenue &= 392,258 363,303 309,268 293,029 297,383
Gross Profit EF| 67,383 66,869 60,643 56,794 53,888
Profit for the year EREM 26,240 36,167 30,536 35,482 29,308
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BEBERESR
For the year ended 31 December
EZ12A3MBLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\E —E—+F —T-RE “T-RHEF —T-E
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFTT AREFTT ARETTT AREFT
Non-current assets ERBEE 64,889 62,442 52,900 33,504 37,984
Current assets REEE 322,475 306,683 205,944 262,939 208,208
Total assets BEESLE 387,364 369,125 258,844 296,443 246,192
Current liabilities REEE 147,621 153,622 198,552 220,080 147,552
Net current assets FEHEESE 174,854 153,061 7,392 42,859 60,656
Total assets less BEEAER
current liabilities RBEE 239,743 215,503 60,292 76,363 98,640
Net assets EEFE 239,743 215,503 60,292 76,363 98,640
Capital and reserves B R &
Share capital e 3,391 3,349 - - -
Reserves i 227,698 206,905 56,271 71,276 94,115
231,089 210,254 56,271 71,276 94,115
Non-controlling FEERR iR
interests 8,654 5,249 4,021 5,087 4,525
Total equity R 239,743 215,503 60,292 76,363 98,640
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